Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the COUNCIL will be held in the Council
Chamber - Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham RG40 1BN
on THURSDAY 20 SEPTEMBER 2018 AT 7.30 PM

Manjeet Gill
Interim Chief Executive
Published on 12 September 2018

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities
Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services

The Underpinning Principles
Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel
efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

To: The Members of Wokingham Borough Council
ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

34.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

35.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Council Meeting held
on 19 July 2018.

36.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

37.

MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive any announcements by the Mayor

38.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of
the public about the work of the Council
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of
the Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go
to www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

38.1

None Specific

Jenny Lissaman has asked the Executive Member for
Highways and Transport the following question:
Question
In the Wokingham District Local Plan 1996 - 2006
Policy WT 12: Additional Railway Stations states that:
The Council will seek the provision of additional
railway stations at Thames Valley Park, and other
locations that can serve development and reduce car
usage without resulting in net environmental
degradation . Interchange facilities and car and cycle
parking will be provided as appropriate to each
location. Why was the principle of that policy dropped
from WBC's 2010 Core Strategy?

PAGE
NO.

15 - 46

38.2

None Specific

Petra Angel has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
Please can the Council confirm what the current
percentage of agency workers within Children’s
Services Dept are?
Ms Lisa Humphreys was asked this question at a
previous meeting but her response was that the
national target was 80% permanent staff so Ms
Humphreys avoided giving the desired answer. I
understand that in 2015/16 the children’s services
were running at 37% agency staff usage which is
17% worse than national targets and that a
commitment by Ms Felicity Budgen was given to the
LGO to reduce this figure and focus on recruitment
and training however I believe the situation has got
much worse. It is taking 8 months to compile a basic
child assessment with work load pressures blamed this is a fact. It is vital that the council addresses this
issue. It doesn’t matter how good a social worker you
are if you are having to undertake significantly more
work because there are not enough staff then this
increases the chances of making a mistake.
Unfortunately some serious mistakes have been
made and which has resulted in children being put at
risk.

38.3

None Specific

Paul Fishwick has asked the Executive Member for
Environment, Leisure and Libraries the following
question:
Question
The Department for Environment Food and Rural
Affairs launched a consultation during July and
August 2018 related to the planned UK Clean Air
Strategy and detailed National Air Pollution Control
Programme that is due to be published in March
2019. Could you inform me what response
Wokingham Borough Council gave to this
consultation?

38.4

Bulmershe and
Whitegates;
Hawkedon;
Hillside; Maiden
Erlegh

Andrew Mickleburgh has asked the Executive
Member for Highways and Transport the following
question:
Question
Earley is blighted by illegal and anti-social parking,
with all of the associated problems. Existing and
additional signage is necessary, but not sufficient.
The Civil Enforcement Officers who from time-to-time

patrol in Earley are effective, but unable to visit
problem locations as often as required. Could a full
time Civil Enforcement Officer be allocated
exclusively and permanently to Earley to help tackle
these serious parking problems?
38.5

Emmbrook;
Evendons

Rachel Bishop-Firth has asked the Executive Member
for Environment, Leisure and Libraries the following
question:
Question
There are no litter bins on Barkham Road between
Wokingham railway station and the bus stop on
Barkham Road. The bins at each end of this stretch
– on the railway bridge and at the bus stop – are
small and are hidden from view if you’re walking away
from the town. There are also no bins between
Wellington Road and Barkham Road, for people
taking this route out of town over the Tan Hill
crossing.
As a result, we have a litter problem along both of
these routes. The bins are often overflowing on a
Monday morning, and people living along Barkham
Road get fast food wrappers, bottles and cans in their
gardens. There is a similar litter problem along the
Tan Hill shortcut, with litter including broken glass
being dropped on the bridge and in the Ormonde
Road park.
I have sent some photos showing the problem to the
Councillor. Can the Council commit to reviewing this
problem and providing adequate litter bins?

38.6

Wescott

Sarah Kerr has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration the following question:
Question
How were the public consulted about the new layout
of the Market Place, including the type and colour of
stone, the disabled parking and loading layout, the
lack of proper kerbs, the rather expensive looking
golden studs, and in particular the use of the same
colour paving stone for pedestrian crossings?

38.7

None Specific

Beth Rowland has asked the Executive Member for
Environment, Leisure and Libraries the following
question:
Question
Please will you tell me with a simple answer if the
black boxes that are used throughout the Borough

are recyclable?
39.

40.

PETITIONS
To receive any petitions which Members or members
of the public wish to present.
None Specific

PRESENTATION BY THE CHIEF CONSTABLE
FRANCIS HABGOOD AND THE AREA
COMMANDER SHAUN VIRTUE
To receive a presentation from the Chief Constable of
Thames Valley Police Francis Habgood and the Area
Commander Shaun Virtue.
This is expected to be approximately 20 minutes in
duration after which there will be an opportunity for
Member questions of no more than 15 minutes in
duration.

41.

None Specific

HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION TERM
SERVICE CONTRACTS RENEWAL
To receive a report from the Executive relating to the
renewal of the Highways and Transportation Term
Service Contracts.
RECOMMENDATION Council is requested to:

42.

1)

consider the procurement process which
commenced with stakeholder engagement in
2016, soft market engagement with potential
suppliers during 2017;

2)

consider the formal procurement process
which has been underway since January 2018
and proposals for mobilisation;

3)

award the Professional Services Consultancy
Contract to the organisation named in the Part
2 Papers to be operational from the 1st April
2019, for an initial term of seven years,
extendable by a further period of up to 3 years,
subject to satisfactory performance;

4)

award the Maintenance and Construction
Contract to the organisation named in the Part
2 Papers to be operational from the 1st April
2019, for an initial term of seven years,
extendable by a further period of up to 3 years,
subject to satisfactory performance.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
Council may exclude the press and public in order to
discuss the Part 2 sheets of Agenda Item 41 above

47 - 106

and to do so it must pass a resolution in the following
terms:
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for
the following item of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of
the Act (as amended) as appropriate.
43.

None Specific

TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN 2017-18
To receive a report containing the Treasury
Management Outturn 2017-18 as recommended by
the Executive.

107 - 134

RECOMMENDATION Council is recommended to
approve:

44.

All Wards

1)

the Treasury Management Annual Report for
2017/18; and

2)

the actual 2017/18 prudential indicators within
the report.

APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY DIRECTOR OF
CHILDREN'S SERVICES
To receive a report on the outcome of the recruitment
process, carried out by Personnel Board, to appoint a
permanent Statutory Director of Children’s Services.

135 - 136

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approve
Personnel Board’s recommendation to appoint Carol
Cammiss to the statutory role of Director of Children’s
Services on a date to be agreed.
45.

None Specific

REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING
PLACES
To receive a report relating to the setting up of a
formal review of Polling Districts and Polling Places in
accordance with the Representation of the People Act
1983.
RECOMMENDATION That Council agrees:
1)

to a formal review of all Polling Districts and
Polling Places within the Borough;

2)

that the decisions reached under this review
will be implemented for all elections from the
beginning of 2020;

3)

to the setting up of a small Member/Officer

137 - 150

working group to administer and review the
responses received and that the composition
of this group will be one Member from each of
the political groups and the independent
Member along with two Officers from the
Electoral Services Team.
46.

None Specific

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY
To receive a revised Statement of Licensing Policy as
recommended by the Licensing and Appeals
Committee.

151 - 178

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approves the
revised Statement of Licensing Policy, attached at
Annex A to the report.
47.

None Specific

STATEMENT OF GAMBLING PRINCIPLES
To receive a revised Statement of Gambling
Principles as recommended by the Licensing and
Appeals Committee.
RECOMMENDATION: That Council approves the
revised Statement of Gambling Principles, attached at
Annex A to the report.

48.

STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE
COUNCIL, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS, AND DEPUTY
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
To receive any statements by the Leader of the
Council, Executive Members, and Deputy Executive
Members.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.23 the total
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 20
minutes, and no Member shall speak for more than 5
minutes

49.

STATEMENT FROM COUNCIL OWNED
COMPANIES
To receive any statements from Directors of Council
Owned Companies.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.24 the total
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 10
minutes, and no Director, except with the consent of
Council, shall speak for more than 3 minutes.

50.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions submitted under Notice

179 - 214

Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time
will be dealt with in a written reply
50.1

None Specific

Gary Cowan has asked the Executive Member for
Business, Economic Development and Strategic
Planning the following question:
Question
In the light of the new NPPF announced by the
Government this July does this Council by its actions
to date on housing numbers agree with me that it has
made a rod for its own and our residents backs?

50.2

Hillside

Chris Smith has asked the Executive Member for
Highways and Transport the following question:
Question
Can I have an update on the resurfacing of Redhatch
Drive?

50.3

None Specific

Prue Bray has asked the Executive Member for
Highways and Transport the following question:
Question
Wokingham has its own process for applying for a
blue badge online, which requires you to have an
account on the council website and to fill out an
enormous form. A number of people have reported
issues with the form. There is a national process
available on the gov.uk website which is far more
straightforward to use. I have been told that at some
stage Wokingham plans to stop having its own
process and to use the government one instead.
How quickly can that be made to happen, so that
people who need blue badges can have an easier
time applying for them?

50.4

None Specific

Lindsay Ferris has asked the Executive Member for
Finance and Corporate Resources the following
question:
Question
I have grave concerns about how finances at
Wokingham Borough Council have been managed
over the last 12 months or so.
Do you think it is appropriate for a Council that is
under financial pressure to have used an open ended
contract which included no specific financial figures,
to have forgotten the end date of a contract and
continued to send/receive invoices for up to 6

months, to have used Section 106 monies which
were destined for one part of the Borough (e.g. the
Northern Parishes and used elsewhere in the
Borough e.g. in Wokingham) without any reference to
anyone and to have produced businesses cases
which included inaccurate and incomplete information
simply to make their case look better than it was?
50.5

None Specific

Clive Jones has asked the Leader of the Council the
following question:
Question
Will you join me in congratulating WBC staff and the
local police on the professional way in which they
dealt with recent traveller incursions across the
Borough?

50.6

Hawkedon

David Hare has asked the Executive Member for
Highways and Transport the following question:
Question
In Hawkedon the roads are often gridlocked at rush
hour. With the development of Winnersh and
Shinfield, along with making the M4 a smart
Motorway, this is only going to get worse. Are there
any developmental plans to help this situation, in both
the short and long term?

50.7

Wescott

Rachel Burgess has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration the following question:
Question
My residents have raised concerns with regard to the
safety of the new pedestrian crossings in the town
centre Market Place. The crossings themselves are
the same colour as the surrounding pedestrian area.
There are significant concerns that children will
mistake the crossings for a pedestrian path, as the
roadway is not sufficiently distinct from the pavement.
Was the colour of the crossings raised as a safety
risk during the design phase and, if so, what were
deemed to be the mitigating factors before the
designs were approved?

51.

MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD
MATTERS
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions in relation to the latest circulated
volume of Minutes of Meetings and Ward Matters

52.

MOTIONS
To consider any motions
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.11.2 a
maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for
each Motion to be moved, seconded and debated,
including dealing with any amendments. At the expiry
of the 30-minute period debate will cease
immediately, the mover of the Motion or amendment
will have the right of reply before the Motion or
amendment is put to the vote

52.1

None Specific

Motion 407 submitted by Gary Cowan
This Council will evaluate its existing policies on trees
to ensure its policies are fully open and transparent.
The new policy recognises that many trees may be
subject to some tree work and it is not practical to
consult on all works undertaken. For example
pruning works carried out is unlikely to cause
significant public concern, however the felling of any
trees can be contentious. Felling trees without prior
consultation due to health and safety issues is
understood but where the felling involves any loss of
tree/s for any other reason whatsoever the public
must be formally consulted on the proposed works
and the reasons why it is necessary
The Council must maintain proper records of all trees
felled. For trees which are to be felled including trees
protected by TPOs, or those situated in Conservation
Areas, or in association with development proposals
and planning permissions this Council will put in place
a statutory consultation processes and current council
policies will be amended to reflect these changes as
soon as it practicable.

52.2

None Specific

Motion 409 submitted by Pauline Jorgensen
This Council believes that the successful operation of
a public transport system in our area requires cooperation between neighbouring local authorities.
This Council believes that Reading Buses would
benefit from an increased diversity of voices and
oversight from neighbouring authorities to Reading
Borough whose areas Reading Buses operate in.
Therefore, this Council calls on Reading Buses to
allow representatives from local authority areas (other
than Reading Borough), in which the bus company
operates, to attend board meetings of the company in
an observer status – ensuring the views of residents

in areas including Wokingham Borough are heard
and listened to.
52.3

None Specific

Motion 410 submitted by Rachelle ShepherdDuBey
Wokingham Borough Council requires the correct
installation of sprinkler systems in newly built schools
and school buildings within Wokingham Borough.
WBC has recognised the importance of sprinklers in
schools for many years and a previous motion
passed by this Council required a risk assessment to
be undertaken, but this opens the way for sprinklers
not to be required, and needs to be strengthened.
School fires continue to occur and latest reports
suggest they are getting bigger and more costly. The
impact of these fires is significant not just in financial
terms but also in terms of the devastating effect on
the communities they serve, the environment and the
disruption to students, teachers and families. The
impact on children's education is not confined to lost
coursework but often includes longer travelling times,
disrupted social groups and poorer facilities. There is
an additional effect of interrupting a child's education
due to damage to their classrooms which may hinder
their learning of essential skills.
There is a misconception that water systems often
cause more damage than they prevent, but with
modern technology sprinkler fire suppression systems
are far smarter and only activate in the areas that
require suppression and only for the time that the risk
is evident. In respect of Sprinkler Installations
Building Regulations, Regulatory Reform orders and
insurers are increasingly calling for active fire
suppression systems such as sprinklers as part of the
design of new schools. DCSF BB100 sets out a risk
assessment methodology which dictates the use of
sprinklers in the majority of new school build.
WBC believes if sprinklers were considered at the
design stage of new builds, costs could be kept to a
minimum. Each year more than 1300 schools in the
UK suffer fires large enough to be attended by Fire
services, and over half are non-accidental.
Sprinklers reduce the impact of fires in schools on
children, and the public by reducing the costs of
insurance and of rebuilding, and most importantly by
reducing the cost to the child's education and future.

For all these reasons this Council supports the
installation of sprinklers in all new school buildings.
52.4

Emmbrook;
Evendons;
Norreys;
Wescott

Motion 411 submitted by Prue Bray
The Constitution commits this council to ensuring that
“the principles of efficiency, transparency and
accountability are demonstrated throughout the
decision making process and the delivery of
services.”
The Wokingham town centre regeneration project has
now been running for some years. It is the largest
single project being undertaken by the council. No
income and expenditure figures for the project as a
whole have been published. Nor has any
assessment of progress or variation from the original
specification. This makes it extraordinarily difficult for
both residents and councillors to find out how the
project is going, and means that the council’s
constitutional commitment to transparency and
accountability is not being observed.
While ongoing spend and future commitments may
be difficult to quantify, or may need to be kept
confidential for commercial reasons, income and
expenditure which has already happened in previous
financial years must have been accounted for in the
council’s accounts, which have all been properly
signed off. In addition, any contracts entered into are
required to be published by the Transparency
Regulations. This means that all the information
relating to past spend on the Wokingham town centre
regeneration project should be readily identifiable and
available to be pulled together into one document
covering the whole project.
Therefore, in order to ensure the transparency and
accountability to which it has committed itself, this
council will by the end of October 2018 publish a
report detailing
- The total income and expenditure from 1st April
2012 to March 31st 2018 on all works
associated with the regeneration of
Wokingham town centre, including the Market
Place joint project with Wokingham Town
Council, broken down to show separately the
figures for Peach Street phase 1, Peach Place,
Elms Field, Carnival Pool, the Market Place
and any other subprojects, and, for each
project, broken down to the stages of the
project, such as design, and construction

-

-

The original budget and timetable for each of
those elements
An explanation of any variances between the
original budget and actual income and
expenditure and original timetable and actual
progress
The sources of the funding, with the amounts
obtained from each separate source.

CONTACT OFFICER
Anne Hunter
Tel
Email
Postal Address

Democratic & Electoral Services Lead Specialist
0118 974 6051
anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 35.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE COUNCIL
HELD ON 19 JULY 2018 FROM 7.30 PM TO 10.30 PM
Members Present
Councillors: John Kaiser (Mayor), Bill Soane (Deputy Mayor), Keith Baker, Parry Batth,
Laura Blumenthal, Chris Bowring, Prue Bray, Rachel Burgess, Jenny Cheng, Gary Cowan,
Andy Croy, Richard Dolinski, Carl Doran, Lindsay Ferris, Guy Grandison, Mike Haines,
Charlotte Haitham Taylor, David Hare, Emma Hobbs, Tim Holton, Graham Howe,
John Jarvis, Norman Jorgensen, Pauline Jorgensen, Dianne King, Abdul Loyes,
Julian McGhee-Sumner, Ken Miall, Philip Mirfin, Stuart Munro, Barrie Patman,
Anthony Pollock, Helen Power, Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross, Daniel Sargeant,
Imogen Shepherd-DuBey, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, David Sleight, Chris Smith,
Wayne Smith, Simon Weeks, Oliver Whittle and Shahid Younis
16.
APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors Alistair Auty, David Chopping,
UllaKarin Clark, Kate Haines, Pauline Helliar Symons, Philip Houldsworth, Clive Jones and
Charles Margetts.
17.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 24 May 2018 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Mayor.
18.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Shahid Younis declared a Personal Interest in Item 26 RE Revised Syllabus on
the grounds that he was one of the faith representatives on SACRE. Councillor Younis
remained in the Chamber during discussions and voted on the matter.
19.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited members of the public to
submit questions to appropriate Members.
It was moved by the Mayor and seconded by the Deputy Mayor that, in accordance with
Procedure Rule 4.2.12n), Procedure Rule 4.2.9.1 be suspended to allow Public Question
Time to be extended to 45 minutes.
Upon being put to the vote the Motion was declared by the Mayor to be carried.
19.1 Trevor Sleet asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question which was asked by Keith Malvern in his absence:
I would like to ask a question regarding the loss of the lollipop lady in Murray Road.
Has a full risk assessment been carried out regarding the removal of this person at this
specific location as the roads around these schools are used by commuters parking for the
station and by drivers, often speeding and driving dangerously, using the Barkham and
Finchampstead Roads to cut through to the Reading Road and visa versa?
Answer:
Thank you for your question.
The provision of controlled crossings will mean that crossing this road at all times of the

15

day will be safer for pedestrians who currently only receive assistance twice a day for
about an hour maximum.
The provision and design of controlled pedestrian crossings at all locations has been
subject to an independent road safety audit undertaken by qualified auditors to reduce any
risks associated with the installation of these crossings. We have at your request already
provided you with a copy of the Safety Audit.
19.2 Chris Wallace asked the Executive Member for Housing the following
question:
At the Executive meeting on 31st May, the 21cc report shows that the implementation of
changes to the Housing Service began in June with over 60% of roles changing. Could
the Executive Member for Housing give a summary of the changes occurring such as the
actual number, how many staff promotions and redundancies and explain how those
changes will benefit the tenants?
Answer:
The Housing Service is still in the process of recruiting to the new structure and we do not
have final figures. The 60% figure you mention equates to 43 staff. I can confirm that
interviews are ongoing for posts within the new structure and we will have further detail on
promotions and redundancies when the process is complete.
I can also confirm that as of 10th July, 24 staff have been assimilated into the new
structure, with 19 at risk but there are currently 21 vacancies being recruited to by the
Team as well so this is not a process of reducing the amount of vacancies.
Whilst 21st Century Council aims to make services available 24/7 via the website so people
can raise requests and queries when they want to and when it is convenient to them, we
really recognise that not everyone wants to use the website, not everyone wants to use a
phone, and we will still commit to retaining the ability to handle requests face to face and
over the phone.
Supplementary Question:
Last September the Executive Member apologised to tenants for breaking the law. 10
months later that same law has been broken again. You have failed to consult all of your
tenants. Has Grenfell been forgotten so soon? How can anyone trust a Council that
allows this?
Supplementary Answer:
Obviously I was not in this post then. We certainly have no intention of breaking the law
and we will do everything we can to uphold it. As far as this particular example is
concerned I am going to have to go and investigate a bit further. If you could possibly
provide me with a bit more detail that would be very helpful.
19.3 Peter Humphreys asked the Leader of the Council the following question:
Last year you appointed two Executive Member posts with "highways" in the title. With
Councillor Lee's defeat at the recent election in May his position was not replaced. Does
this mean strategic highways are no longer regarded as important or was this a post with
no substance created to reward a loyal party member with an Executive title, what is
colloquially known as a "job for the boys"?

16

Answer
Following the local elections in May I reshaped the Executive and transferred Strategic
Highways matters to the Executive Member for Highways and Transport, which I am sure
you will agree is the appropriate place for these responsibilities. You will find a list of the
Executive Members’ responsibilities in Section 5 of the Constitution for this Council.
Supplementary Question:
I am fully aware of that, but the point was that for a year you had two posts. Why was it
that we never had two posts before and now suddenly you have one post again? What
was so different last year and why did David’s defeat make this difference?
Supplementary Answer:
I thought that I would set up last year, at the beginning of the year, when we were doing
the Local Plan, two separate posts and put strategic in with the Local Plan. The beginning
of this year I thought that I would put more of highways into one portfolio.
19.4 Richard Gregory asked the Executive Member for Housing the following
question:
With less than 2 years of its contract with Ocaso for buildings insurance for the Council’s
part share properties left. How far along are the Council in finding a way to reduce the
extortionate cost being incurred by its part share tenants for buildings insurance? For our
2 bed house we are being charged £508 (five hundred and eight pounds) for buildings
insurance alone this year through the Council. We could buy on the open market a policy
for one million pounds worth of buildings insurance for less than £100 (one hundred
pounds).
Answer
Quite a similar question. I understand the concerns expressed by tenants and we have
been looking at how this matter can be resolved to reduce costs to shared owners.
We are unfortunately in a contract until March 2020.
In terms of the market rates for insurance, this is actually quite complicated in that the risks
and the history of claims affects the premium rates. We do monitor the history of claims
very, very, closely. It has also got a complex history and I can assure you that a range of
actions are taking place to solve the matter.
In answer to this question I cannot really do justice to explaining this detail, so as I offered
your colleague, I would very much like to meet you and actually talk about it to get the
situation resolved, if that would be ok, or indeed your other colleagues as well.
Supplementary Question:
Do you consider £508 for buildings insurance alone exceptional when you can go out and
buy hundreds of millions of pounds of buildings insurance for £60 on the open market?
Supplementary Answer:
I think the issue is that we have got a shared policy here and some people and some
areas that claim in this policy probably would not be able to get insurance at all and other
people would be able to get it cheaper depending on their claims history. The problem at
the moment is that we have got a shared contract. The reason we have got a shared

17

contract is because we need to be assured that everyone is insured because it is shared
property and we have an interest in it as well. So it is quite a complicated position. I
understand what you are saying. I understand that I would not like to pay £500 insurance
for a house if I have a good claims history either, but the problem is with the whole claims
history, it is taking into account the whole group before the premium. I think the issue is
that it is quite a difficult problem to solve in the circumstances but let us have a
conversation about it separately.
19.5 Diane Heyes asked the Executive Member for Housing the following question:
In January of 2018 I had a meeting at my house with Mr Simon Price of the Council, where
he said that he would ask the Council to ask of its legal advisers two questions? 1. Would
it be possible for the Council to incorporate the part share properties into its buildings
insurance that it has for its council house tenants, therefore reducing the cost of buildings
insurance for its part share tenants? 2. Would it be possible to allow part share tenants to
purchase their own buildings insurance for their properties and then provide proof to the
council by the 1st April each year, thus reducing the cost of buildings insurance? It is now
mid-July and I am surprised that I have not received an answer to either question. Could
the Executive Member for Housing please tell me if the Council has asked the 2 questions
of its legal advisers and if they have what the answers were?
Answer
I can confirm that the Assistant Director Housing Income and Assessments has met with
Legal and Insurance colleagues a number of times regarding the questions you have
raised, but has not formally requested legal advice yet. This is due to the Council still
analysing a report regarding our lease arrangements with all our shared owners in
Blackwater and Larchside Close. When we fully understand our rights and responsibilities
regarding the shared ownership leases we will be in a position to formally request legal
advice when we have completed this review.
This piece of work is ongoing and is still to be completed by the end of the calendar year
2018.
Supplementary Question:
Simon Price said he was going to come back by the beginning of July with an answer
about these contracts and as yet I still have had no answer to this.
Supplementary Answer:
I have had a couple of conversations with Simon since I received your question and I
would be very happy to meet and discuss it further if that would help, and to make sure
that you get the answer that you need.
19.6 Sue Chapman asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question:
I work at Meadow Nursery School on Murray Road and one of the roles our school
crossing patrollers fulfils is teaching the children at our nursery school about road safety.
After the removal of our SCP will Wokingham Borough Council arrange for a road safety
officer to visit our school to talk to the children about road safety?
Answer
The Council’s Road Safety and My Journey teams undertake training at our schools

18

throughout the Borough in both road safety and the promotion of sustainable travel.
We would be delighted to arrange a visit to your school.
19.7 Alexa Stott asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
At my school, parents dropping off their children frequently try to park on the “zig-zag”
markings directly outside school. Our lollipop lady enforces traffic restrictions by telling
drivers to park elsewhere. In her absence I am concerned that parents will park there and
this will block the visibility of children trying to cross the road at the zebra crossing. Will
the Council deploy traffic wardens on a regular basis to ensure traffic restrictions are
enforced at all times?
Answer
School Crossing Patrollers are employed to provide assistance to those requiring it to
cross the road. They are not there to enforce traffic infringements such as parking issues.
We recognise that over the many years School Crossing Patrollers have operated and
their passion for the job has meant they have extended their role beyond the tasks they
have actually been employed to do.
Issues such as those you mention are not unique to locations near school crossing patrol
sites and ultimately it is drivers’ responsibility to drive safely and legally and any concerns
relating to poor driving should be reported to the Police on the non-emergency number
101.
Parking issues can now be dealt with directly by Wokingham Borough Council following
the transfer of enforcement powers from the Police last October (2017) through Civil
Parking Enforcement (CPE). Parking adjacent to schools is a known concern and since
the introduction of CPE, the Council has prioritised visits by the Enforcement Officers at
schools. The Team is relatively small in number and it is therefore not possible to be at
every school every day therefore any specific problems relating to parking can be reported
to the Council’s Parking Enforcement Team. The Team will then work with the schools to
address these issues and target areas of concern in their patrols. Contact details for the
Parking Enforcement Team can be found on our website, but if you need to contact me I
am happy to link you up with them.
19.8 Annette Medhurst asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport
the following question:
Traffic and pedestrians counts at our school have shown that having a school crossing
patroller is justified because this is a very busy time, with lots of conflict between drivers
and pedestrians. Meanwhile, Government guidance indicates that a fixed crossing may
not be an appropriate solution if the road is quiet at other times, not least since drivers may
become accustomed to not having to stop for the crossing, and may begin to ignore its
existence, with dangerous consequences. Have traffic and pedestrian counts also met
standards for installing a zebra crossing?
Answer
At each of the School Crossing Patrol sites an assessment of the location was first
undertaken in accordance with the processes described for establishing school crossing
patrol sites in the Road Safety GB document entitled ‘School Crossing Patrol Service

19

Guidelines’. The assessment considers the number of pedestrians and vehicles during the
morning peak period and indicates whether a patroller would or would not be justified
(should the Council provide this discretionary service) or whether additional facilities such
as pedestrian crossings may be justified. The assessment for the majority of sites
indicated that a patroller would be justified; since the Council’s proposal was not to provide
a patroller the sites were identified for pedestrian crossings.
The provision of the proposed crossings have been thoroughly reviewed by an
independent qualified road safety professional to ensure they are safe before
implementation. However, as part of the review process additional Road Safety Audits
and assessments will be carried out following the introduction of the crossings and any
identified issues raised in these will be actioned accordingly.
Supplementary Question:
I do not know all the ins and outs and the numbers that are required for the installation of
these permanent crossings but clearly the flow of traffic along Murray Road is very heavy
and you deem it necessary to put this crossing in. Would the Council be prepared to
investigate the possibility of Murray Road becoming one way because we have the
situation where we have single file traffic basically at peak times and I wonder if that would
be one possible solution for the amount of traffic that goes along there?
Supplementary Answer:
Higher traffic flow make it more likely that it is appropriate for us to put in a fixed crossing.
I had thought of turning my road into a one way system. I am happy to meet with you and
talk to you about it. I am happy to talk to Officers but given that there are a lot of issues
with traffic and getting traffic around the town at the moment, I would not like to say that it
is inevitable but I am happy to talk to you about it and see whether it is appropriate.
19.9 Helen Edwards asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
Enabling children to walk, cycle or scoot safely to school is important for a fit and healthy
community, and I’ve notice many year 6 children walk to school by themselves, which
means they learn important road safety skills before having to make the longer (more
dangerous) journeys to secondary school. I feel that parents are going to be less inclined
to allow their children to walk if the journey is considered unsafe. How will the local
authority ensure that the additional functions that our SCP performs are maintained (for
example enforcing parking restrictions) to reassure me that my child it safe.
Answer
School Crossing Patrollers are employed to provide assistance to those requiring it to
cross the road. They are not there to enforce traffic infringements such as parking issues
or provide any additional functions. We recognise that over the many years School
Crossing Patrollers have operated and their passion for the job has meant they have
extended their role beyond the tasks they have been employed to do.
General road safety issues such as dangerous driving, speeding vehicles and poor parking
such as those you mention are not unique to locations near school crossing patrol sites
and ultimately it is drivers’ responsibility to drive safely and legally and any concerns
relating to poor driving should be reported to the police on the non-emergency number
101.

20

Parking issues can now be dealt with directly by Wokingham Borough Council following
the transfer of enforcement powers from the police last October (2017) through Civil
Parking Enforcement (CPE). Parking adjacent to schools is a known concern and since
the introduction of CPE, the Council has prioritised visits by the Enforcement Officers at
schools. The Ream is relatively small in number and it is therefore not possible to be at
every school every day therefore any specific problems relating to parking can be reported
to the Council’s Parking Enforcement Team. The Team will then work with the schools to
address these issues and target areas of concern in their patrols.
It is the responsibility of parents or carers to ensure their child is safe on the highway.
Parents and carers play a vital part in teaching children general road safety and also how
to cross the road safely.
However, the Council’s Road Safety and My Journey Teams do undertake training at our
schools throughout the Borough in both road safety and the promotion of sustainable
travel. These will continue after the patrollers have been removed. Should your school
wish to arrange bespoke training on the use of pedestrian crossings or any other related
road safety area please ask them to contact the Council using the contact details available
on our website.
19.10 Sally Cairns asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
The salary of a school crossing patroller is presumably considerably less than the cost of
installing a crossing. How long will it take for this transition to be a cost effective decision
for the Council – and what will the Council do if it is unsuccessful – i.e. suppose there is an
increase in accidents, or local roads jam up, or you get lots of complaints from parents or
residents – and many years of budget have been spent – what will you do?
Answer
The cost of the new permanent crossing facilities and removal of School Crossing
Patrollers will be cost neutral within about 8 years of implementation. The provision of the
proposed crossing has been thoroughly reviewed by an independent qualified road safety
professional to ensure it is safe before implementation. However as part of the review
process additional Road Safety Audits and assessments will be carried out following the
introduction of the crossings and any identified issues raised in these will be actioned
accordingly. I would like to add that these new crossings will be available 24 hours a day,
365 days a year, not just at the times when children go to school, and they will be available
to all residents all of the time so I do think that it is a safer choice.
Supplementary Question:
So as a user of that road I do not think that it is a 24 hour problem. I think it is a beginning
and end of the school day problem, and I wonder if you could say a bit more about what
these people are meant to do if these crossings are inadequate?
Supplementary Answer:
I think that I would have to come back to you on that one. I will give you a written
response.

21

19.11 Annabel Yoxall asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
In the afternoon, one of the functions the school crossing patroller performs is to stop
people crossing to enable traffic to pass, given that there is a steady stream of people out
of the schools. Without this, there could be substantial blocking back of traffic, leading to
frustration and less safe driving – how will the authority ensure this does not happen?
Answer
The proposed crossings will be manually controlled, either by pedestrian flow at zebra
crossings or by the push button unit at signal crossings. Whilst the flow of pedestrians will
fluctuate and this may have some impact on traffic, it is the drivers’ responsibility, by law,
to stop at a zebra crossing if a pedestrian wishes to cross or at the changing of the signals
if it is a toucan crossing. Pedestrians should also wait until the vehicle has stopped at
either the stop or give way line before proceeding to cross.
Supplementary Question:
Overcrowding and a backlog of people by the crossing has meant that one of the schools
has constructed a safe zone on their school site to allow children to go in. Has the Council
reviewed the suitability and taken into account the cost of any potential structural changes
needed to fence off safe zones once the SCP has gone, in order to keep the children
safe?
Supplementary Answer:
I think the answer to that is no, but we will do that work anyway.
19.12 Diane Burch asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
We recently carried out our own survey at the Murray Road Crossing. This showed nearly
twice the number of pedestrians.
If the data used is incorrect, using these figures to make any decision can only produce
skewed results. Would the council consider redoing these surveys to make sure the
figures truly represent the current usage of the crossings?

22

Answer
The data previously collected shows that a School Crossing Patroller would be justified at
this site (should the Council choose to provide this service). As part of the process it was
decided if the School Crossing Patroller was justified then a permanent pedestrian
crossing would be provided. Therefore the doubling the amount of pedestrians would also
mean that a School Crossing Patroller would be justified and would have the same
outcome. i.e. a fixed crossing would be more sensible then otherwise. We will not carry
out further surveys as the initial survey met the justification and the new data would also
seem to confirm that this is still the case.
20.
PETITIONS
No petitions were received.
21.
PETITION DEBATE
A petition containing in excess of 1,500 signatures, the threshold to trigger a debate at
Council, had been submitted relating to the removal of the school crossing patrol service:
“We the undersigned petition Wokingham Borough Council to abandon its proposal to
remove school crossing patrol services at seven locations across the Borough at the end
of this academic year (July 2018)”
21.1 Petition submitted by Annette Medhurst
Annette Medhurst, the petition organiser and Diane Burch, addressed the meeting and set
out the background to the petition. Annette Medhurst commented that she was the
Chairman of the Management Committee at Meadow Nursery School on Murray Road.
They had set up the petition after hearing of the proposal to remove seven school crossing
patrollers across the Borough and to replace them with permanent pedestrian crossings. It
was felt that this would have a significant negative impact on children’s’ safety. She went
on to state that the role of the School Crossing Patroller was to provide a safe place for
children, parents and carers to cross and broadly this was also the function of permanent

23

pedestrian crossings. However, data from the Department of Transport suggested that
there were less accidents if a School Crossing Patroller was in place at school crossings
as opposed to a permanent crossing feature. Whilst ultimately it was the responsibility of
parents and carers to ensure that their child travelled to and from school safely and drivers
to drive responsibly, School Crossing Patrollers also helped to maintain traffic flow, helped
to enforce parking restrictions and taught children about road safety. Permanent
pedestrian crossings could not do this. Annette Medhurst stated that pedestrian crossings
were an inferior solution to School Crossing Patrollers. She suggested that Members and
Officers visit Murray Road over a week to see some of the challenges experienced, first
hand.
Diane Burch stated that she had been a School Crossing Patroller on Murray Road for
eight years. The crossing could be busy particularly if weather was poor or if there were
delays in surrounding roads. She disputed the assertion that School Crossing Patrollers
often put their lives at risk by stepping into the road to stop traffic. She felt that
pedestrians using a zebra crossing would be stepping out into the road, with no guarantee
that traffic would stop for them. In 2015 the Council had made the decision to remove
School Crossing Patrollers where there was a safe, viable mechanism for crossing the
road. The petitioners disputed that the permanent crossings provided this safe
mechanism. Diane Burch went on to refer to a consultation held in March 2017 of which
only 9 of 393 respondents had supported the proposal to remove the school crossing
patrol service.
Members discussed the petition. Several Members commented that School Crossing
Patrollers had no legal basis for enforcing traffic restrictions and that zebra crossings and
other permanent crossings provided safe traffic management mechanisms all day, every
day and not just term time. Some Members stated that there had not been an increase in
accidents following the removal of School Crossing Patrollers in their wards. Others
referred to crossing points in their ward and commented that they felt that permanent
pedestrian crossings were the safer solution. It was drivers’ responsibility to obey stop
signs and other highway regulations.
A number of Members suggested that the financial saving that the removal of the School
Crossing Patrollers represented did not outweigh the value to the community that they
provided. School Crossing Patrollers helped to teach children road safety awareness and
were well respected members of the school community. A Member referred to additional
costs that permanent pedestrian crossings would bring such as ongoing maintenance
costs. Several Members were of the view that the installation of permanent pedestrian
crossings represented an investment in the safety of the Borough’s children.
The consultation process was questioned and a Member questioned whether 20mph
speed limits outside schools at school start and finish times could be considered in
addition, where appropriate.
It was confirmed that copies of the safety audits undertaken had been circulated to the
relevant ward members.
The following Motion was proposed by Andy Croy and seconded by Rachel Burgess.
‘This Council will abandon its proposal to remove school crossing patrol services at seven
locations across the Borough at the end of this academic year (July 2018).’

24

Prior to a vote being held, six Members, in accordance with Rule of Procedure 4.2.15.5,
requested that a recorded vote be taken on the proposed Motion.
The voting was as follows:
For
Prue Bray
Rachel Burgess
Gary Cowan
Andy Croy
Carl Doran
Lindsay Ferris
David Hare
Helen Power
Imogen ShepherdDuBey
Rachelle ShepherdDuBey

Against
Keith Baker
Parry Batth
Laura Blumenthal
Chris Bowring
Jenny Cheng
Richard Dolinski
Guy Grandison
Mike Haines
Charlotte Haitham
Taylor
Emma Hobbs

Abstained
John Kaiser
Bill Soane

Tim Holton
Graham Howe
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
Dianne King
Abdul Loyes
Julian McGhee-Sumner
Ken Miall
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Barrie Patman
Anthony Pollock
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
Daniel Sargeant
David Sleight
Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Simon Weeks
Oliver Whittle
Shahid Younis
Upon being put to the vote, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to have been lost.
The following Motion was proposed by Anthony Pollock and seconded by Ken Miall.
‘’The Council recognises the importance of safe routes to school. The Council
implemented a policy between 2003-08 using grants provided by the previous Labour
Government to remove school crossing patrollers and replace them, with various schemes
including zebra, toucan and pelican crossings.
These types of crossings are inherently safe, since they provide pedestrian/car

25

management systems which are recognised by both pedestrians and motorists 24 hours a
day, and not just when children are being walked to and from school. Therefore this
Council will continue with its capital programme to improve road safety in the vicinity of
schools by building new zebra, toucan or pelican crossings, as appropriate, in accordance
with the safety audits undertaken by independent Road Safety Experts.
These new crossings will replace the School Crossing Patrollers when they are completed
and provide a safer environment as demonstrated by independent safety audits for
children walking to and from school.
We recognise the fantastic contribution made by our School Crossing Patrollers, who have
given their time to this role over the years and extend our heartfelt thanks for their sterling
service to our community. However, we cannot support the action that the petition
requests, and we ask the Executive to take Council’s view into account when making their
decision.’
Prior to a vote being held, six Members, in accordance with Rule of Procedure 4.2.15.5,
requested that a recorded vote be taken on the proposed Motion.
The voting was as follows:
For
Keith Baker
Parry Batth
Laura Blumenthal
Chris Bowring
Jenny Cheng
Richard Dolinski
Guy Grandison
Mike Haines
Charlotte Haitham
Taylor
Emma Hobbs

Against
Prue Bray
Rachel Burgess
Gary Cowan
Andy Croy
Carl Doran
Lindsay Ferris
David Hare
Helen Power
Imogen ShepherdDuBey
Rachelle ShepherdDuBey

Tim Holton
Graham Howe
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
Dianne King
Abdul Loyes
Julian McGhee-Sumner
Ken Miall
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Barrie Patman
Anthony Pollock
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
Daniel Sargeant
David Sleight

26

Abstained
John Kaiser
Bill Soane

Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Simon Weeks
Oliver Whittle
Shahid Younis
Upon being put to the vote, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to have been carried.
RESOLVED: That the Council recognises the importance of safe routes to school. The
Council implemented a policy between 2003-08 using grants provided by the previous
Labour Government to remove school crossing patrollers and replace them, with various
schemes including zebra, toucan and pelican crossings.
These types of crossings are inherently safe, since they provide pedestrian/car
management systems which are recognised by both pedestrians and motorists 24 hours a
day, and not just when children are being walked to and from school. Therefore this
Council will continue with its capital programme to improve road safety in the vicinity of
schools by building new zebra, toucan or pelican crossings, as appropriate, in accordance
with the safety audits undertaken by independent Road Safety Experts.
These new crossings will replace the School Crossing Patrollers when they are completed
and provide a safer environment as demonstrated by independent safety audits for
children walking to and from school.
We recognise the fantastic contribution made by our School Crossing Patrollers, who have
given their time to this role over the years and extend our heartfelt thanks for their sterling
service to our community. However, we cannot support the action that the petition
requests, and we ask the Executive to take Council’s view into account when making their
decision.
22.
MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Mayor informed Members that he had launched a Roll of Honour Awards to recognise
residents who made an outstanding contribution to their community. There would be
awards for both adults and children. Members, Officers and the community were
encouraged to nominate individuals by emailing the Mayoral email address. The Mayor
and Deputy Mayor would select winners. Each winner would receive a lapel badge and
scroll to mark their achievements. The awards would be given out on a monthly basis and
the first awards would be presented at the September Council meeting.
23.
SHARED DASS WITH ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
The Council considered a report regarding a proposal to appoint a shared Director of Adult
Services with the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council, set out at Agenda
pages 33 to 36.
It was proposed by Laura Blumenthal and seconded by Richard Dolinski that the
recommendation be agreed.
Laura Blumenthal commented that splitting the Director of People Services role into
separate Director of Children’s Services and Director of Adult Services roles made sense,
as both covered very important areas to residents and brought very different challenges.
Having a committed, focused individual for each directorate would bring the opportunity for
an expert in each area, driving up standards for residents. A shared Director of Adult

27

Services was a new and innovative approach. The Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead had a similar demographic and challenges to Wokingham Borough. Laura
Blumenthal went on to emphasise that the trial period was 9 months in order to gauge
what impact the arrangement had had, after which the arrangement would be reviewed.
Lindsay Ferris commented that he supported the proposal and had been part of the
Personnel Board that had met with the proposed candidate. He emphasised that a review
of arrangements following the trail was important and that Wokingham needed to be sure
that the arrangements were fair and equal.
In response to a question from Gary Cowan, Julian McGhee Sumner clarified that financial
figures had been included for Years 2 and 3 to highlight the possible picture going forward
should the arrangement be continued after the 9 month trial.
Richard Dolinski commented that maintaining the status quo was not an option and that
the proposal provided an opportunity for good practice and service growth.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That Council appoint jointly with RBWM a Director to discharge the statutory
duties of the Director of Adult Social Services under the Local Authority Social Services
Act 1970 conditional on a similar approval by RBWM passed at Employment Panel on the
16 July 2018 and subject to the approval of a supplementary estimate by Executive on 26
July, effective from 1 August 2018.
24.
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH FOR BERKSHIRE
The Council considered a report requesting the noting of the appointment of Tessa
Lindfield as the Strategic Director for Public Health Berkshire, set out at Agenda pages 37
to 40.
It was proposed by Richard Dolinski and seconded by Laura Blumenthal that the
recommendation be agreed.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That it be noted that Tessa Lindfield has been appointed to the role of
Strategic Director of Public Health and as this was a statutory post for the Council it be
agreed that the formal statutory appointment letter from Public Health England be signed
by Wokingham Borough Council.
25.
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
The Council considered the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 217-18, set out at
Agenda pages 41 to 52.
It was proposed by Richard Dolinski and seconded by Laura Blumenthal that the
recommendation be agreed.
Richard Dolinski referred to the Board’s responsibility to reduce health inequalities and the
four main priorities within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
Laura Blumenthal highlighted the work of the Community Engagement Team.

28

Barrie Patman commented on a number of organisations involved in the work of the Health
and Wellbeing Board, including the Community Safety Partnership.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That the annual report from the Health and Wellbeing Board 2017-18 be
noted.
26.
RE REVISED SYLLABUS
The Council considered a report outlining the proposed revised RE syllabus, set out at
Agenda pages 53 to 66.
It was proposed by Shahid Younis and seconded by David Hare that the recommendation
be agreed.
The current syllabus for RE for Berkshire ran from 2012 to 2017. It had been reviewed and
a revised syllabus produced for use from September 2018.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That the revised RE Syllabus be adopted.
27.
LOCALISM ACT PAY POLICY STATEMENT FOR 2018/2019
The Council considered a report regarding the Localism Act Pay Policy Statement for
2018/19.
It was proposed by Stuart Munro and seconded by Julian McGhee-Sumner that the
recommendation be agreed.
Stuart Munro indicated that the Council was required annually to produce a Pay Policy
Statement. The Personnel Board had reviewed the Policy and had noted that whilst there
had been a slight increase to Senior Management pay the gap was narrowing due to the
higher increases at the bottom end of the pay-scales as a result of National Minimum
Wage increases.
Julian McGhee Sumner commented that the Directors’ pay had not been included in the
document but that this information was available.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That the Policy Pay Statement for 2018 be approved for publication on the
Council’s website in accordance with the Localism Act 2011.
28.
CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION
The Council considered a report regarding proposed changes to the Constitution as
recommended by the Constitution Review Working Group, as set out on Agenda pages 87
to 108.
It was proposed by Chris Bowring and seconded by Chris Smith that the recommendations
set out in the report be approved.

29

During Councillor Bowring’s proposal speech he requested Council consider an additional
recommendation, as set out below, which whilst referred to in the report had not been
included in the recommendations in error,
7)

that Rule 8.1.1 l) i) be amended as follows
l)
Applications where the Ward Member(s), or consultations where the affected
Ward Member(s), wish(es) the item to be ‘listed’. This is conditional in that the
listing must: i)

Be in writing and within 28 21 days of the notification letter;

Some Members expressed concern regarding the proposal to reduce the number of days
that Ward Members had to list a planning application. It was clarified that the Town and
Parish Councils had been informed of the proposals and could request an extension if
required. In addition the new system, which was due to go live in mid August, would
facilitate the process.
The additional recommendation 7) was agreed by Council.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That Council agree the following changes to the Constitution as
recommended by the Constitution Review Working Group:
1)

that Rule 4.2.10.8 Length of [Member] Question Time be amended as follows:
‘The time allotted to questions submitted under Notice, including those relating to
urgent issues, shall not exceed twenty 30 minutes for Full Council meetings and
20 minutes for all other committees. Any questions not answered within the
allotted time shall be the subject of a written reply within seven working days to the
questioner and the reply shall be recorded in the Minutes of the Meeting.’

2)

that Rule 4.4.44 Health and Wellbeing Board Partnership Groups be amended as
follows:
d)

3)

that Rule 5.5.1 List of items delegated to Individual Executive Members be
amended as follows:
d)

4)

Wokingham Integrated Partnership

Writing off of irrecoverable amounts above £20,000 £25,000’

that Rule 5.2.12.24 Executive Member for Finance and Corporate Resources be
amended as follows:
‘To act as the primary press spokesman on all matters relating to the whole of the
Finance, 21st Century Council, Internal Services and Human and Corporate
Resources portfolio (including aspects that are delegated to the Deputy Executive
Member for Finance and Corporate Resources).’

30

5)

that Rule 11.2 Responsibility for Local Choice Functions be amended to reflect the
appointment of the Assistant Director Governance as the Council’s Data
Protection Officer.

6)

that Sections 11.4 Officers' Code of Conduct, 11.5 Officer Employment Procedure
Rules and 11.6 Delegated Powers Relating to Staffing Matters be amended as set
out in Appendix 1 of the report.

7)

that Rule 8.1.1 l) i) be amended as follows
l)
Applications where the Ward Member(s), or consultations where the affected
Ward Member(s), wish(es) the item to be ‘listed’. This is conditional in that the
listing must: i)

Be in writing and within 28 21 days of the notification letter;

29.

STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
AND DEPUTY EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Leader of the Council:
I would like to start by thanking you very much indeed for setting up a new awards scheme
for the Borough to recognise the contribution of the many members of our community in
terms of adults and children who make a tremendous contribution throughout the Borough.
Before I move on to the main theme of my speech tonight, I need to inform the Council that
I have appointed Councillor Anthony Pollock as the Executive Member for Highways and
Transport which is probably already fairly obvious, and also Councillor David Chopping as
his Deputy. Both Members bring a wealth of experience to their roles and I am looking
forward to working with them over this coming year.
I have stood before you many times as have previous Leaders and Executive Members to
tell you that the climate for local government means that we cannot continue to do the
things that we always have. We have spoken frequently of the need to change how we do
things, in order to maintain a Council that is sustainable and fit for the future. Talk is very
easy though. At the last meeting I spoke about the Council Plan, a document that will set
out our priorities, our values and a roadmap as an organisation for the coming years. The
Plan engagement document was meant to go to the Executive this month but I have
insisted that time is set aside to allow the Opposition Members to feed into it before it goes
out to a wider audience, so time has been allowed for you to contribute to it over the next
coming months. In September we will begin a consultation with the public and it will be a
draft plan before engaging with stakeholders and partners later in the year. This is
everyone’s opportunity to help shape the future direction of travel. We will be asking the
community and stakeholders to say whether they agree with the priorities and values that
we have set out for the Authority, for there is another and more vital point, we will be
seeking to have a dialogue about a broader agenda, one about a holistic approach to the
community and the public sector, voluntary sector and business, can come together to
achieve a joint vision.
Local government no longer holds all of the cards. Where there is a problem, the Council
may not necessarily be the best one and the best person to be able to produce a solution.
Where before we were providers we now need to make the transition to being enablers
too, enabling residents to provide solutions where they want to and where they can,
encouraging residents to do more to look after each other and with a wealth of other and
normally better suited resources, closer to home. To expect the State to solve all of
society’s problems is to abdicate our moral responsibility to our neighbours and our

31

community. Part of this is about changing our culture and places barriers in front of
residents who want to do more and to take on additional responsibility. But we must keep
people safe and ensure a decent audit trail too, but too often has bureaucracy and health
and safety been used in the wrong place and the wrong time to prevent someone doing
something. Other public sector organisations, businesses, charities, the voluntary sector,
community groups and individuals, can build the society that we aspire to see, and want to
be part of. The Council Plan engagement will work with residents, organisations and
voluntary sector to begin a conversation about what more we can do to enable them to do,
so that the buck is not always simply passed back to the Council. The Council will refocus
on being the direct provider of statutory services and act as a support for those who really
need it. We will use a commercial and entrepreneurial approach to the priorities that our
community identifies and residents and other organisations will be enabled where possible
to take on more responsibility to provide those things that we as a Council are no longer
able to do alone. Democracy is not passive. It is not simply casting a vote at an election
and then complaining about what politicians do. We have to create an active society
where people do and do not simply have it done to them, where residents both shape the
decisions and play a role in delivering the outcomes that our community wants, where
local people play a leading and active role in services and shape the direction. All this will
not be achieved in the next year. It may not even be achieved in the next 5 years. It is a
work of years, engaging and working differently with our full community. We believe in one
community, conservatism that empowers our residents and places them at the centre of
decision making. It is time for us to show that we trust our local people to look after our
local community, look after each other and set the way forward for our whole Borough.
Simon Weeks, Executive Member for Planning and Enforcement
The main issue that I would like to discuss is a surprise appeal decision, received about 10
days ago. I think you are all aware that late last year we were able on the strength of an
increased level of build rate across the Borough, to have a review of our 5 year land
supply, which at that point was a weakness. That 5 year land supply was reassessed as
6.7 years. That particular issue was also reviewed by leading counsel. Parallel with this,
or if we can go back a little way, a couple of years ago, we refused a planning application
to build houses on Sonning Golf Course and the applicant took that to appeal and much to
our surprise the appeal was successful. Clearly the appeal was very flawed so we
mounted a Judicial Review of that and we were granted by the Judge that the appeal
should be redetermined by a fresh Planning Inspector. That was concluded 2 weeks ago
and the Inspector much to everybody’s surprise, I think including the applicant, determined
that we did not have a 5 year land supply in his opinion. We were very shocked to see
this, particularly as he had not recalled any of the available evidence and seemed to
question that our assessment of our 6.7 year land supply was something that we had
plucked out of thin air, rather than something which was clearly backed up by written
statements from the many large developers across the Borough who are delivering at
agreed rates. So according to that, this clearly drives a serious coach and horses through
our current planning strong position, so we have consulted with our colleagues and we will
be mounting a further Judicial Review of this decision. We are grateful in one sense that
this decision was made at an informal or written hearing as they are known. Those do not
require the highest standard of evidence. Meanwhile we do have a couple of
undetermined appeals that are being heard at Public Inquiry and these of course require
the highest level of evidence and cross examination usually by QCs, and obviously we are
hopeful that the outcomes of those undetermined appeals may resurrect this short term
hiatus that we have suffered as a result of this rogue inspector decision.

32

Philip Mirfin, Executive Member for Regeneration:
I would like to give a brief update on the highways related works in Wokingham Market
Place and the adjoining roads and an overview re some press comments.
My first subject, is works in the coming week. The lower end of Denmark Street and
Langborough Road should reopen for 2 way traffic as promised on the evening of 27 July.
The upper section of Denmark Street is planned to be reopened over the weekend of 1819 August, to through traffic. This is in conjunction with the completion of the major part of
the Market Place works. There is likely to be some minor snagging works during the
following week and a final deep acid clean and sealing process that will take place over
the five nights from 20 August. I have every hope that the Market Place will be fully
available for use from Saturday 25 August, cleaned and sealed.
Peach Place is very much on target for opening late November and we have considerable
interest in all our units. Elms Field is also progressing at a pace with foundations going
into place and access points for the new road and car park constructed.
Some recent press comments have on a number of occasions tried to link the closure of
businesses in the town with the Market Place highways works and Town Centre
regeneration. Recent examples, the Gig House, only this week Café Rouge’s planned
closure as well. Both of these businesses have had problems nationally and they have
confirmed that those have affected their decisions to close. What is gratifying is the fact
that the Gig House ownership changed so rapidly and Café Rouge have also confirmed
that they have sold their Wokingham premises to a solid regional chain who will very much
benefit from the works in the Town Centre as we have always said. Wokingham’s new
market town centre is beating the national trend with many of the companies wanting to
move here. I look very much forward to the buoyant end to the year for retailers.
Julian McGhee-Sumner, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Finance and
Corporate Resources:
I would just like to share three good news stories with Members. I am pleased to report,
and as you will have seen in the national and local press, that we collected 99.5% of
council tax in year, which makes us the number one performing Council for the fourth year
in succession. This is despite increasing our minimum council tax payments to 20%,
which is our hardest debt to collect. Every percentage equates to just under £1million so it
makes a huge difference to the money available for our vital council services.
We also delivered £89million worth of investment across the Borough on transport,
infrastructure, regeneration, education, affordable homes and many other assets for the
benefit of our community. This level of capital programme investment is almost five times
higher than it was 4 or 5 years ago and it was delivered in the overall budget, a testament
to our strong financial controls across the Capital Programme.
Our innovative and ambitious 21st Century Council programme delivered on a very
stretching savings target of £2million, which was achieved across the Council support
services and senior management posts. This cost reduction makes our services even
more efficient. It was achieved with minimal impact on the Council’s day to day business
and it provides us with a strong technological IT platform going forward. It is a reflection of
the commitment and capability of our staff and shows that we have a well-managed,
credible change management programme in place.

33

Pauline Jorgensen, Executive Member for Housing:
I have several bits of good news to update the Council with. Firstly, Fosters Extra Care in
Woodley, a development by the Council’s wholly owned subsidiary Loddon Homes, was
opened by the Mayor in the middle of June. This is a lovely building, provides 30 spacious
1 bedroom apartments for older people, with on-site care provided by Optalis, Council
Care Company. I was at the opening and was delighted to talk to so many residents who
were delighted with their new homes. So that is the first bit of news.
Secondly, we are progressing our plans for development of Gorse Ride in Finchampstead.
Officers have held one to one meetings with affected council tenants and home owners on
the estate. We are looking to submit the planning application for the redevelopment which
we expect to cost more than £30million, shortly. Having met some of the residents at the
recent Steering Group I am very keen to work with them to ensure that we maintain what is
a great community whilst providing them with new, high quality homes.
Thirdly, I have received a letter from the Chair of the Tenants and Landlord Improvement
Panel, Steve Bowers. This bears testament to the close working between the Council and
tenants and he specifically asked me to read it out at Council. He said ‘on behalf of the
involved tenants I would like to pass my utmost thanks to Manjeet Gill, Councillor Haitham
Taylor, Councillor Dolinski and the Tenant and Landlord Improvement Panel Members and
other Wokingham Borough Council managers who have taken the time to speak with us
and listen to our views on the 21st century council programme to date. In particular I would
like to thank you all for responding and acting on our thoughts regarding having an
Assistant Director post which acknowledges the importance of housing. As involved
tenants we are very proud of the involvement and strong partnership working we have with
Wokingham Borough Council, and look forward to maintaining and enhancing this in the
future, under the new structures.’ I would like to add my thanks to Steve’s, in particular to
my predecessor, Councillor Richard Dolinski who has worked really hard since taking on
the role to deliver high quality council and affordable housing, needed by our communities,
and I hope that I can do him justice now.
Richard Dolinski, Executive Member for Adult Social Care, Health and Wellbeing:
Looking at the agenda and the time, I doubt that the Motion 406 will be debated. If so I
want to take the opportunity now to thank the support I have received from Members. I
have had some very constructive conversations with our Liberal colleagues and with
Councillor Cowan and also with Councillor Croy as well, so thank you for that. As such I
will still be inviting Members to join me in a cross party working group to challenge the
funding consistencies and to lobby and work with central government for a realistic,
workable, funding solution for Adult Social Care, particularly here in Wokingham. As said
in my support of the joint DAS appointment, we must provide opportunities to implement
new ways of working. A good example of funding inconsistencies is our DTOC and
remember what I said DTOC was, I should test you guys out, but it is delayed transfer of
care, better known as bed blocking. If we were to benchmark our delayed days by
100,000 population for 2017/18 with say our closest neighbours, Wokingham does score
well with 54 days delay in comparison to Bracknell Forest of 105 days, Reading 114 days
and Windsor and Maidenhead 88 days. Yet at the same time Bracknell Forest receive
£1.1million, Reading £1.6million and Windsor and Maidenhead £1.35million whilst
Wokingham only receives £112,000 in additional funding. This figure is down from
£160,000 from the previous year whilst our neighbours’ funding has on a whole remained
the same. We are a high performing local authority and as such our Better Care Fund was
shortlisted for the first wave of graduate status alongside only 6 other local authorities in

34

England. If I were to be critical, I do not think we highlight enough of the good practice that
Adult Social Care achieves in Wokingham in helping our communities.
Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Highways and Transport:
I wanted to bring to Members’ attention the fact that the M4 is going to be subject to a
Smart motorway conversion and it has to be completed by 2022, because I expect 2022 is
when they are going to start work on Heathrow. I have seen and I would recommend you
find a copy, download it and have a look at it, at the technical engineering document that
sits behind this, and particularly to look at the traffic data, because without a Smart
motorway the M4 eastbound is at 100% at 2022. Even with a Smart motorway it is still 90
something percent, and to give my colleague Stuart Munro some comfort, I suspect if we
build too many houses it will get to overload even with a Smart motorway. I will be doing
some work on this connection, particularly using some of the data from assessment
because they emailed me because I asked them about a particular site in my ward which
you will all know about. I said ‘have you taken this site into account?’ they said ‘we have
only taken into account sites that have planning permissions up to 2014.’ They have put
some general growth figures in but they have not taken into account any large sites that
we might have in our Local Plan refresh, so I think that there is some quite serious
problems associated with the M4 and my colleagues and I will be doing work in connection
with that.
The other piece that I just want to bring to your attention is that I was attending the
Berkshire Local Transport Body that met in Slough this evening and I am pleased to
confirm and report back that; funding from the Local Enterprise Partnership for Winnersh
Relief Road second phase, which I know is of interest to a number of Liberal Democrats as
well as colleagues on this side; the Arborfield Relief Road which I know Gary’s particularly
interested in; various cycle routes which I think go through Wokingham; the Thames Valley
Park and Ride; and the Winnersh Triangle Parkway station, all these projects are slated to
have funding through the Local Enterprise Partnership, and so far they are on track.
Norman Jorgensen, Executive Member for Environment, Leisure and Libraries:
I just want to bring to your attention to a few things. Firstly, at the start of May we began
selling compost from recycled garden waste including waste from Re3 at the household
recycling centres. We were not sure how well that would go and started with a stock of
2,000 bags. It proved to be very popular and was sold out by the first week in June so
next year we plan to make the link between the waste from Re3 to the compost stronger
than it was this year. It will be our waste definitely in the compost and we will get a larger
stock, as it has proved very popular.
The Re3 partnership was awarded the Best Use of Design and Technology in a Waste
Management Facility at the prestigious Let’s Recycle 2018 Awards for Excellence and
Recycling and Waste Management Event. The Panel of judges recognised Re3 for its
efforts to increase the amount of waste that was reused, recycled and composted,
especially noticing the recent investment by Wokingham, Reading and Bracknell Councils
and FCC Environment in the material recycling facility at Smallmead, enhancing the
recycling capability to take pots, tubs and trays.
The Willow House Hospital School was inspected by Ofsted and the report afterwards was
very complimentary about the quality of education provided there. The reason I mention
this is they included comments about the use of the library service, so I am going to read a
small part of the letter from Ofsted to the school Headmaster. “Teachers promote reading
very effectively by making the most of the award winning local library service. The

35

school’s own library was skilfully changed to engage pupils especially those who had read
poorly prior to admittance to the unit, so as a result more pupils read much more widely
and more effectively.” So it is good to see such comments about the work of our library
service.
30.
STATEMENTS FROM COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES
Anthony Pollock, Non Executive Director Optalis Limited:
I enjoyed working with Stuart Rowbotham who was the last person to hold the sole DAS
role. I think to some extent we have slightly missed having someone specialising in that
role, and I see Julian nodding, who had the role as Executive Member, and I think he and I
both worked well with Stuart. I welcome the opportunity to work closely with the new DAS
who as Prue said earlier, I do know, and I think that she will be a very good appointment. I
look forward to working with her to ensure that the services that Optalis provide to
Wokingham Borough Council are the best that they can be and that they improve year on
year.
31.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited Members to submit questions
to the appropriate Members
31.1 Gary Cowan asked the Executive Member for Business, Economic
Development and Strategic Planning the following question:
Can the Executive Member for the new local plan update me on its current progress
especially in relation to how many houses are being planned for and where might those
houses possibly go?
Answer
As you are probably fully aware the Council is assembling the necessary evidence to
support the Local Plan. I have spent a couple of months looking at that and we are still
looking at all of the 270 sites that we have had submitted and most months another few
get added to that list. This includes looking at all the land promoted into the local plan
process. At this stage, we have not chosen or committed any particular approach or sites
to managing future development. All options remain ‘on the table,’ looking at all the things
we can do.
In the context of housing numbers, we expect the Government to introduce a standardised
methodology for calculating housing need across England shortly. This has been sadly
missing for a long time. We start with the objectively assessed need then some formula is
applied and there are lots of interpretation of those formulas. They have promised us that
this will be sorted shortly. This intent was first indicated in the housing white paper ‘Fixing
our broken housing market’ in February 2017, with a draft methodology proposed as part
of the consultation ‘Planning for the right homes in the right places’ in September 2017,
which obviously did not work.
Ministers have indicated that the standardised methodology and we have had it confirmed
in a couple of cases, as late as this afternoon to one of our Officers, alongside updates to
the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) before the summer
parliamentary recess in July i.e. by the end of next week. So I think until such time as that
is, then we are not going to commit to any form of numbers and before we go out to the
consultation process.

36

Supplementary Question:
I attended an IMD last week which you signed off. In that the document says Berkshire
authorities will use their best endeavours to meet the full OAN numbers and that is the
existing numbers. There was an appendix to that document from Chiltern and South
Bucks District Councils using words I have never, ever heard a council say to another
council and that is an “unsound approach to plan making that is preventing at worse and
hindering at best an essential duty to cooperate discussions across east and western
SHMAs.” It goes on to say that this is considered to amount to a failure across Berkshire
in meeting its duty to cooperate for key, strategic planning matters. In light of what the
Leader said in this welcome and all of 3,000 residents have signed petitions designed to
protect our green fields, what action are we actually taking in this authority to fight our
corner instead of just acquiescing the Government’s point of view?
Supplementary Answer:
I totally agree with you. The reason for South Bucks withdrawing from the Housing Market
Assessment area as you know was that they did not really want to participate in the
process and take all the houses that were required for Slough. They prefer to align
themselves with Buckinghamshire. The wording that they used in their notes is
unfortunate and I assure you that we will not be doing nothing to tell anybody what we are
supposed to do.
31.2 Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey asked the Executive Member for Environment the
following question:
Residents are upset by the supposed wild areas in parks and verges being kept for
supposed wildlife habitats. They seem messy and they are unable to use them for
recreation with their families. Can the Member for the Environment please tell me what the
exact species of animals or insects are present (other than rats, mice, rabbits, ticks and
fleas) there and when they were last checked?
Answer
That is fairly easy to answer. I had wondered where they had gone. During 2014 and
2015 the Council undertook reviews of grass cutting. There was a public consultation and
the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on five occasions at least considered
evidence and made recommendations during contract re-tendering. The policy of allowing
certain areas to grow longer while others were cut shorter was established during these
consultations. I do not remember any real dissent at that time
Since establishing the long grass areas in 2016 we have aimed to strike a balance
between improving biodiversity and maintaining open spaces for residents to use for
recreational purposes. Therefore, the Council undertakes grass cutting in locations and
areas important for recreation use to ensure that there is sufficient land available for this
purpose.
You asked what species we are encouraging so here we go. Longer grass is good for
invertebrates such as grasshoppers, bees, butterflies and moths – particularly where it
facilitates safe overwintering. Other invertebrates such as ants, leatherjackets and beetles
are often in greater abundance in areas not subject to intensive mowing. These in turn
feed birds such as starlings and green woodpeckers; mammals such as shrews, voles,
hedgehogs and bats. In turn small mammals are prey for species of birds such as kestrels
and barn owls.

37

Where we leave the grass to grow long in our parks and open spaces, this also helps
provide space for ground nesting birds. Flowers that are allowed to set seed provide an
important food source for farmland birds for which there is great concern over declining
numbers.
We have had a number of compliments for this approach.
If there are specific areas where you feel the grass cutting regime is not correct then send
me details and we will have a look at it.
Supplementary Question:
Some of our residents would also like to return some of the rats and mice and a few other
things that they have acquired from these areas as well. Where would you like them sent?
Supplementary Answer:
Back where they came from I guess really.
31.3 Lindsay Ferris asked the Executive Member for Environment the following
question:
Vast areas of Wokingham Borough have been left uncut this year and where grass has
been cut, it has only been done so when it had grown long. This has caused our area to
look tatty and unkept. There was some improvement in 2017, but this year feels like 2016
again when implementation issues were given as the reason for the problems that
occurred. Now that similar problems are again occurring in 2018, implementation of the
contract cannot now be the problem.
Does the Executive Member agree that it is time for a thorough review of this contract, to
see how the performance in this area can be improved?
Answer
I agree that grass cutting has not come up to the standards laid out in the contract, mainly
due to a late start, due to a very cold March, and then a very wet April. However, whilst
the weather did play a part, the main reason was that the first cut took far too long with
some areas having to wait up to seven weeks, which did lead to many areas looking
unkempt. Areas that were cut first looked better than in previous years.
We are currently reviewing the resources on this Contract to see if they are appropriate to
deliver the required standard and can confirm that Officers have been putting pressure on
Tivoli Group Ltd (who took over this year from ISS Facilities Services) to see how we can
improve matters. There has been an improvement due to extra resources being brought in
at no extra cost.
In addition, as I highlighted to you previously at the time you put the question in, the
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee will carry out a review of the Grounds
Maintenance Contract, which will start on 1 August.
Supplementary Question:
I am pleased that Overview and Scrutiny are looking at this. I think that people’s inboxes
have been pretty full, certainly in May and June. It has been a lot less because of the hot
weather, but when we have a review, will this review include completely looking at the
contract with the potential of stopping it if we are not happy with it?

38

Supplementary Answer:
It is up to Overview and Scrutiny what the scope of their review is, so on 1 August I will
certainly be there and Officers so we can answer any initial questions. It is then up to
Overview and Scrutiny to decide how to proceed from there.
31.4 Imogen Shepherd-DuBey asked the Executive Member for Finance and
Corporate Resources the following question which was answered by the
Executive Member for Regeneration:
Please can you advise exactly how much the Wokingham Town Council Market Place has
cost so far, and could there be more cost to come?
Answer
In terms of cost to the local taxpayer, the answer is zero, because this investment in the
future of the town is funded entirely by developer contributions, including S106 and
Community Infrastructure Levy. The overall budget is £3.8million (plus contingency) which
is split 50/50 between Wokingham Borough Council and Wokingham Town Council. We
will not know what the final cost is until we have concluded the contract because there will
remain elements to resolve, which is normal for a contract of this type.
Supplementary Question:
I read in last week’s Wokingham Paper that Wokingham Borough Council were
commissioning a review of the project once it is complete. My question is why are we
waiting for the project to be completed for this review and where is the funding for this
review coming from?
Supplementary Answer:
What an excellent question. It gives me the opportunity to confirm that I have asked for an
independent audit of the entire project from the concept to the conclusion. I have also
asked that it starts before the project finishes so that we can talk to everybody who is
around the site. I understand that there is sufficient budget within Highways to pay for
that.
31.5 Helen Power asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
Workers at Wokingham town centre businesses are struggling to find available spaces in
affordable, conveniently located parking in the town centre. This is having a detrimental
impact on the local businesses.
A very affordable and flexible local town centre staff parking scheme at for example, the
Carnival Pool Multi Storey that you are promoting people use, could help to address this
issue.
Will you create an affordable and flexible town centre worker parking rate scheme for the
duration of all the Regeneration Programme works and beyond?
Answer
Town centre regeneration I understand is well on its way to completion with the Market
Place being completed shortly and Peach Street being completed probably by Christmas.
However, I have some sympathy with Town Centre lower paid workers, who I assume is

39

the group that you are concerned about, and I will therefore review the situation.
31.6 Philip Mirfin asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
With the opening of another section of the NDR and the assurance from Council Officers
that the NDR and SDR will effectively be clearways with no parking on them, is this an
opportunity to make them 40mph zones?
Answer
I was Executive Member when this road was first mooted and put it into the Local
Transport Plan I think somewhere around 2006, and at the time had an idea that it would
be a distributor road, i.e. that it would have a reasonable speed limit to it, not necessarily
60mph but certainly a reasonable speed limit. If it is possible to keep it at 40mph then I
will do so.
Supplementary Question:
I hope that is very much the case. The indication I have had from Officers is that they are
looking more at 30mph than 40mph and I would hope that that can be carried through
because I think it is important that we keep the flow of traffic up at a reasonable pace and
we also ensure that those clearways are unrestricted.
Supplementary Answer:
I think if this road is to fulfil its function as a distributor road which I intend it to be a route
that traffic, particularly from the Winnersh Relief Road, would choose to use rather than
come through the Town Centre, then I think the speed limit has to be reasonable otherwise
people will not use it and the Town Centre will clog up even more.
31.7 Carl Doran asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question which was answered by the Executive Member for
Planning and Enforcement:
Has the Council had any contact from Reading Borough Council on the subject of the East
Reading "Mass Rapid Transit" scheme which was refused by the Planning Committee on
25th June?
Answer:
I will be answering the question since it relates to Planning. Yes, I can confirm that we
have had contact from Reading Borough Council and hopefully by means of your
supplementary I will be able to elaborate.
Supplementary Question:
I know that they have been intending to resubmit the application. The capital costs of the
Reading MTR has been set at £24million in 2016 prices, £19million of that comes from the
Local Enterprise Partnership, leaving a shortfall of around £5million. How much of that
£5million will be paid by this Council?
Supplementary Answer:
At this point in time there is no valid planning application so until a new application is made
we do not know the details of that application. Reading has made it very clear that they
recognise Wokingham Members, including yourself on the Planning Committee, had valid
criticisms of the scheme and they are proposing to try and address those criticisms and

40

come back with a new scheme. Until we see that new scheme I do not think that it would
be wise to speculate about what the likely costs or budgets will be.
32.

MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD MATTERS

32.1 Shahid Younis asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
According to the Wokingham Paper, Labour have stated that Wokingham Borough Council
axed the previous 19A bus. However, Reading Buses are controlled by Labour Reading
Council and therefore that it is outside the control of Wokingham Borough Council. So can
I ask the Executive Member to clarify what the real facts are?
Answer:
Reading Buses have a habit of under bidding for bus contracts and then about 18 months’
later they turn up and threaten to withdraw them unless we pay them more money, which
is what happened in this case. We have instead put in a slightly different service which
covers Earley and Woodley following consultations with the public, which I think will end up
being a better service than the service that was there before. But as I said the reason for
the previous service ceasing was because Reading Buses under quoted and then
demanded money with menaces.
32.2 Prue Bray asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
On Monday next week SGN will be starting to dig up the Winnersh crossroads as part of
the gas mains replacement and as a consequence of that SGN have sent the local
Members, emails, explaining that if you are coming out of King Street Lane or Robin Hood
Lane, so on the B3030, you will only be able to turn left out of those roads. However,
signs that the Council have put up to warn of this work say ‘no right turn’, they do not
explain that there is no straight on either. I have mentioned this to Highways. The signs
were still there when I came in this evening. Please can you make sure that before
Monday people will be warned that they will not be able to go straight on either?
Answer:
I am very happy to take that up on your behalf.
32.3 Keith Baker asked the Leader of the Council the following question:
Members may well have seen the announcement that Woodford Park in Woodley has
been given a Green Flag Award. The Green Flag Award for those of you that do not know,
is an international award which has been running for 30 years. It is a sign to the public
that the space has achieved the highest possible environmental standards maintained and
has excellent facilities. Can I ask the Leader of this Council to write to Woodley Town
Council and Friends of Woodford on achieving this excellent award?
Answer:
I did admire the picture in the paper this week of many members of the community holding
the flag, including Councillor Richard Dolinski. I am very happy to write to those members
of the community who have got involved in order to shape the park to what it is today. So I
congratulate them and I have recently visited the Park and it is a wonderful place.
Congratulations to all of those people involved in that particular project.

41

32.4 Gary Cowan asked the Executive Member for Planning and Enforcement the
following question:
As Simon Weeks made reference to the Sonning appeal I address this question to him. I
read the paper and there were three issues that I found that concerned me. One was that
the Council made reference to a 5% buffer where the historic figure that we used in most
of our Planning documents was 20%. They referred to 450 houses on Cutbush Lane and
they did not bring any legal representation to the appeal. Does he not think that weakened
our case and put us in this less than 5 year land supply predicament that we are now in,
which is very disappointing?
Answer:
Firstly in terms of the 5% versus the 20% buffer our calculations show that we are
substantially exceeding either of those so it would not have made any difference whether it
was the 5% or 20% buffer that was being used. The second point regarding legal
representation is that, as I explained in my earlier statement, the appeal was by means of
a hearing and these are held in an informal sense and it is very unusual to have any legal
representation on either side. The relevant part is sitting around a table trying to thrash
out the issues. It is only when you get to the Public Inquiry level of Inquiry, that there is
legal representation, as a minimum barristers and sometimes QCs on both sides. I also
alluded in my answer to the fact that we are awaiting an undetermined appeal which is
being held by Public Inquiry and we are hoping that Inspector may come to a more
appropriate decision.
32.5 Guy Grandison asked the Executive Member for Environment the following
question:
Regarding the travellers that recently went on to Laurel Park today, has notice been
served to them or not, to leave the park?
Answer:
It happened not so long ago and I believe a notice has been served on them to depart the
site.
32.6 Imogen Shepherd DuBey asked the Executive Member for Planning and
Enforcement the following question:
Within my ward on the Reading Road and within Winnersh, we have had problems with
trucks putting aggregate and concrete on to the roads. It has caused at least one accident
that we know of and we have got witnesses who have traced the trucks back to the
Toutley Depot where the cement batching plant that we have been trying to get rid of,
exists. Please can I have an update of when that cement batching plant is going to be
moving?
Answer:
Again we are arranging that through the lease arrangements with Property Services which
is a more effective way of addressing the issue than the planning system. Inevitably whilst
it may be more effective I am afraid it is somewhat more long winded and I will arrange to
get you an update on how that is developing.

42

32.7 Chris Smith asked the Executive Member for Housing the following question:
Reading the Lib Dem manifesto it was stated that Wokingham Borough Council is to
provide more of its own land for housing. Have the Lib Dems proposed any sites either in
Hillside, which I understand will also be of interest to you as well, or across the Borough,
and as Executive Member for Housing have you tried engaging with the Lib Dems on this
issue?
Answer:
I was actually interested and heartened to hear from the Lib Dem Leader Councillor Ferris
at the last Council meeting, that they had a Housing Strategy to include the supply of
affordable housing. I believed that this was an opportunity for real cross party working to
deliver much needed affordable housing. Straight after the meeting I emailed Councillor
Ferris to ask for a copy. He kindly responded a couple of days later referring me a website
and an A4 paper entitled ‘Homes for local People’ which he said they had been working on
for several months. Imagine my disappointment to find that this document said nothing
more about affordable housing provision then we need to provide more council land for
development and WBC should build more houses ourselves through its housing
companies. I agree with you that but I could have done with a bit more detail. Undaunted
I emailed him back asking what sites they had in mind for the Council to develop and what
numbers they were thinking about. I was unable to get any specifics other than they would
support some sites and not others. I tried again to no avail for specific proposals that we
could work together on. I would like to stop the provision of affordable housing from being
a political football where campaigns are whipped up for political advantage, but I fear that
this is not where the Lib Dems are heading, and no, I have not managed to get any
constructive proposals from them but I will keep trying.
I would like to put on record that I would welcome any suggestions from the Labour,
Liberal or indeed Independents, as to specific sites they would like to progress. This really
needs to be taken out of the political arena so we can provide needed, affordable housing.
Perhaps the remaining Labour Member would like to pass this request back to his Leader
who seems to have gone.
32.8 Helen Power asked the Executive Member for Environment the following
question:
My question is regarding anti-social behaviour problems in and around the Woosehill area.
The Wokingham Borough Council Community Safety booklet states that Wokingham
Borough Council will support projects to improve your community. So will you commit to
enabling a Youth Centre, youth Outreach workers and a Woosehill Community
Development Worker to be put into this area as soon as possible in order to tackle
underlying problems that are creating the anti-social behaviour?
Answer:
Clearly it is unlikely that I can give commitments like that on the hoof. You have been in
discussion with WBC Officers about this issue and I am hoping that there is constructive
work going on to address this. Anti-social behaviour is not to be tolerated and where it is
happening it needs to be dealt with very firmly, and there needs to be enough activities for
people of all ages, especially during the summer holidays when lots of people are looking
for things to do. I am hoping that the discussions that you have had with our Officers are
fruitful in that sense.

43

32.9 Rachelle Shepherd DuBey asked the Executive Member for HIghways and
Transport the following question:
It took about 2.5 years for the Winnersh crossroads to be fixed. How long is it going to
take you to fix the traffic signals on King Street Lane and the Relief Road, because right
now they are causing terrific tail backs? Hopefully less than 2.5 years.
Answer:
Hopefully you are correct.
32.10 Philip Mirfin asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the
following question:
Can the Executive Member for Highways once again please update me on the outcome of
the recent consultation on reducing the speed limit on Old Forest Road, Emmbrook, and
the development of a chicane? If the consensus is that the residents want this, when will
this work commence, particularly as the section of the NDR from Twyford Road to Toutley
has now been opened and this can seriously affect Old Forest Road.
Answer:
I do not have the details to hand of the response from the consultation but obviously if
there is a significant majority in favour of the proposal then I am happy to deliver and I will
deliver it as soon as we can.
33.
CONTINUATION OF THE MEETING
At this point in the meeting 10.09pm, in accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.12 (m),
Council considered a Motion to continue the meeting beyond 10.30pm for a maximum of
30 minutes to enable further business on the Agenda to be transacted. This was proposed
by Prue Bray and seconded by Lindsay Ferris.
Upon being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to be lost.
34.

MOTIONS

34.1 Motion 404 submitted by Lindsay Ferris
The Council considered the following Notion of Motion submitted by Lindsay Ferris and
seconded by Prue Bray.
‘This Council will use its discretionary powers to grant hardship relief from business rates
for independent businesses whose income has been adversely affected by the ongoing
works in Wokingham town centre related to the town centre regeneration or the Market
Place project, and will take steps to advertise the existence of hardship relief to those
businesses.’
Following debate of the Motion a vote was proposed.
34.2 Adjournment of the meeting
At this point, 10.20pm, the meeting adjourned for a short period as requested by Julian
McGhee Sumner to allow consideration of whether to propose amending the Motion.

44

34.3 Recommencement of the meeting
At 10.26pm the meeting recommenced.
34.4 Motion 404 continued
Prior to a vote being held, six Members, in accordance with Rule of Procedure 4.2.15.5,
requested that a recorded vote be taken on the proposed Motion.
The voting was as follows:
For
Keith Baker
Parry Batth
Laura Blumenthal
Chris Bowring
Prue Bray
Jenny Cheng
Gary Cowan
Richard Dolinski
Lindsay Ferris
Charlotte Haitham
Taylor
David Hare
Graham Howe
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
Dianne King
Abdul Loyes
Julian McGhee-Sumner
Ken Miall
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Barrie Patman
Anthony Pollock
Helen Power
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
Daniel Sargeant
Imogen ShepherdDuBey
Rachelle ShepherdDuBey
David Sleight
Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Simon Weeks
Oliver Whittle
Shahid Younis

Against

Abstained
John Kaiser
Bill Soane

45

Upon being put to the vote, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to have been carried.
RESOLVED: That this Council will use its discretionary powers to grant hardship relief
from business rates for independent businesses whose income has been adversely
affected by the ongoing works in Wokingham town centre related to the town centre
regeneration or the Market Place project, and will take steps to advertise the existence of
hardship relief to those businesses.
34.5 Motion 405 submitted by Gary Cowan
Due to time constraints the Motion was not considered and, in accordance with Rule
4.2.8.1, was deemed to have fallen.
34.6 Motion 406 submitted by Richard Dolinski
Due to time constraints the Motion was not considered and, in accordance with Rule
4.2.8.1, was deemed to have fallen.

46

Agenda Item 41.
NOTE
Please note under OJEU procurement legislation the Award
of these contacts will be subject to the mandatory 10-day
standstill Challenge Period, also known as Alcatel.
During this period confidentially must be maintained relating
to the contents of the Part 2 Papers and Full Council’s
Decision. Following Alcatel the Council will be in a position
to issue a press release regarding its Decision.
For this procurement process and Decision associated with
these term Highways and Transportation Contracts Alcatel
is scheduled to end on Wednesday the 3rd October 2018.
TITLE

Highways & Transportation Term Service
Contracts Renewal

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 20 September 2018

WARD

None specific

DIRECTOR

Director of Locality and Customer Services - Josie
Wragg

LEAD MEMBER

Executive Member for Highways and Transport Anthony Pollock

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES)
The benefits of effective and efficient Highways and Transportation Services provided by
these contracts are borough wide and include:
 Enable travelling around the borough safely for all highway users
 Manage the network minimising disruption, congestion ensuring timely journeys
 Provide suitably maintained and lit roads and pavements
 Ensure the primary network is clear of snow, ice and frost during the Winter time
 Support reducing car ownership and promote sustainable forms of transport and
journeys including public transport, cycling and walking
 Control delivery of Council and third party highway schemes and infrastructure
development to improve the network and support growth
 Promote and facilitate economic prosperity including catering for the delivery of
goods, services and commuter journeys
 Provide safe access to education for school children and students
 Provide access to leisure services including the public rights of way network
 Cater for utility services including gas, water, electric and telecommunications
 Minimise resident and business risk to flooding and various environmental issues

47



Maximise the use of resources and budgets to ensure value for money for
highway users and the residents and businesses of Wokingham

RECOMMENDATION
Council is requested to:
1)

consider the procurement process which commenced with stakeholder
engagement in 2016, soft market engagement with potential suppliers during
2017;

2)

consider the formal procurement process which has been underway since
January 2018 and proposals for mobilisation;

3)

award the Professional Services Consultancy Contract to the organisation named
in the Part 2 Papers to be operational from the 1st April 2019, for an initial term of
seven years, extendable by a further period of up to 3 years, subject to
satisfactory performance;

4)

award the Maintenance and Construction Contract to the organisation named in
the Part 2 Papers to be operational from the 1st April 2019, for an initial term of
seven years, extendable by a further period of up to 3 years, subject to
satisfactory performance.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Since 2008 the Council has delivered its Highways and Transportation services through
the Wokingham Highways Alliance, a partnership of Wokingham Borough Council, the
Professional Services Consultancy Contractor WSP who are commissioned to provide
design and expert resources supporting peaks and troughs of demand, and the
Maintenance and Construction Contractor Balfour Beatty Living Places who provide the
essential highway maintenance services and deliver schemes and projects. The contract
form and specifications underpinning the current partnership were designed in 2007,
and due to changes in highways legislation, the availability of more modern forms of
contract promoted by government’s Highway Maintenance Efficiency Programme and
the Council’s 21st Century operating model focussing on digital, IT, self-serve and
improving the customer experience, it was determined these objectives would best
secured by the Council redesigning the commission model, contracting arrangements,
and re-procuring the Highways and Transportation services, to be fully aligned with the
21st Century Council and best practice in the industry from 1 April 2019.

48

Background
Wokingham’s highway asset is considerable, comprising of:








736 km road length (includes 8 km of non-Highways England motorway)
1,889 adopted streets (18.5% of the network is traffic sensitive)
820 km footway length
8 Million m2 highway verges
250 structures (including 166 bridges)
16,000 street lights
30,000 road gullies

It has a combined value of £4B comprising of £1.3B gross replacement cost plus £2.7B
land value, and is the Council’s most valuable asset relied upon by the majority of
Wokingham’s residents and businesses on a daily basis.
The network has been managed and maintained since 2008 by Wokingham Highways
Alliance being a partnership comprising of Wokingham Borough Council (the Council),
WSP Professional Services Consultancy Contractor (PSCC) and Balfour Beatty Living
Places (BBLP) the term Maintenance and Construction Contractor (MCC) together
delivering highways and transportation services to Wokingham. The Council also has a
small structures/bridge maintenance contract with BBLP, a street lighting contract with
BBLP and a gully cleaning contract with FM Conway, which all expire 31 March 2019.
The timing of these current arrangements has been carefully programmed to allow new
Highways and Transportation Services and contracts to be delivered holistically from 1
April 2019. It was recognised very early in the planning stages that engaging with
stakeholders to understand their views on the existing services, what works well, where
the problems are, and what should be improved for the new contracts was paramount.
Stakeholder Engagement
Key stakeholders were identified as: elected Members; Town and Parish Councils;
senior Council officers; 21C team; ICT and customer services team; current Alliance
partners; local businesses and of course most importantly Wokingham’s residents who
are the key users of the network and services. Throughout 2016-2018 there has been
numerous activities to engage with stakeholders including: Member and T&P Council
briefing events and workshops; officer workshops; service reviews; service and process
design sessions; National Highways and Transportation (NHT) resident and business
annual surveys conducted by Ipsos MORI. The Council also undertook an online
Wokingham Transport and Highways survey from the Council website, with hard copies
distributed around the community buildings and libraries around the borough during late
2017. The survey was very popular with over 1,000 residents and commuters
completing the survey by the end of December 2017. The purpose of this engagement
was to find out which parts of the highway network, and which services, are most
important to customers, where problems were encountered and how customers
preferred to interact. The outcome of the survey is available on the Council’s website at
this link: http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/news-and-consultation/consultation-and-havingyour-say/finished-consultations/?entryid206=442965&p=2 Stakeholder and survey data
was also used to undertake transport visioning work, to understand what will become
more or less important as we move into the future to 2036, which is the same period of

49

Wokingham’s emerging Local Plan and Local Transport Plan. Engagement provided
data enabling the service to evolve to meet the needs of Wokingham’s key stakeholders
both now and into the future.
A high level summary of the stakeholder information is provided below:
Challenges to 2036
Community Isolation
Affordable Housing
Congestion/Air quality
Move to a driverless world
Climate Change & Flood Risk

Opportunities to 2036
Local Plan and Strategic Control
CIL & Infrastructure Delivery
Improvement in IT & data
Public transport/walking/cycling
Health & Wellbeing

New Highways & Transportation Contracts from 2019 what is key?










Customer Focus (self-serve, ICT, comms & expectation)
Smarter Working (21CC ICT for staff & customers)
One Team (partnership working/reduce man marking)
Network Coordination (manage works & congestion)
Network Resilience (operation & asset performance)
Providing Flexibility (network & technological)
Outcome based performance measures (shared vision)
Congestion / Journey Times / Air Quality / Carbon Reduction
Innovation / IT / Customer Experience & Satisfaction

A review of the Highways & Transportation service has been taking place as part of the
Council’s 21st Century Council programme. This is being implemented during 2018,
designed where the Council structure will cater for current arrangements, but evolve to
meet the requirements for the new contractual arrangements from the 1st April 2019.
The form of the new contracts has been tailored to meet Wokingham’s 21CC priorities
which include:













Focus on the customer experience
Redesign processes around the ideal customer journey
Inform customers what to expect and keep them up to date along the way
Make processes digital by default, but with alternative access channels where
appropriate
Address issues at first point of contact
Collect information once, and only if we actually need it
Move as much work forward, to self-serve or customer facing roles as possible
Move work quickly and easily around the organisation by using workflows and
automated process prompts
Automate controls within processes to ensure compliance
Measure performance as part of the process/workflow to drive improvements
Manage customer capability to enable customers to do more for themselves
Manage customer demand to prevent and shape demand where appropriate

50

Market Engagement
As well as tailoring the contracts to Wokingham’s stakeholder preferences and
requirements, it was critical the services tendered and contract commissioning model
selected would attract interest and competition from the Highways and Transportation
service provider market, which due to high levels of housebuilding and government
investment in major infrastructure over recent years was of concern.
To mitigate this risk the Council hosted market engagement workshops during 2017.
The initial June 2017 was a “Discovery” event hosted in the Council Chamber where the
Council outlined to suppliers its current arrangements, what works well, what can be
improved, and aspirations for the future contracts. This event was well attended by 24
organisations (please see Appendix A for attendance log). Further to the event
comprehensive written feedback was submitted by 15 organisations. These 15
organisations represented the majority of the major players in the UK highway and
transportation sector plus a selection of smaller and international organisations.
Consequently, the Council was confident that the feedback was representative of the
market’s views of this procurement opportunity and the likely level of appetite and
competition. A summary of this market feedback is provided below:






The Council was seen as an attractive client due to its innovative approach and
collaborative attitude.
Wokingham was seen as an attractive location due to its geography and
projected economic growth.
Most of the professional firms were firmly in favour of a separate PSCC and a
term MCC.
Four suppliers that responded preferred an integrated (single) contract.
All contractors proposed increasing the scope and the turnover of the contract in
order to make it attractive.

Based on market feedback, options evaluation aligned to the government promoted
Highway Maintenance Efficiency Programme (HMEP) procurement toolkit, and
subsequent analysis, it was determined that the preferred commissioning model
comprised of two contracts being:



A PSCC
A term MCC including street lighting, structures (bridges) and drainage

This model aligns most closely with the Council’s objectives ensuring delivery of the full
range of services, and ensured the continued interest of both the professional service
providers and the majority of contracting organisations therefore maximising overall
market appetite for this opportunity ensuring a competitive process and value for money
(VFM).
A subsequent “Informing” event was hosted in the Council Chamber in September 2017,
when the Council outlined to suppliers its proposals including the commissioning model,
forms of contract, service scope. A discussion forum took place as part of the event, and
a further opportunity was provided for suppliers to write in following the event stating
their support, or highlighting any concerns at that time. Broad support was secured from
the market, recorded in the final round of written feedback, and additionally a
procurement timetable was agreed between the Council and suppliers, when both
parties could ensure the resources required would be available.

51

Scope of Tendered Services
The current Wokingham Highways Alliance delivers the following services:













Network Management
Streetworks
Transport Planning
Road safety
Public and corporate transport support
Asset Management
Maintenance (reactive & planned)
Street lighting
Winter Services
Flood Management & drainage
Developer Works (s278/38)
Projects (design and delivery)

The new contracts will continue to deliver this broad range of Highways and
Transportation services. However market engagement and analysis to date has
highlighted the following opportunities for further efficiencies and service improvement,
which are proposed within the new contracts subject to further discussion with suppliers,
and with the Council’s key stakeholders.








The PSCC will be a strategic partner to the Council where the contract can be
used to access the wide range of specialist skills and expertise.
Routine elements of the PSCC services will be transferred to the Council.
Reactive highway maintenance and highway inspection function will be
transferred from the Council to the MCC.
A design and build option for projects will be provided within the MCC.
The MCC will host the ICT and CRM solution for routine highways enquiries for
example: potholes repairs; gully cleaning and street lighting faults, delivering
improved efficiency, service excellence and improved customer service.
The Council’s Housing stock (roads/pavements/lighting and drainage) and
metalled public rights of way will be inspected and maintained within the MCC.
An option to deliver street cleansing services from 1 April 2020.

Market engagement highlighted that increasing the value of spend through the contracts
would make them more attractive to suppliers, and therefore more efficient. To meet this
aspiration the Council engaged with the other five Berkshire Council’s during 2017, who
with the exception of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead have submitted
Expressions of Interest to access the contracts from 1 April 2019. A draft Service Level
Agreement (SLA) has been issued where Wokingham Borough Council as the client
would have control to ensure the third party request would not impact adversely on the
services being provided in Wokingham. With Wokingham Borough Council’s prior
approval third party Berkshire Councils can access the services of both the PSCC and
term MCC. Under the SLA third party Council’s accessing the services would be
charged by Wokingham Borough Council a Contract Access Fee. This collaborative
approach is promoted by government and welcomed by the neighbouring Berkshire
Councils. Additionally all of Wokingham’s Town and Parish Councils are named to have
access to use the contracts and services.

52

Partnering, Governance and Contract Form
Stakeholder and market engagement determined the key features of any future
commissioning contract model would be focussed upon:









Partnership working underpinned by ISO44001 promoting a collaborative
business relationship
Long-term relationships with suppliers focusing on shared vision and outcomes
Integration of the skills of the Council and suppliers
Enable collaboration between partners and stakeholders
Commitment to being open, transparent and accountable
Enables investment
Encourage innovation, review and continual improvement
Aligned with the 21CC programme

A shared vision focussed on outcomes, was considered paramount to forming a
successful partnership ensuring the right cultures and behaviours within Wokingham’s
newly formed Highways Alliance. Suppliers were asked as part of the tender
requirements to explain how their organisations would support this objective, including
proposing a governance and organisational structure that will deliver both the strategic
and operational requirements of the Wokingham Highways Alliance, ensuring true
partnership working and collaboration, and proposals to ensure innovation, continual
review and improvement throughout the life of the contracts.
The governance arrangements proposed, and to be refined, will ensure the Wokingham
Highways Alliance partners and contracts are focussed aligned to the Council’s strategic
and operation requirements from the outset, and for the full term of the contracts. The
procurement process is being overseen and steered by the Executive Member for
Highways and Transportation Cllr Anthony Pollock’s Highways and Transportation
Contract Renewal Member Group, which is cross party and geographically dispersed to
fully represent the borough of Wokingham. Additionally an officer Highways and
Transportation Review Board has been operating since 2016 ensuring the
commissioning model, contract form and services tendered fully meet the requirements
of the Council, aligned closely with the emerging 21st Century Council operating model
as it is embedded throughout 2018. It is proposed these groups will oversee the
mobilisation of these contracts from October 2018 to March 2019.
There has been a high emphasis, forming part of supplier’s tender submission, to
demonstrate their understanding of both the strategic and operational requirements of
the newly formed Wokingham Highways Alliance, and how suppliers will support and
bring expertise and value to the partnership. During mobilisation partnership and
contract meetings at various levels including representation from elected Members and
senior officers at Board, Partnership and Operational level will be designed, agreed and
scheduled with defined objectives and terms of reference, ensuring appropriate
governance, accountability, reporting and transparency.
The MCC procurement utilises the HMEP suite of documents promoted by government,
which is a highways specific version of the nationally recognised NEC3 suite (New
Engineering and Construction) of contract documents, widely accepted throughout the
industry. The core clauses are well understood and specific information is presented in a
consistent manner; saving considerable time and effort for all parties. NEC3 and its

53

derivatives are accepted by the Council’s partner Shared Legal Solutions as an
appropriate basis for contracts. As with the MCC, the PSCC procurement utilises the
NEC3 suite of documents but, in this case, they are drawn from the Professional
Services Contract set.
Further to the MCC and PSCC contracts the Council has requested a tri-party partnering
NEC contract that will ensure the Council, the successful PSCC and the successful
MCC, forming the new Wokingham Highways Alliance from 1 April 2019, will work in
partnership as a contractual requirement from the outset, and throughout the lifetime of
the contract term.
Performance Management, Reporting, Review and Improvement
The contract terms are seven years from 1 April 2019 with an option to extend for a
further three years, subject to satisfactory performance. It was acknowledged early in
the process from stakeholder engagement, market feedback, the government promoted
HMEP, industry best practice and NEC service contract’s standard form that contract
performance should be incentivised, beyond contract extension options. To meet the
strategic aims of the Council including promoting partnership working, delivering service
excellence and ensuring the right culture and behaviours within Wokingham’s Highways
Alliance, financial incentivisation was determined would best meet these objectives. A
punitive approach, focussed around financial contract penalties, was not considered
appropriate to deliver the desired outcomes.
The new contracts are designed to place the controls and the risks for service and
project delivery with the supplier. For example, if the supplier fails to complete a pothole
on time, any financial or service risk, after the Council’s due date, sits with the supplier.
Contract law requires that any penalties (damages) must be commensurate with the
level of loss that the Council (the client) has suffered. Following through this example,
the Council carries no financial risk for failure by the supplier to meet the service
requirements for the pothole, therefore it would not be possible for the Council to levy
financial penalties in this instance.
Although the service and financial risk sits with the MCC in this example the Council is
fully aware of reputational risk for unsatisfactory performance. The partnership,
governance and contractual requirements set out in the previous section under
Partnering, Governance and Contract Form will ensure that the Council, the successful
PSCC and successful MCC forming the Wokingham Highways Alliance will be fully
aware of strategic and operational requirements, what services are paramount to
Wokingham’s residents, and the need to react and be agile to changing corporate and
political priorities during the life of the contracts. Delivery of services and projects will be
transparent and subject to appropriate oversight, monitoring and performance
management.
The Council recognise the importance of service excellence and how performance is
measured, reviewed and improved over the life of the contracts. In response the Council
has designed and developed, in partnership with stakeholders and partners, a
comprehensive draft Wokingham Alliance Performance Management Framework
(Appendix B). The framework will form part of the new contractual requirements from 1
April 2019. Performance measures are summarised below under strategic, partnership
and operational categories based upon an approach aligned with industry best practice,

54

stakeholder engagement, supported by market feedback and considered proportionate
to the tendered services considering their scope and value. Performance measures are
designed to be reported at the stated frequencies and considered a reasonable resource
demand on Wokingham’s Highways Alliance partners for the duration of the contacts,
mindful that performance reporting if unrestrained can become an industry in itself.






24 No. Strategic Performance Measures reported annually with some data reliant
on existing reporting to DfT (Department for Transport), NHT (National Highways
and Transportation Networks) and APSE (Association of Public Sector
Excellence) with the objective to ensure delivery of the Council’s corporate and
political priorities aligned to Wokingham’s Transport Vision and Highway Asset
Management Objectives.
11 No. Partnership Performance Measures reported quarterly at Highways
Alliance Board with the objective to promote partnership working, business
improvement, innovation and the right cultures and behaviours within the
Wokingham Highways Alliance.
26 No. Operational Performance Measures reported monthly via Alliance
Partnership Meeting with the objective to promote contract governance,
performance and operational delivery and compliance within the Wokingham
Highways Alliance.

During mobilisation the draft framework (Appendix B) will evolve in partnership with the
successful alliance partners and the Council’s stakeholders, including agreement as to
where the performance measures will be reported including some externally via ICT/web
live dashboards with public access, some to selected stakeholders including elected
Members, to Council officers, audit and scrutiny Council committees and some of a
more technical nature potentially retained internally within the Wokingham Highways
Alliance. Suppliers will have made assumptions regarding the value of financial incentive
they will receive over the life of the contracts, which will have been factored into their
price submissions under the tendering process. This ensures the financial incentive
being provided by the Council will deliver VFM for the investment, and this approach is
considered to best meet the Council’s requirements relating to performance.
Procurement and Tender Evaluation Process
The procurement process selected by the Council is known as a “Competitive Procedure
with Negotiation”. The Council designed and communicated the procedure and
timescales via the soft market engagement events throughout 2017, ensuring potential
tenderers could influence the process and raise any concerns. This was completed in
late 2017, and the Council publicised the process, timescales, evaluation methodology
and all procurement and contract documents in January 2018, allowing potential
tenderers to be fully aware of the requirements and secure appropriate resources in
good time should they be minded to enter the process and bid for these contracts.
The “Competitive Procedure with Negotiation” selected by the Council is a two stage
process including a negotiation phase.
Under Stage 1 tenderers were required to meet pre-qualification requirements to
demonstrate that their organisations were:

55





Not subject to any of the statutory or discretionary exclusion criteria (as mandated
by the Crown Commercial Service)
Met the Council’s regulatory and financial requirements
Committed to comply with all requirements of a bona-fide tender

The companies that met this criteria also responded to a series of questions to
demonstrate their experience of providing a similar service, grouped under the
categories of: Partnership Working; Contract Experience; Service Delivery, Operational
Efficiency; Resources & Supply Chain, ICT and Health & Safety. A team of Officers
evaluated the tenderers responses to these questions in order to short-list ideally three
but up to a maximum of five candidate organisations to take forward to Full Tender.
Under Stage 2 companies remaining were subsequently Invited to Tender (Round 1 –
Initial Tender) by the Council where they were requested to complete and submit the
following elements:
Element of the Evaluation
A. Quality Element/s
B. Price Element/s
TOTAL

Weighting
60%
40%
100%

The Quality element (60% weighting) of the Tender was split into the following
categories, comprising a series of 15 questions, at the category weightings below,
designed by the Council to ensure the quality evaluation was targeting the Council’s
priorities in relation to this contract:
Method Statement Category
1. Vision, Objectives & Partnering
2. Partnership working, collaboration, review & improvement
3. ICT & Customer Service
4. Network & Asset Management
5. Environmental Management
TOTAL

Weighting
30%
20%
20%
20%
10%
100%

The Price element (40% weighting) of the Tender was designed to account for the
forecast level of annual spend at the activities and services forecast to be most utilised
by the Council known as the Price Model. This ensured the financial evaluation would
mirror the services forecast to be utilised by the Council over the contract term.
Under the Stage 2 “Negotiation Phase” following Initial Tender evaluation there were
some areas the Council considered beneficial to seek further clarification upon. This was
undertaken by meeting with all the remaining tenderers, and subsequently providing
further written instructions, informing tenderers what additional information the Council
expected within their Final Tender submissions. This provided the tenderers the
opportunity to improve their Initial Tender responses, to better meet the Council’s
specified requirements, and a wider opportunity to improve their final tenders.
Under Stage 2 Final Tenders were prepared by the tenderers and submitted to the
Council for evaluation. The Final Tender evaluation has been undertaken during July
and August 2018.

56

The Quality Element (60% weighting) of the Final Tender was evaluated using the
following scoring guide where a team of Officers evaluated the tenderers responses.
Score
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
9
10

Rating of Response
No response provided and/or substantial omissions which make
the response fundamentally unacceptable and gives the Council
cause for major concern.
Very poor standard of response; fails to meet nearly all
requirements, Insufficient information provided or response
generally not supported by evidence. Gives the Council cause for
a very high level of concern.
Poor response; fails to meet the majority of requirements,
insufficient information provided and/or response is generally not
supported by evidence. Gives the Council cause for a high level
of concern.
Inadequate response; fails to meet some requirements and is
generally unsatisfactory and/or has omissions and/or is not
supported by evidence. Gives the Council cause for serious
concern.
Basic response; borderline in meeting requirements and has
some satisfactory elements but is generally unsatisfactory and/or
has several omissions. Gives the Council cause for concern in
several areas.
Adequate response; generally meets requirements and is
supported by a reasonable level of evidence but has a number of
omissions which give the Council cause for some concerns in few
areas.
Competent standard of response; meets requirements and is
supported by a satisfactory level of evidence although there are a
few issues which give the Council cause for some minor
concerns.
Good standard of response; meets requirements and is
supported by evidence although there are a few very minor
omissions and/or very minor issues which gives the Council
cause for some very minor concerns.
Very Good standard of response; meets requirements and is
supported by comprehensive evidence which gives the Council a
very good level of confidence.
Excellent standard of response; exceeds the requirements in a
number of areas and is supported by strong evidence which gives
the Council a high level of confidence.
Exceptional standard of response; exceeds requirements in most
areas and is supported by very strong evidence which gives the
Council a very high level of confidence.

57

The Price element (40% weighting) of the Final Tender was calculated in line with the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) scoring model, according
to the formula:
𝐿𝑜𝑤𝑒𝑠𝑡 𝑡𝑒𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑟 𝑡𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒
𝑆𝑐𝑜𝑟𝑒 𝑜𝑓 𝑂𝑡ℎ𝑒𝑟 𝑡𝑒𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑟 (%) = 𝑚𝑎𝑥𝑖𝑚𝑢𝑚 𝑃𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒 𝑆𝑐𝑜𝑟𝑒 (%) 𝑥
𝑂𝑡ℎ𝑒𝑟 𝑡𝑒𝑛𝑑𝑒𝑟 𝑡𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒
The lowest priced tender was awarded the maximum Price score (Price Element
Percentage Weighting). The Other tender scores were then calculated relative to this.
Due to contractual and commercial sensitives the Final Tender evaluation scoring and
benchmarking data and Recommendations are provided within the Part 2 papers.
Timetable, Contract Award and Mobilisation
A project programme tilted Highways and Transport Contract Renewal Programme for
the renewal of these contracts is provided in Appendix C showing the numerous
activities that have been satisfactorily completed to date, and what activities are required
prior to the new contracts going live including during the mobilisation phase. The
procurement process and activities to date are considered comprehensive, robust,
aligned with best practice, and designed to best meet the Council’s objectives over the
period of the newly formed Wokingham Highways Alliance from April 2019. Key
milestones of the formal procurement timetable were agreed with suppliers and the
Council’s procurement specialist lead during market engagement during 2017:
1. Mid-January 2018 Issue Contract Notice & all documents
2. Mid-February Selection Questionnaires Returns (5 weeks)
3. Mid-March confirm Initial Tenders (8 weeks)
4. Early May Initial Tender Returns
5. Initial evaluation & Negotiation (2+4 weeks)
6. Mid-June Issue Final Tender (4 weeks)
7. Mid-July Final Tender Returns
8. August-September Evaluation & Executive/Full Council for 20 September 2018
9. Contract Award – mid October (25 weeks mobilisation)
10. Contract Start – 1st April 2019
Programme items 1-7 have been satisfactorily completed and have delivered their
objectives. During August some minor matters are being clarified with tenderers relating
to Final Tenders, and the overall procurement process remains on programme.
Should the Council decide to Award the PSCC and MCC contracts, both WSP and
BBLP will commence their demobilisation programs which will run from October 2018 to
31 March 2019. During this period both WSP and BBLP will be required to transfer any
data and records to the Council and/or new PSCC/MCC, and will endeavour to close
down and complete their larger schemes and projects by the 31 March, resolving as
many legacy issues as practicable within this period. The Thames Valley Park & Ride
major capital project will run over into Summer 2019, however as this project has its own
site based project team, BBLP are committed to completing this project. Both the PSCC
and MCC will have indemnity and guarantee periods beyond the contract end dates, and
how this is delivered post that date will be agreed during demobilisation. BBLP will be

58

required to vacate Toutley Depot, including complying with all their lease obligations as
part of their exit and demobilisation strategy.
Under the procurement process mobilisation plans have been received by potential
PSCC and MCC suppliers. These plans will be refined by the Council, the new
PSCC/MCC and integrated with the demobilisation plans from WSP and BBLP to ensure
a joined up mobilisation strategy, ensuring efficiency and service delivery are maintained
throughout this period.
Toutley Depot is provided by the Council to the MCC under the existing contract. This
arrangement is also proposed within the new MCC, and discussions are underway with
the Council’s property team to ensure the Toutley site is suitable for use as a highways
depot for the life of the new contract term.
Although the six months demobilisation/mobilisation will minimise disruption and ensure
essential services are maintained throughout, there will be a tailoring down of the more
major schemes, and reducing ability to deliver non-planned works particularly during the
period of January to April 2019, while BBLP wind down to vacate Toutley Depot and the
newly awarded MCC takes occupation of the site, and starts to deliver the new service
along with taking delivery of the new plant, fleet, materials and ICT systems the service
will be reliant upon, however all parties will strive to minimise the impact, ensuring core
and essential services are prioritised during this period of change.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result of
the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent reductions
to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be
required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the next three years and
all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

Part 2

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Part 2

Part 2

Part 2

Capital & Revenue

Part 2

Part 2

Capital & Revenue

Capital & Revenue

Other Financial Information
Costs associated with new Wokingham Highways Alliance form and contracted services
have being evaluated against the current PSCC (WSP) and MCC (BBLP) contracts,
tenders received by the Council under the procurement process and subject to a
benchmarking exercise, to ensure the contracts will deliver VFM. Services are also
being re-designed in line with the 21C programme, to ensure the new services and
contracts are aligned with stakeholder requirements, and to ensure efficient services
that deliver VFM.
Further financial details and supporting data is provided within the PSCC and MCC
Evaluation Data and Recommendation Part 2 Papers due to commercial sensitivities.

59

Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation
Date
Stakeholder Activity
July 2016
Roads & Potholes- Have your Say Workshop
January 2017
Transport Vision Workshop
January 2017
New Highways Contracts Workshop
December 2017
Joint Board- Contract Update
December 2017
Highways & Transport WBC Online Survey
December 2017
H&T Contract Member Group (Chair Cllr Bowring)
January 2018
O&S Committee- Contract Update
February 2018
Highways Comms Briefing/Workshop
April 2018
H&T Contract Member Group (Chair Cllr Baker)
May 2018
H&T Contract Member Group (Chair Cllr Baker)
June 2018
O&S Committee- Contract Update
July 2018
H&T Contract Member Group (Chair Cllr Pollock)
September 2018
O&S Committee- Contract Update
Resourcing and Timeline for Next Steps
The procurement process has been delivered and funded within service since 2016.
The H&T Contract Renewal Officer Group established in 2016 will continue to provide
oversight and governance over the procurement of these contracts, and will morph into
an Officer group to oversee the mobilisation of the new contracts. The Officer group will
report into the established H&T Contract Renewal Member Group Chaired by the
Executive Member for Highways and Transport over the same period, ensuring the new
contracts are established and mobilised to meet the operational, strategic and political
requirements of the Council.
Timeline for Review and Evaluation
Governance and reporting requirements, including refinement of the Wokingham
Highways Alliance Performance Management Framework (Appendix B) will be agreed
between Officers, Members and wider stakeholders including the PSCC and MCC in
partnership during mobilisation. This process will agree service and contract review and
improvement mechanisms, and how they are reported and communicated during
mobilisation and throughout the life of the new contracts.
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
The Part 2 papers for the PSCC and MCC procurement process provides commercially
sensitive Quality and Price tender evaluation information, and Recommendations
regarding the outcome from both procurement processes, along with options and
implications should the Council decide not to Award the PSCC and/or the MCC.
List of Background Papers
O&S Committee- Contract Update- 18 June 2018
O&S Committee- Contract Update- 10 September 2018
Appendix A- Companies attending soft market engagement event- 19 June 2016
Appendix B- Wokingham Highways Alliance Performance Management Framework
Appendix C- Highways & Transport Contract Renewal Programme
Part 2 Paper- PSCC Evaluation Data and Recommendation
Part 2 Paper- MCC Evaluation Data and Recommendation
Equality Impact Assessment
Contact Alex Deans
Service Customer and Localities
Telephone 0118 974 6000
Email alex.deans@wokingham.gov.uk

60

Report Title:
Version/Date:
Report Owner:

H&TReview- Supplier Registration
170612
Alex J Deans

24 suppliers have registered to attend the Soft Market Testing “Discovery” workshop Monday the 19 June 2017

61

Professional Services
WSP
Atkins
Project Centre
Waterman
Jacobs
Aecom
Hyperion (Asset Management)
Ridge
Elliot Asset Management
Gateway TSP
Arup * late registration

Term maintenance and Projects
Balfour Beatty Living Places
Ringway

Costain
Tarmac
Volker Highways

Integrated (potentially both)
Balfour Beatty Living Places
Costain
Ringway/Jacob
Keir

Colas
Keir
Eurovia
Valoriza Conservación Infraestructuras
Lagan Operations & Maintenance
Galliford Try
Osborne
Conway * late registration

Page 1 of 1

This page is intentionally left blank

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT
Desired Outcomes:
The Highways Alliance partnership will be focused and incentivised enabling the Professional Services Consultancy Contractor (PSCC) and Maintenance and
Construction Contractor (MCC) to perform and innovate in partnership with the Council, to ensure delivery of the partnerships priorities and objectives,
ensuring a high level of performance, efficient service delivery including mechanisms for continual review and improvement for the full term of the
contracts.
Drivers:
A contact audit in 2016/17 included review and modernisation of performance management of the contracts which remained in their original 2008 form
Recommissioning of Highways and Transportation Services from April 2019 aligned to political, corporate, service and operational requirements
Stakeholder engagement events over 2016 and 2017 including elected Members requested more robust, accountable and visible performance reporting
Performance measures have been designed to be reported at the stated frequencies with minimal additional burden on alliance partner staff resources

63

Proposal:
24 No. Strategic Performance Measures (SPM):
Reported annually with some data reliant on existing reporting to DfT (Department for Transport), NHT (National Highways and Transportation Networks)
and APSE (Association of Public Sector Excellence)
Ensure delivery of the Council’s corporate and political priorities aligned to Wokingham’s Transport Vision and Highway Asset Management Objectives
11 No. Partnership Performance Measures (PPM):
Reported quarterly at Highways Alliance Board
Promote partnership working, business improvement, innovation and the right cultures and behaviours within the Highways Alliance
26 No Operational Performance Measures (OPM)
Reported monthly via Alliance Partnership Meeting
Promote contract governance, performance and operational delivery and compliance within the Highways Alliance
External Reporting:
During mobilisation it will be discussed and agreed with the alliance partners and WBC stakeholders how and where the performance measures will be
reported including some externally via ICT/web live dashboards with public access, to selected stakeholders/Members and those retained internally
Incentive: NB Appendix PMF1: Incentive Methodology / Appendix PMF2: Incentive Formula Spreadsheet Calculation &performance Log
Market engagement, HMEP, industry best practice and NEC service contracts standard form recommend contract performance is incentivised
Performance scoring of PPMs and OPMs have been designed to be in full control of the Highways Alliance partners, and therefore form the basis for
incentives

1

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

64

Review:
The PMF will be subject to review and improvement aligned to changing Highways Alliance objectives, service and operational priorities and objectives
Our vision for Wokingham Borough
“A great place to live and an even better place to do business”
The Transport Vision
The Council’s vision to 2036 is to deliver and maintain a safe, reliable and joined-up transport system that connects new and existing communities,
businesses, commercial centres while providing leisure opportunities. The vision will future-proof the transport network for new and emerging technology;
reduce social exclusion; improve network resilience; accommodate climate change; reduce congestion and improve productivity.
Objectives
Infrastructure
Environment
Social
Technological
1. To optimise connectivity,
1. To provide safe, accessible
1. To future proof travel networks to 1. To provide a future-proofed
accessibility and productivity
alternative travel options to
meet a more aged and diverse
travel network that can
through an integrated approach
the car, giving health, air
population whilst meeting the
assimilate emerging and new
to land use and infrastructure.
quality and carbon benefits.
expectations of new generations.
technologies such as Connected
2. To invest in infrastructure
2. To maximise the use of low
2. To provide a transport system
Autonomous Vehicles.
enabling and promoting walking,
cost renewable energy in
that can accommodate the travel 2. To provide an improved
cycling and the use of public
operating and maintaining
needs of communities,
customer journey experience,
transport.
transport assets, minimising
commercial and retail businesses
through optimising use of Big
3. To provide new roads alongside
the Council’s carbon footprint.
and the leisure sector.
Data.
new developments enhancing
3. To provide greenways for
3. To create well connected
3. To enable dynamic travel
economic growth.
walking and cycling, and green
communities through enabling
choices and optimised network
4. To create innovative ways of
corridors with active
sustainable travel within and
performance, through the
funding for maintaining
biodiversity integral to the
between existing and new
provision of borough wide
infrastructure.
travel network.
housing.
availability of real-time travel
5. To provide well maintained
4. To adapt to climate change and 4. To enhance the health and wellinformation.
roads by adopting a whole life
ensure that our transport
being of communities and their
4. To allow all travellers to access
approach.
networks are resilient to
residents, through quality social
information on travel
6. To optimise investment by
severe weather events.
infrastructure, and access to
opportunities through
collaboratively working with
facilities, through alternatives to
technological enhancements.
neighbours and partners, for a
the car.
5. Connected council and alliance
seamless journey.
5. To reduce long commutes.
partners enabling value-added
7. To address congestion pinch
decision making on-site.
points.
2

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Wokingham Highways Alliance- Strategic Performance Measures (reported annually)
SPM No

Link to Transport
Vision to 2036

Description

2017/18
(GAP)

Target

Comments
Mitigation
Actions

SPM1

Infrastructure 5

Condition of principal roadspercentage of network to be
considered for maintenance

WBC

4%
(1%)

3% DfT
Nat Ave

Reported to DfT in Autumn

SPM2

Infrastructure 5

Condition of B & C roadspercentage of network to be
considered for maintenance

WBC

5%
(1%)

<5% WBC
(6% DfT
Nat Ave)

Reported to DfT in Autumn

SPM3

Infrastructure 5

Condition of unclassified roadspercentage of network to be
considered for maintenance

WBC

13%
(4%)

<13% WBC
(17% DfT
Nat Ave)

Reported to DfT in Autumn

SPM4

Infrastructure 5
Social 4 & 5

Condition of footways –
percentage of network to be
considered for maintenance

WBC

4%
(1%)

<4% WBC

Collected by WBC asset team

SPM5

Infrastructure 5
Social 5

Bridge condition indicators Average &
Critical

WBC

93%
(7%)

>93%
86% APSE
Nat Ave
>83%
79% APSE
Nat Ave

Reported to APSE in Autumn

65

Owner

83%
(4%)

3

2018/19
(GAP)

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Social 2, 3, 4 & 5

Resident satisfaction with ease of
access onto the network

WBC

75.6%
(2.0%)

77.6%
NHT Nat
average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM7

Social 1, 2, 3, 4 & 5

Resident satisfaction with local bus
services

WBC

58.1%
(3.1%)

61.2%
NHT Nat
average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM8

Social 1 & 2

Resident satisfaction with community
transport

WBC

57.3%
(0.3%)

57.6%
NHT Nat
Average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM9

Infrastructure 5
Social 4

Resident satisfaction with pavements
and footpaths

WBC

63%
(7.1%)

>63% WBC
(55.9%
NHT Nat
Average)

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM10

Environment 3
Social 3 & 4

Resident satisfaction with the Public
Rights of Way network

WBC

56.7%
(1.4%)

58.1%
NHT Nat
Average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM11

Social 5

Resident satisfaction with traffic levels
and congestion

WBC

36%
(9.5%)

45.5%
NHT Nat
Average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

66

SPM6

4

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Infrastructure 5
Social 5

Resident satisfaction with
management of roadworks

WBC

50.3%
(1.6%)

51.9%
NHT Nat
Average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM13

Social 2 & 4

Resident satisfaction with local road
safety

WBC

60.6%
(1.7%)

>60.6%
(58.9%
NHT Nat
Average)

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM14

Infrastructure 5
Technological 5

Resident satisfaction with highway
condition

WBC

39.6%
(2.2%)

>39.6%
(37.4%
NHT Nat
Average)

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM15

Infrastructure 5
Technological 5

Resident satisfaction with highway
maintenance

WBC

58.5%
(4.9%)

>58.5%
(53.6%
NHT Nat
Average)

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM16

Infrastructure 5
Technological 5

Resident satisfaction with highway
condition

WBC

64.9%
(1.7%)

66.6%
NHT Nat
Average

Data provided annually in
November NHT reports

SPM17

Infrastructure 5
Social 1

Total number of road casualties killed
or seriously injured

WBC

3 No
(3 No)
Oct 16Oct 17

0 / annual
decline
WBC

67

SPM12

5

Quarterly reporting 8 weeks
behind via the Safer Roads
Partnership Berkshire

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

68

SPM18

Infrastructure 5
Social 1

Total number of road casualties
slightly injured

WBC

231 No
(231 No)
Oct 16Oct 17

0 / annual
decline
WBC

SPM19

Infrastructure 5

Number of properties protected by
flood mitigation measures

WBC

40
(10)

50 WBC

SPM20

Infrastructure 7
Social 5

Car journey times across the borough

WBC

TBC

<2015 WBC
modelling
data

SPM21

Infrastructure 7
Social 5

Bus punctuality

WBC

77%
(18%)

95%
DfT target

Reported to DfT in June

SPM22

Environmental 1

Number of electric vehicles registered
in the borough

WBC

321 No
(Q3)

Annual
increase of
5%

Data available quarterly from
DVLA table veh 0131

SPM23

Environmental 1 & 2
Social 4

Percentage of schools covered by
travel plans

WBC

35%
(65%)

100%

SPM24

Technological 5

Percentage of Customer Service
Enquiries resolved by self-serve

WBC

TBC

Annual
increase of
10%

6

Quarterly reporting 8 weeks
behind via the Safer Roads
Partnership Berkshire

Measured annually at various
locations across Wokingham
borough aligned with DfT criteria

Measured by hits on selected
web-links

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Wokingham Highways Alliance- Partnership Performance Measures reported quarterly at Alliance Board
PPM No

Description

PPM1

Performance

Early warnings and CE’s actioned
within 28 days of being raised

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

PPM2

Performance

H&S compliance including employees
and highway users

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

PPM3

Performance

Attendance and participation at
Alliance project collaborative planning

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

PPM4

Performance

Attendance and active participation at
Alliance Business Improvement
Initiative

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

PPM5

Performance

Evidence of promoting innovation, ICT
enhancement and new ways of
working on a quarterly basis

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

PPM6

Performance

Evidence pf promoting and/or
progressing environmental
improvements on a quarterly basis

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

69

Partnership
performance &
business
improvement

Owner

7

2017/18
(GAP)

2018/19
(GAP)

Target

Comments
Mitigation
Actions

Requires H&S Partnership
Framework / RIDDOR / claims

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Performance

Trainees and apprentices provided in
compliance with agreed/contractual
requirements

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

PPM8

Performance

Internal promotion of Highways
Alliance with key stakeholders, staff
and supply chain including good news,
initiatives, workshops and news letter

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

Tri-party feedback/discussion and
360 when required to agree
score. If agreement cannot be
reached WBC reserve the right to
score

PPM9

Performance

External promotion and performance
of public facing Highways Alliance of
all including branding, sub-contractors
and supply chain partners

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

Tri-party feedback/discussion and
360 when required to agree
score. If agreement cannot be
reached WBC reserve the right to
score

PPM10

Performance

Effective Leadership of the Highways
Alliance meeting political, corporate,
operational and staffing requirements

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

Tri-party feedback/discussion and
360 when required to agree
score. If agreement cannot be
reached WBC reserve the right to
score

PPM11

Performance

Partnership health score

WBC
PSCC
MCC

100%

Tri-party feedback/discussion and
360 when required to agree
score. If agreement cannot be
reached WBC reserve the right to
score

70

PPM7

8

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Wokingham Highways Alliance- Operational Performance Measures reported monthly at Alliance Partnership
OPM No

Description

Owner

2017/18
(GAP)

2018/19
(GAP)

Target

OPM1

Performance

Issue of accurate Task Orders to PSCC
and MCC

WBC

100%

OPM2

Performance

Approval/response to Service Briefs
within 5 working days of submission

WBC

100%

OPM3

Performance

Responding to Service and Contract
Queries within 5 working days of
receipt

WBC

100%

OPM4

Performance

Financial processing of invoices in line
with contract payment timescales

WBC

100%

OPM5

Performance

“Contact Us” Customer Service
enquiries dealt within 10 working days
(without escalation)

WBC

100%

OPM6

Performance

Resolution of escalated customer
Service Requests resolved without
further escalation to formal stage

WBC

100%

71

Contract
performance &
business
improvement

9

Comments
Mitigation
Actions

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

72

OPM7

Performance

Service Requests delivered on time
(commencement and completion)

PSCC

100%

OPM8

Performance

Task Orders delivered within cost
estimates

PSCC

100%

OPM9

Performance

Invoices submitted within 28 days of
Task Order completion

PSCC

100%

OPM10

Performance

H&S Safety File issued to contractor as
part of design package

PSCC

100%

OPM11

Performance

Designed project passing road safety
audit (2 & 3) without excessive redesign and project cost escalation

PSCC

100%

OPM12

Performance

Highway inspections being undertaken
in accordance with WHIP frequency

MCC

100%

OPM13

Performance

Category 1 Task Orders completed
within 2hr/24hr timescales

MCC

100%

OPM14

Performance

Category 2 “Standard” Task Orders
completed within 28 day timescales

MCC

100%

10

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

73

OPM15

Performance

Street lights and illuminated
signs/bollards in light

MCC

OPM16

Performance

Gullies, manholes and catchpits
cleared in accordance with agreed
programme (quality and frequency)

MCC

100%

Vehicles fitted with GPS from
April 2019

OPM17

Performance

Compliance with Winter Maintenance
Plan ensuring no successful claims for
non-compliance of policy against WBC

MCC

100%

Vehicles fitted with GPS from
April 2019

OPM18

Performance

Reactive works Task Orders completed
“right first time" without Defect
Correction being applied by WBC

MCC

100%

OPM19

Performance

Reactive works Task Orders completed
and invoiced without Withholding
Notice being applied by WBC for
works being “not suitable for use by
WBC

MCC

100%

SPM20

Performance

Third party claims that are successfully
defended by WBC supported by MCC
aligned to compliance with WHIP

MCC

100%

11

99%
(1%)

99-100%

Data available from CMS

Information held and reported via
WBC insurance team

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

74

OPM21

Performance

Schemes and projects successfully
designed to service (WBC)
requirements

MCC

100%

OPM22

Performance

Schemes and projects successfully
delivered “right first time” within
agreed and communicated
programme phases and timescales

MCC

100%

OPM23

Performance

Schemes accurate invoices submitted
with 28 days of completion of Task
Order or interim measure/assessment

MCC

100%

OPM24

Performance

Issue of project H&S Safety File & As
Built Asset Owner data within 28 days
of scheme project site completion

MCC

100%

OPM25

Performance

Customer Service Request dealt within
2hr, 24hr or 28 days (without
escalation) including call answering
within 90 seconds 24/7

MCC

100%

OPM26

Performance

Resolution of escalated Customer
Service Requests without further
escalation to WBC or formal stage

MCC

100%

12

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Appendix PMF1: Incentive Methodology
Market engagement in 2017, HMEP/industry best practice and NEC service contracts strongly recommend contract performance is financially incentivised
Performance scoring of PPMs and OPMs have been designed to be in full control of the Highways Alliance partners, and therefore form the basis for
incentive payments from the incentive fund
PPMs and OPMs have equal weighting unless agreed by the partners or directed by WBC
PPMs will be scored in partnership with the same score assigned to WBC, PSCC and MCC, whereas OPMs have been independently assigned and will be
scored independently for WBC, PSCC and MCC, where agreement cannot be reached between the alliance partners for the limited subjective scoring of PPM
8-PPM11 the final score will be determined reasonably by WBC

75

High levels of performance relating to delivery of Highways & Transport Services, partnership working and collaboration are considered paramount to WBC
and WBC expects performance for both the PSCC and MCC within the top quartile (>75%) throughout the life of the contracts and further performance
below the top quartile (<75%) would be considered unacceptable performance
All PPMs and OPMs have been designed where a score for the Alliance Partners of 100% is considered realistic and would represent optimum performance
however if optimum performance is achieved then the performance measures and scoring criteria would be reviewed and modernised in partnership to
ensure continual improvement throughout the life of the contracts
The incentive fund has been determined in value to ensure that the PSCC and MCC are financially incentivised to promote high performance across the
Highways Alliance
WBC will ensure budget provision for the incentive fund from 1st April 2019 and paid when due to the PSCC and MCC following quarterly reporting and
authorisation at the Highways Alliance Board Meeting with the incentive fund being subject to annual indexation in line with the Consumer Prices Index
applied from the 1st April 2019 and applied annually from this date with the un-awarded balance of the incentive fund will be utilised by WBC in
collaboration with partners to improve partnership performance, service and operational priorities
Performance scoring within the top quartile of 75-100% will cause incentive payments according to Appendix PMF2: Incentive Payment Formula below with
incentive funds up to £50K for the PSCC and £150K for MCC from 1st April 2019, plus future indexation
13

March 2018 Wokingham Highways Alliance: Performance Management Framework- V1 DRAFT

Appendix PMF1: Incentive Payment Formula

76
14

77

This page is intentionally left blank

79

80

81

82

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

83

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

93

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 43.
TITLE

Treasury Management Outturn 2017-18

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 20 September 2018

WARD

None Specific;

DIRECTOR

Director of Corporate Services - Graham Ebers

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES)
To inform Council and members of the public of the work done to effectively and safely
manage the Council’s cash flow and investments while funding the capital programme.
RECOMMENDATION
Council is recommended to approve:
1)

the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2017/18; and

2)

the actual 2017/18 prudential indicators within the report.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report summarises the Treasury Management operations during 2017/18. It is
presented for the purpose of monitoring and review, in accordance with Council’s
treasury management practices. The Council successfully adhered to all agreed
prudential indicators during 2017/18. This reflects the good management of the
Council’s finances in a challenging environment.
As at 31 March 2018 the Council achieved an average investment return rate of 1.68%
including investments in the Council’s group companies. Excluding internal investments,
the average return on external investments was 0.44% against the London Interbank Bid
Rate (LIBID) for 2017/18 of 0.21%, which is a significant favourable variance,
particularly in the current financial climate.
No new external borrowing was taken out.
The Executive considered the report at its meeting held on 26 July 2018 and
recommended that Council approve the Treasury Management Annual Report for
2017/18 and the actual 2017/18 prudential indicators within the report.

107

BACKGROUND
The Council’s treasury management strategy is largely influenced by capital
expenditure. Revenue expenditure is balanced with expenditure matching income, and
short term borrowing and deposits. The key driver of the longer term treasury
management strategy is capital expenditure and financing.
There are two aspects of treasury performance – debt management and cash
investment:
 debt management relates to the Council’s borrowing;
 cash investment relates to the investment of surplus cash balances.
External debt as at 31 March 2018 was:
 General fund (non-housing revenue account): £65.5m
 Housing revenue account: £79.8m.
Capital expenditure for 2017/18 was:
 General fund (non-housing revenue account): £83.1m
 Housing revenue account: £5.5m
Investment return for 2017/18 was £1.3m
BUSINESS CASE (Including Options and Evidence of Need)
No options being considered.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result of
the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent reductions
to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be
required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the next three years and
all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other Financial Information
Included above
Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation
Stakeholders should be reassured of the effective management of the Council’s
resources.

108

Resourcing and Timeline for Next Steps
Resourcing for the treasury management strategy is from within the existing staffing
establishment.
Timeline for Review and Evaluation
The Council’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 has already been approved by
full Council in February 2018. It is reviewed by the Audit Committee who will receive a
mid-year report in the Autumn, and the outturn report will be circulated to Audit
Committee, Executive and Council in Spring/Summer 2019.
List of Background Papers
Appendix A – Treasury management outturn report 2017/18
Appendix B – Prudential and treasury indicators 2017/18
Appendix C – Loan portfolio
Appendix D – Investment portfolio
Appendix E – Economic summary
Appendix F – Glossary of terms
Contact Bob Watson
Telephone 07801664389

Service Business Services
Email bob.watson@wokingham.gov.uk

109

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Treasury Management
Outturn Report 2017-18
Page | 1

111

Appendix A

Contents
1.

Introduction ...................................................................................................................3

2.

Economic Review..........................................................................................................3

3.

The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 2017/18 ..........................................3

4.

The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need .........................................................................4

5.

External borrowing and compliance with treasury limits and prudential indicators .......6

6.

Compliance with treasury limits and prudential indicators for investments ...................7

7.

Conclusion ....................................................................................................................9

Appendices
Prudential and Treasury indicators

Appendix B

Loan Portfolio

Appendix C

Investment Portfolio

Appendix D

Econnomic review and update (Inc. Interest rates forecast)

Appendix E

Glossary of Terms

Appendix F

Page | 2

112

Appendix A

1. Introduction
This report presents the Council’s treasury position for 2017/18 in accordance with
the Council treasury management practices. This is a backward-looking report
reviewing performance to 31st March 2018.
The report provides a summary of the economic conditions affecting the Council’s
investment strategy over the last financial year. It analyses the capital outturn which
is a key element of treasury management, driving the borrowing requirement of the
organisation. It then shows how the Council has financed its borrowing between
internal and external borrowing and how the Council has managed its short-term
cash investments.
The Council’s treasury management strategy is largely influenced by capital
expenditure. Revenue expenditure is balanced with expenditure matching income,
and short term borrowing and deposits. The key driver of the longer term treasury
management strategy is capital expenditure and financing.
There are two aspects of treasury performance – debt management and cash
investment:
 debt management relates to the Council’s borrowing;
 cash investment relates to the investment of surplus cash balances.

2. Economic Review
In 2017/18 UK economic growth has fluctuated but has averaged 0.4% in the year.
The Bank of England monetary policy has seen a change in November 2017 with an
interest rate rise to 0.5%. Inflation has been running higher than the target 2%
meaning more rate rises are not expected until 2019. For a more detailed economic
summary please look at Appendix E.

3. The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 2017/18
The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets. These activities
may either be:
• financed in year, immediately through the application of capital or revenue
resources (capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which
has no resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need or;
• funded by borrowing (internal or external).
Capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators. Tables 1 and 2
on the following page show the actual capital expenditure and the funding.

Page | 3

113

Appendix A
Table 1:
2017/18
Budget
£’000

General fund capital expenditure and
financing
Capital expenditure
Financed in year
Funded by borrowing (borrowing
requirement)
Total

2017/18
forecast
outturn @
Sept £’000

2017/18
Outturn
£’000

70,322

45,790

56,833

82,527

48,347

26,229

152,849

94,137

83,062

Table 2:
2017/18
Budget
£’000

HRA capital expenditure and financing

Capital expenditure
Financed in year
Funded by borrowing (borrowing
requirement)
Total

2017/18
forecast
outturn @
Sept £’000

2017/18
Outturn
£’000

5,100
0

5,100

5,516

0

0

5,100

5,100

5,516

4. The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need
The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR). It represents the 2017/18 capital expenditure
financed by borrowing, and prior years’ unfinanced capital expenditure which has not
yet been paid for by revenue or other resources.
The Council’s general underlying borrowing need (the CFR) is not allowed to rise
indefinitely. The Council is therefore required to make an annual revenue charge,
called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), to reduce the CFR. This ensures the
general fund pays for the capital asset and is a proxy for depreciation. The total CFR
can also be reduced by:
• the application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied capital
receipts); or
• an additional revenue contribution to the statutory minimum revenue provision
(MRP) each year through a Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).
This differs from the treasury management arrangements which relates to cash
transfers. Short term treasury debt for cashflow purposes can be borrowed or repaid
at any time, but this does not change the CFR.

Page | 4

114

Appendix A

The Council’s CFR forecast for 2017/18 year end is shown below, and represents a
key prudential indicator. It includes PFI and leasing schemes on the balance sheet,
which increase the Council’s borrowing need. However no borrowing is actually
required against these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract.
Table 3:

Opening balance
Capital expenditure funded by Borrowing
Prior year adjustment (Swap funding)
Sub Total

160,022
82,527
0
242,549

2017/18
forecast
outturn @
Sept £’000
160,022
48,347
0
208,369

Less Minimum Revenue Provision
MRP Charge
PFI Principal Charge
Sub Total

(3,350)
(215)
(3,565)

(3,024)
(215)
(3,239)

(3,060)
(302)
(3,362)

Closing Balance

248,984

205,130

182,889

Movement

88,962

45,108

22,867

Capital financing requirement: General
Fund

2017/18
Budget
£’000

2017/18
Outturn
£’000
160,022
26,229
0
186,251

Table 4:
HRA Capital financing requirement:
Opening balance
Repayment of Loan Principal
Closing Balance

2017/18
forecast
outturn @
Sept £’000
90,400
90,400
(1,750)
(2,548)
88,650
87,852

2017/18
Budget
£’000

2017/18
Outturn
£’000
90,400
(78)
90,322

Table 5
Capital financing requirement: General
fund and HRA
Opening balance
Movements
Closing Balance

2017/18
Budget
£’000
250,422
87,212
337,634

2017/18
forecast
outturn @
Sept £’000
250,422
42,560
292,982

2017/18
Outturn
£’000
250,422
22,789
273,211

The in-year increase in the borrowing requirement is due to a large increase in the
capital programme for schemes such as the town centre regeneration and forward
funding infrastructure spend; this will reduce again when capital receipts from these
projects are recovered. It has also increased as a result of the forward funded
infrastructure schemes. These will decrease as developer contributions are received.

Page | 5

115

Appendix A
The council’s total CFR of £273.2m was considerably higher than the Council’s
external borrowing of £147.0m (see table 6 below)
Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for this
borrowing need. Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the treasury
service organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient cash is
available to meet the capital plans and cash flow requirements. The Council does not
borrow all of this money externally but uses some of its internal cash reserves to
fund this expenditure. This is referred to as “internal borrowing”. This means that the
Council’s capital financing requirement is higher than its external borrowing figures.
External borrowing may be sourced from bodies such as the Public Works Loan
Board [PWLB] or the money markets.

5. External borrowing and compliance with treasury limits and
prudential indicators
Table 6 demonstrates the outturn for 2017/18 external borrowing.
Table 6:

2017/18
Budget
£’000

External Borrowing
Market
PWLB
Local Enterprise Partnership
Total borrowing

24,000
178,200
1,000
203,200

2017/18
Outturn
£’000
24,000
120,594
1,000
145,594

During 2017/18, the Council operated within the treasury limits as set out its
borrowing treasury management strategy. The position for the prudential indicators is
shown in table 7, which is found below. These show that all prudential indicators
have been complied with. Further detail on each of these indicators is included in
Appendix B.
Year-end position
2017/18
Does gross
Has the
borrowing
limit/boundary
exceed
been broken
CFR?

Table 7:
Prudential Indicator – Debt

Gross external borrowing
Authorised limit
Operational boundary for external debt
HRA debt limit
Maturity structure of borrowing
Upper limits on interest rate exposure
The percentage of financing costs set aside to service
debt financing costs
Page | 6

116

NO
NO
NO
NO
NO
NO
NO

Appendix A

In order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over the medium term and only
for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that its gross external borrowing
does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing
requirement in the preceding year (plus the estimates of any additional capital
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years). This essentially
means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure. This
indicator allows the Council some flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate
capital needs.
6. Compliance with treasury limits and prudential indicators for

investments
The treasury management team ensure the cash flow is adequately planned, with
surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing security and
liquidity initially before considering maximising investment return. The return on
investments contributes to the Council’s budget for both the general fund and
housing revenue account.
The Council will continue to monitor the economic outlook and money markets to
ensure it is able to achieve a yield in line with market expectations whilst ensuring
security and liquidity of capital are maintained. Graph 2 below demonstrates the
change in investment by type up to 31 March 2018.
Table 8, below shows the counterparties where cash deposits are held. Further detail
is available in Appendix D.
Table 8:
Actuals
invested
@
31-03-17
£'000

Investment Type

Local Authorities
Fund Managers / Money Markets
Internal investments (WBC companies and
HRA)
Total

Actuals
invested
@
30-09-17
£'000

Actuals
invested
@
31-03-18
£'000

39,000
12,882

63,000
0

54,000
6,500

22,117

15,961

12,590

70,541

80,536

73,090

Graph 3 on the following page shows an analysis of the rate of return for 2017/18.

Page | 7

117

Appendix A
Graph 3 Average return on investments

Annualised average monthly interest rate on
investments(excluding internal investments)
0.7

Percetage

0.6
0.5
0.4
0.3
0.2
0.1
0
April May June July

Aug Sept

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Month 17/18

During 2017/18 year the Council operated within the treasury limits as set out in
investment strategy. The position for the investment prudential indicators is shown in
table 10 and full details are available in appendix B.
The Council also loans money to its portfolio of companies which are classed as
internal loans. The average return on the Council’s portfolio (excluding internal
loans) to 31 March 2018 was 0.44%. This is 0.23% above the average 7-day London
Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) of 0.21%. The average rate of return including internal
loans is 1.68%.
Table 9 below, gives a breakdown of returns per type and the annual interest rate
received.
Amount
of interest Cumulative
Table 9:
received
interest
2017/18
%
£'000
Return on Investment
Local Authorities
Fund Managers / Money Markets
Internal loans

240
34
1,061
1,335

Total
Table 10:
Prudential Indicator – Investment
Year-end position @ 31-03-18

Has the
limit/boundary
been broken

Upper limits on interest rate exposure
Investment interest received
Page | 8

118

0.48%
0.38%
5.75%
1.68%

Was the
budget
achieved at
year end

NO
Yes

Appendix A

7. Conclusion
The Director of Corporate Services confirms that the approved limits and prudential
indicators incorporated within the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached
during 2017/18 with the prudential indicators. The Council is operating in a stringent
financial climate, but is still managing to deliver within budgeted interest levels.

Page | 9

119

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Prudential and treasury indicators as at 31st March 2018
General fund

Table 1:
Prudential indicators capital

Capital expenditure
Capital financing requirement (CFR)
Annual change in CFR
In year borrowing requirement

Table 2:
Prudential indicators borrowing

2017/18
Budget

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

152,389
197,975
78,962
82,527

118,944
224,122
61,140
64,444

94,136
205,130
45,108
48,347

88,414
198,804
44,988
48,211

88,578
182,889
22,867
26,229

2017/18
Budget

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream

3.17%

3.1%

2.6%

2.48%

2.57%

The percentage of the revenue budget set aside each year to service debt financing costs is shown
above. The outturn figure is below budget as a result of favourable returns compared to budget.
This is calculated as follows: financing cost divide by net revenue stream.
As per 2017/18: £3,402 / £132,594 = 2.57%

HRA
Table 3:
Prudential Indicators HRA

2017/18
Budget
£’000

Capital expenditure
Capital financing requirement (CFR)
Annual change in CFR
In year borrowing requirement

5,100
90,400
(1,750)
0

121

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
5,100
90,400
(2,548)
0

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
5,909
90,400
(2,548)
0

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual
£’000

6,923
90,400
(2,548)
0

4,862
90,400
(78)
0

Appendix B

Table 4:
Prudential indicators borrowing

Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream

2017/18
Budget

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

18.99%

18.48%

18.94%

18.48%

18.48%

The percentage of the revenue budget set aside each year to service debt financing costs. This is
calculated as follows: financing cost divide by total income received
As per budget 2017/18: £2,781 / £15,049 = 18.48%

General Fund & HRA
Table 5:
Prudential indicators –
capital expenditure & CFR

2017/18
Budget
£’000

Capital expenditure
Capital financing requirement (CFR)
Annual change in CFR
In year borrowing requirement

Table 6:
Internal borrowing

157,949
288,375
77,212
82,527

2017/18
Budget
£’000

CFR (year end position)
Less external borrowing
Less other long term liabilities
Internal borrowing *
Movement
% of internal borrowing to CFR

286,625
(203,200)
(8,600)
74,825
0
0%

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

124,044
318,343
58,592
64,444

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

99,236
302,181
42,560
48,347

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

309,014
(145,709)
(10,000)
153,305
78,480
49.61%

292,982
(145,709)
(10,000)
137,273
62,448
46.85%

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
95,337
301,540
42,440
48,211

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
293,863
(145,709)
(10,000)
138,154
63,329
37.56%

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual
£’000
88,579
273,211
22,789
26,229

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual
£’000
273,211
(145,709)
(7,060)
120,442
45,617
37.78%

Note:* This will be reviewed on a regular basis to make sure we are getting best value for money. The
Council is currently using its own cash flow (as rates of return are low), if rates start to increase a new
external loan may need to be taken out.
Table 7:
Upper limit - investments only

2017/18
Budget
£’000

On fixed rate exposures
On variable rate exposures

(80,000)
(40,000)

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
(68,874)
(18,086)

122

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
(79,874)
(25,794)

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000
(76,874)
(15,086)

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual
£’000
(56,874)
(1,050)

Appendix B
Table 8:
Upper limit - debt only

2017/18
Budget
£’000

On fixed rate exposures
On variable rate exposures

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

180,000
40,000

Table 9:
Internal investments: interest received

147,006
0

147,006
0

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual
£’000

147,006
0

145,594
0

2017/18
Budget

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

HRA Internal loan from the general fund
Wokingham Holdings

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

(449)

(449)

(449)

(449)

0

(584)

(884)

(884)

(1,061)

0

(1,033)

(1,333)

(1,333)

(1,510)

Table 10:
Internal investments:

HRA Internal loan from the general
fund
Wokingham Holdings
Total

123

Quarter 1
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

Quarter 2
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

Quarter 3
17/18
Year end
forecast
£’000

Quarter 4
17/18
Year end
Actual
£’000

8,874

8,874

8,874

8,874

17,845
26,359

25,193
34,067

22,473
31,347

12,590
21,464

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C

General Fund Loan portfolio @ 31st March 2018
PWLB/Market

Loan no

Principal
£’000

Interest
Rate %

Maturity Date

General Fund
PWLB - GF

485805

976

4.88

01 August 2022

PWLB - GF

488876

2,343

4.95

01 February 2034

PWLB - GF

491320

2,929

3.85

01 August 2051

PWLB - GF

491456

1,431

4.35

30 September 2046

PWLB - GF

491474

5,587

4.40

01 August 2052

PWLB - GF

493309

9,764

4.60

31 March 2054

PWLB - GF

505949

8,000

2.34

31 March 2035

PWLB - GF

505950

4,000

2.37

31 March 2036

PWLB - GF

505948

6,000

2.30

31 March 2034

Market - GF

3b

4,882

4.35

24 February 2077

Market - GF

2c

4,882

4.60

11 January 2077

Market - GF - KA Finanz

1c

4,882

4.88

06 February 2066

Market - GF

4

1,953

3.68

16 February 2066

Market - GF

5

4,882

3.73

19 October 2076

Market - GF

6

1,953

3.77

19 October 2076

Local Enterprise Board

250

0.00

01 December 2018

Local Enterprise Board

750
65,464

0.00

01 December 2019

Total

125

Appendix C

Housing Revenue Fund Loan portfolio @ 31st March 2018
PWLB/Market

Loan no

Principal

Interest
Rate %

Maturity Date

Housing Revenue
Account
PWLB - HRA

485805

24

4.88

01 August 2022

PWLB - HRA

488876

57

4.95

01 February 2034

PWLB - HRA

491320

71

3.85

01 August 2051

PWLB - HRA

491456

35

4.35

30 September 2046

PWLB - HRA

491474

135

4.40

01 August 2052

PWLB - HRA

493309

236

4.60

31 March 2054

HRA Self Financing

501034

3,482

2.21

28 March 2021

HRA Self Financing

501035

8,516

3.30

28 March 2032

HRA Self Financing

501036

1,988

1.99

28 March 2020

HRA Self Financing

501037

7,231

3.26

28 March 2031

HRA Self Financing

501038

4,199

2.40

28 March 2022

HRA Self Financing

501039

6,378

3.15

28 March 2029

HRA Self Financing

501040

5,415

3.01

28 March 2027

HRA Self Financing

501043

9,276

3.34

28 March 2033

HRA Self Financing

501044

1,000

3.37

28 March 2034

HRA Self Financing

501045

3,744

2.82

28 March 2025

HRA Self Financing

501046

5,981

3.08

28 March 2028

HRA Self Financing

501047

6,789

3.21

28 March 2030

HRA Self Financing

501048

3,971

2.92

28 March 2026

HRA Self Financing

501049

4,116

2.70

28 March 2024

HRA Self Financing

501050

3,484

2.56

28 March 2023

HRA Self Financing

501051

3,098

1.76

28 March 2019

Market - HRA

3b

118

4.35

24 February 2077

Market - HRA
Market - HRA - KA
Finanz
Market - HRA

2c

118

4.60

11 January 2077

1c

118

4.88

08 February 2066

4

47

3.68

16 February 2066

Market - HRA

5

118

3.73

19 October 2076

47

3.77

19 October 2076

Market - HRA

6
External

79,792

Total

8,874
88,614

WBC General Fund *

4.5

* Note this is an internal loan from the general fund to the HRA and is not included in
the total external loans.

126

Appendix C

Total external borrowing loans @ 31st March 2018
Actuals @
30-09-17
£’000

WBC External Borrowing

Actuals @
31-03-18
£’000

Market

24,000

24,000

PWLB

122,006

120,594

1,000

1,000

147,006

145,594

Local Enterprise Partnership
Total borrowing

Maturity structure @ 31st March 2018
31st
March
2017

Long Term Borrowing

31st March
2018

Average
rate

£,000

£,000

%

Between 1 and 2 years

0

2,738

1.99

Between 2 and 5 years

13,767

12,232

2.61

Between 5 and 10 years

21,730

23,323

2.93

Between 10 and 15 years

34,895

40,543

3.36

Between 15 and 20 years

30,676

19,000

2.39

Between 20 and 25 years

0

0

0

Between 25 and 30 years

1,465

1,567

4.35

42,723

42,843

4.34

145,256

142,246

2,130

3,348

1.76

147,386

145,594

3.38

More than 30 years
Total Long Term
Short Term Borrowing
less than 1 year
Total Borrowing

127

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D

Investment portfolio
Current Investments @ 31st March 2018

Amount
£000

Institution

Rate

Maturity Date

Broker

Current lending
Eastleigh BC

3,000

0.28%

23/04/2018

Sterling

Rugby BC

3,000

0.35%

29/06/2018

Tradition

Rugby BC

2,000

0.35%

13/07/2018

Tradition

Kingston Upon Hull

3,000

0.35%

13/07/2018

Prebon

Leeds CC

5,000

0.35%

25/07/2018

Tradition

Aberdeenshire Council

5,000

0.37%

03/08/2018

Tradition

Broxtowe Council

2,000

0.35%

08/08/2018

Sterling

Salford CC

3,000

0.37%

08/08/2018

Tradition

Barnsley BC

2,000

0.39%

31/10/2018

Prebon

Doncaster Metropolitan Council

3,000

0.39%

01/11/2018

Prebon

Tewkesbury Borough Council

3,000

0.55%

01/11/2018

Tradition

Monmouthshire Council

5,000

0.58%

13/11/2018

Tradition

North Lanarkshire Council

5,000

0.72%

15/11/2018

Prebon

Lancashire CC

5,000

0.65%

15/01/2019

Tradition

Fife Council

5,000

0.68%

05/02/2019

Tradition

54,000

Money Market Funds / Fund Managers
Fund Managers

Variable

Invesco

5,000

Deutsche Global (Henderson)

Variable
Variable

Goldman sachs

1,500
Total

6,500

Grand total

60,500

129

Variable

Appendix D
Investments with internal companies
Wokingham Holdings
Housing Revenue Account

12,590

5.75%

8,874

4.5%

Total

21,464

Grand Total

81,964

.

130

Appendix E

Economic update
During the calendar year of 2017, there was a major shift in expectations in financial
markets in terms of how soon the bank rate would start on a rising trend. After the UK
economy surprised on the upside with strong growth in the second half of 2016, growth
in 2017 was disappointingly weak in the first half of the year which meant that growth
was the slowest for the first half of any year since 2012. The main reason for this was
the sharp increase in inflation caused by the devaluation of sterling after the EU
referendum, feeding increases into the cost of imports into the economy. This caused
a reduction in consumer disposable income and spending power as inflation exceeded
average wage increases. Consequently, the services sector of the economy,
accounting for around 75% of GDP, saw weak growth as consumers responded by
cutting back on their expenditure. However, growth did pick up modestly in the second
half of 2017. Consequently, market expectations during the autumn, rose significantly
that the MPC would be heading in the direction of imminently raising the bank rate.
The minutes of the MPC meeting of 14 September indicated that the MPC was likely
to raise the bank rate very soon. The 2 November MPC quarterly inflation report
meeting duly delivered by raising the bank rate from 0.25% to 0.50%. The 8 February
MPC meeting minutes then revealed another sharp hardening in MPC warnings on a
more imminent and faster pace of increases in the bank rate than had previously been
expected.
Market expectations for increases in bank rate, therefore, shifted considerably during
the second half of 2017-18 and resulted in investment rates from 3 – 12 months
increasing sharply during the spring quarter.
PWLB borrowing rates increased correspondingly to the above developments with the
shorter term rates increasing more sharply than longer term rates. In addition, UK gilts
have moved in a relatively narrow band this year, (within 25 bps for much of the year),
compared to US treasuries. During the second half of the year, there was a noticeable
trend in treasury yields being on a rising trend with the Fed raising rates by 0.25% in
June, December and March, making six increases in all from the floor. The effect of
these three increases was greater in shorter terms around 5 year, rather than longer
term yields.
The major UK landmark event of the year was the inconclusive result of the general
election on 8 June. However, this had relatively little impact on financial markets.

131

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix F

Glossary of terms
Authorised limit – represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and
needs to be set and revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which, while
not desirable, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer
term.
Boundary limit – is an estimate of the authorised limit but reflects an estimate of the
most likely, prudent, but not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom
included within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements.
Capital financing requirement (CFR) - reflects the Council’s underlying need to
borrow for a capital purpose. It shows the total estimated capital expenditure that has
not been resourced from capital or revenue sources. This requirement will eventually
be met by revenue resources through the Minimum Revenue Provision mechanism.
CIPFA prudential code - is a professional code of practice to support local authorities
in taking capital investment decisions. Local authorities determine their own
programmes for capital investment in fixed assets that are central to the delivery of
quality local public services in accordance with the prudential code.
Consumer price index (CPI) - measures changes in the price level of a market basket
of consumer goods and services purchased by households.
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) - is a
ministerial department, supported by 12 agencies and public bodies. They are
working to create great places to live and work, and to give more power to local people
to shape what happens in their area.
European central bank (ECB) - the central bank for the euro and administers
monetary policy of the eurozone, which consists of 19 EU member states and is one
of the largest currency areas in the world.
Fair value - is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a
liability settled, assuming that the transaction was negotiated between parties
knowledgeable about the market in which they are dealing and willing to buy/sell at an
appropriate price, with no other motive in their negotiations other than to secure a fair
price
Fed - the Federal Reserve system (also known as the Federal Reserve, and informally
as the Fed) is the central banking system of the United States.
Financing cost to net revenue stream - the percentage of the revenue budget set
aside each year to service debt financing costs.

133

Appendix F
Funding for lending scheme (FLS) – was launched by the Bank and HM Treasury
on 13 July 2012. The FLS is designed to incentivise banks and building societies to
boost their lending to the UK real economy.
Gilt - is a UK Government liability in sterling, issued by HM Treasury and listed on the
London Stock exchange.
Gross domestic product (GDP) - is the market value of all officially recognized final
goods and services produced within a country in a given period of time(usually the
fiscal year).
Local authority lender option borrower option (LOBO) - the underlying loan facility
is typically very long-term - for example 40 to 60 years - and the interest rate is fixed.
However, in the LOBO facility the lender has the option to call on the facilities at predetermined future dates, such as every 5 years.
Local enterprise partnerships - are partnerships between local authorities and
businesses. They decide what the priorities should be for investment in roads,
buildings and facilities in the area.
London interbank bid rate - the rate at which banks will bid to take deposits in
Eurocurrency from each other. The deposits are for terms from overnight up to five
years.
Monetary policy committee (MPC) - interest rates are set by the bank's monetary
policy committee. The MPC sets an interest rate it judges will enable the inflation target
to be achieved.
Minimum revenue provision (MRP) - is a provision the council has set-aside from
revenue to repay loans arising from capital expenditure financed by Borrowing.
Private finance initiative (PFI) - this is funding public infrastructure projects with
private capital.
Public works loan board (PWLB) - is a statutory body operating within the Debt
Management Office, an executive agency of HM Treasury.
PWLB certainty rate - a reduced interest rate from PWLB to principal local authorities,
which provided required information to government on their plans for long-term
borrowing and associated capital spending.
Quantitative easing (QE) - a government monetary policy occasionally used to
increase the money supply by buying government securities or other securities from
the market. Quantitative easing increases the money supply by flooding financial
institutions with capital, in an effort to promote increased lending and liquidity.
Voluntary revenue provision (VRP) – this a discretionary provision to reduce the
unfinanced capital expenditure (borrowing) by additional loan repayments.

134

Agenda Item 44.
TITLE

Appointment of Statutory Director of Children’s
Services

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 20 September 2018

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Chief Executive - Interim Manjeet Gill

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To have a permanent Director, Children’s Services
RECOMMENDATION
That Council approve Personnel Board’s recommendation to appoint Carol Cammiss to
the statutory role of Director of Children’s Services on a date to be agreed.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
Council is required to appoint statutory officers, including the Director of Children’s
Services. Following Personnel Board on 6 September, a recommendation was made to
Executive who had no objections. Council are therefore asked to approve Personnel
Boards recommendation to appoint Carol Cammiss on a permanent basis as Director,
Children’s Services on a date to be agreed.

135

Background
On 6 September Personnel Board convened to undertake final interviews for the
statutory role of Director, Children’s Services. This involved a presentation and
competency based interview and meetings with a Stakeholder Panel and Young
People’s panel. 5 candidates were interviewed and it was resolved that: “Subject to
there being no objections from the majority of Executive Members, that it be
recommended to Special Council Executive Committee that Carol Cammiss be
appointed to the statutory role of Director of Children’s Services on a date to be
agreed”. There were no objections from the Executive.
Analysis of Issues
None
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result of
the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent reductions
to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be
required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the next three years and
all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

Nil

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
n/a

Nil

n/a

n/a

Nil

n/a

n/a

n/a

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
None
List of Background Papers
n/a
Contact Sarah Swindley
Telephone No Tel: 0118 974 6076

Service Business Services
Email
sarah.swindley@wokingham.gov.uk

136

Agenda Item 45.
TITLE

Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 20 September 2018

WARD

None specific

LEAD OFFICER

Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director Governance

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To review the boundaries of the Polling Districts and the designated Polling Places to
ensure the best possible arrangements are in place for the voters.
RECOMMENDATION
That Council agrees:
1)

to a formal review of all Polling Districts and Polling Places within the Borough;

2)

that the decisions reached under this review will be implemented for all elections
from the beginning of 2020;

3)

to the setting up of a small Member/Officer working group to administer and
review the responses received and that the composition of this group will be one
Member from each of the political groups and the independent Member along
with two Officers from the Electoral Services Team.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Council has a duty to review the Polling Districts and Polling Places for all areas
within the Wokingham Borough in accordance with the Representation of the People Act
1983. The report gives details of how the review of all polling district and polling places
within the Wokingham Borough will be carried out.

137

Background
Under the provisions of the Representation of the People Act 1983, section 18 as
amended by s 17 Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013, the Council is
required to undertake a review of polling districts, places and stations.
This review must be carried out within 16 months starting from 1 October 2018.
In preparation for the writing of this report each venue has been assessed. This has
been done by a variety of ways – by visits and by comments made by polling station
inspectors, polling station staff, candidates, agents and voters.
A schedule is attached which identifies the existing electoral arrangements. It will
highlight issues with the current arrangements which have been identified by the
Electoral Registration Officer (ERO). However the schedule will not be totally
exhaustive as there may be issues and suggestions that the ERO is not aware of.
Whilst the schedule is available as a paper document an app is in the process of being
developed to facilitate an on-line response to the consultation, making co-ordination of
the review as easy as possible.
The legislation requires consultation with all MPs, Councillors, Town and Parish
Councils, agents, political parties as well as access and disability groups and, of course,
electors. A notice of review will be displayed on the Council’s website, in the window at
the Council offices and also on Town and Parish council notice boards. There will also
be a press release issued. The notice will invite people to comment on the current
venues used for polling and to make suggestions.
The consultation will start on 1 October and will end on 16 November. Following the
consultation each of the Political Groups will have a chance to discuss the issues raised
and put forward their views. A small working party, consisting of representatives from
all the Council’s political groups and the independent Member, will administer and
review the responses and feed them through to the Groups for discussion. All
responses will be made available for the public to inspect.
It is anticipated that a final recommendation will go before Council on 21 March 2019. It
is intended that any changes will come into force for the elections in 2020. A formal
statutory re-designation notice will be published in the newspaper following the review
and this will detail any changes made and the date that these changes will come into
effect.
Analysis of Issues
In designating Polling Places, certain rules have to be followed by the Council under the
1983 Act. These include that:
(i) all electors must be given ‘such reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable
in the circumstances’.
(ii) so far as is reasonable and practicable, only places which are accessible to
electors who are disabled should be designated, and ….
(iii) the Polling Place should be within the Polling District except where special
circumstances make it desirable to designate an area wholly or partly outside the
Polling District.
There is a risk to the Council with regard to disability discrimination legislation if it
chooses not to designate the best venue as a polling place.

138

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

£0

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

£0

Yes

Revenue

£0

Yes

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
The review is run by Electoral Services staff as part of their ongoing duties. There is
sufficient budget to cover the cost of advertising any changes in the local press as
required by legislation.
Cross-Council Implications
Currently some schools are used as polling places and it would be helpful if affected
schools were encouraged to work with the Electoral Services Team to identify suitable
alternatives.
List of Background Papers
Representation of the People Act 1983, section 18 as amended by s 17 Electoral
Registration and Administration Act 2013
Contact Andrew Moulton

Service Democratic and Electoral
Services
Email
Andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk

Telephone No 07747 777298

139

This page is intentionally left blank

Arborfield Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
AAW
Arborfield Cross
(Arborfield & Newland)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Arborfield Village Hall

1980

Number of polling
stations
1

Issues already aware of

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

Parking is problematic

Barkham Ward

141

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
BAW
(Barkham)
ABW
Arborfield Green
(Arborfield & Newland)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Barkham Village Hall

2591

Number of polling
stations
1

Barkham Village Hall

187

1

No problems identified

Bulmershe & Whitegates Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
KAR
Bulmershe (Woodley)
EAR
Whitegates (Earley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

3764

Number of polling
stations
2

Christchurch Hall
Earley Home Guard

3230

2

No problems identified

No problems identified

Charvil Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
CAM1
Charvil
CAM2
Charvil

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

452

Number of polling
stations
1

Jubilee Hall
Charvil Village Hall

1898

1

No problems identified

Page 1 of 9

No problems identified

Coronation Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
KBM
Coronation Central
(Woodley)
KCM
Coronation East (Woodley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

1355

Number of polling
stations
1

Coronation Hall
St. John Ambulance HQ

3039

2

No problems identified

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

Emmbrook Ward

142

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
WAW
Emmbrook North
(Wokingham)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Emmbrook Village Hall

2666

Number of polling
stations
2

WBW
Emmbrook South
(Wokingham)

St Paul’s Parish Rooms

4120

2

Small car park. Would prefer not
to be used but accept the
alternative would disrupt more
people
No problems identified

Evendons Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
WCW
Evendons East
(Wokingham)
WDW2
Evendons West
(Wokingham)
WDW1
Evendons West
(Wokingham)

Current Polling Station

Electorate
2658

Number of polling
stations
2

Civic Offices

Outside of Ward but good venue

Civic Offices

610

1

Outside of Ward but good venue

Woosehill Community
Church

3869

2

No problems identified

Page 2 of 9

Issues already aware of

Finchampstead North Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
FAB
Finchampstead North
(Finchampstead)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

California Ratepayers
Hall

4342

Number of polling
stations
2

Issues already aware of
Good venue. Some concerns
over parking but this has been
well managed in recent years with
the provision of a Parking
Attendant.

Finchampstead South Ward

143

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward

Current Polling Station

Electorate

FBB1
Finchampstead South
(Finchampstead)
FBB2
Finchampstead South

FBC Centre

3164

Number of polling
stations
2

Finchampstead Sports
Pavilion

1268

1

No problems identified

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

Issues already aware of
Issues over where to locate
Tellers needs resolving

(Finchampstead)

Hawkedon Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
EBW
Cutbush (Earley)
ECW
Hawkedon (Earley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Crescent Resource
Centre
Maiden Place
Community Centre

3806

Number of polling
stations
2

3119

2

Page 3 of 9

No problems identified

Hillside Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
EDW
Hillside (Earley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Hillside Primary School

3029

Number of polling
stations
2

EEW
Radstock (Earley)

Radstock Community
Centre

3462

2

Issues already aware of
School. Has been problematic
but no suitable alternatives in the
Polling District
No problems identified

Hurst Ward
Current Polling Station

Electorate

Mobile Unit – The
Warren Public House
Hurst Village Hall

297

Number of polling
stations
1

306

1 combined with HCM

HCM
The Village (Hurst)
TBM
Twyford South (Twyford)

Hurst Village Hall

1062

1 combined with HBM

Hurst Village Hall

599

1

144

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
HAM
Ashridge (Hurst)
HBM
Davis Street (Hurst)

Issues already aware of
Mobile unit – not accessible.
Outside Polling District but best
option
No problems identified
No problems identified
Outside Polling District but best
option
No problems identified

Loddon Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
KDR
Loddon Airfield (Woodley)
KER
Loddon South (Woodley)
KFR
Loddon West (Woodley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

3378

Number of polling
stations
2

Woodley Baptist Church
Centre
Emmanuel Church
Centre
Emmanuel Church
Centre

2109

1

1721

1

Outside Polling District but best
option and no problems identified
As above

Page 4 of 9

No problems identified

Maiden Erlegh Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
EFW
Redhatch (Earley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Maiden Erlegh School

881

Number of polling
stations
1

EGW
Maiden Erlegh (Earley)

Maiden Erlegh School

2051

1

EHW
St Nicolas (Earley)

St Nicholas Church Hall

3859

2

Issues already aware of
Senior School with very limited
parking available. Request
received from school to designate
alternative venue
Senior School with very limited
parking available. Request
received from school to designate
alternative venue
No problems identified

Norreys Ward

145

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
WFW
Norreys East
(Wokingham)
WGW1
Norreys West
(Wokingham)
WGW2
Norreys West
(Wokingham)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

4291

Number of polling
stations
2

Norreys Evangelical
Church
Norreys Evangelical
Church

1724

1

No problems identified

Rose Street Methodist
Church

1490

1

Just outside Polling District but
best option
No problems identified

Page 5 of 9

No problems identified

Remenham, Wargrave and Ruscombe Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
RAM
Remenham
RBM
Wargrave East
(Wargrave)
RCM
Wargrave North
(Wargrave)
RDM
Wargrave West
(Wargrave)
REM
Ruscombe

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Remenham Parish Hall
Hare Hatch Village Hall

450

1

No problems identified

Crazies Hill Village Hall

229

1

No problems identified

Wargrave Pavilion

2372

1

No problems identified

Twyford Room, Loddon
Hall

847

1

Just outside Polling District but
best option
No problems identified

Issues already aware of

School. Just outside Polling
District.
No problems identified

146

Issues already aware of

420

Number of polling
stations
1

No problems identified

Shinfield North Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
SAW1
Shinfield North (Shinfield)
SAW2
Shinfield North (Shinfield)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Shinfield Players
Theatre
Whiteknights Primary
School

1155

Number of polling
stations
1

1300

1

Page 6 of 9

No problems identified

Shinfield South Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
SBW
Grazeley (Shinfield)
SCW
Shinfield Village
(Shinfield)
SDW
Spencers Wood & Three
Mile Cross (Shinfield)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

1502

Number of polling
stations
1

Three Mile Cross Church
Centre
Shinfield Parish Hall

2653

2

No problems identified

Spencers Wood Pavilion

2403

1

No problems identified

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

Sonning Ward

147

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
SNM
Sonning
KGM
Warren (Woodley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Beech Lodge

1274

Number of polling
stations
1

Woodford Park Leisure
Centre

1297

1

No problems identified

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

No problems identified

South Lake Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
KHR
South Lake North
(Woodley)
KIR
South Lake South
(Woodley)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

St James Church Centre

2178

Number of polling
stations
2

St James Church Centre

2258

2

Page 7 of 9

No problems identified

Swallowfield Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
SWW1
Swallowfield
SWW2
Swallowfield
SWW3
Swallowfield
SEW
Spencers Wood South
(Shinfield)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

870

Number of polling
stations
1 combined with SEW

Swallowfield Parish Hall
The Victory Hall

289

1

Riseley Memorial Hall

496

1

Changed from school at last
Review. No problems identified
No problems identified

Swallowfield Parish Hall

695

1 combined with SWW1

As above

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

Twyford Ward

148

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
TAM1
Twyford North (Twyford)
TAM2
Twyford North (Twyford)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Loddon Hall

2883

Number of polling
stations
2

Stanlake Pavilion

1667

1

No problems identified

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

No problems identified

Wescott Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
WHW
Wescott East
(Wokingham)
WIW
Wescott West
(Wokingham)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

St Crispin’s Sports
Centre

2623

Number of polling
stations
1

Salvation Army Hall

2480

1

Page 8 of 9

No problems identified

Winnersh Ward
Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
JAW
Winnersh North
(Winnersh)
JBW
Winnersh South
(Winnersh)

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Issues already aware of

3756

Number of polling
stations
2

St Mary’s Church Hall
Winnersh Community
Hall

3653

2

No problems identified

Issues already aware of

No problems identified

Wokingham Without Ward

149

Polling District
Parish/Parish Ward
XWB
Wokingham Without

Current Polling Station

Electorate

Oaklands Junior School

5464

Number of polling
stations
3

FCB
Lower Wokingham
(Finchampstead)

Oaklands Junior School

819

1

Page 9 of 9

School reluctant to be used, but
good venue and no suitable
alternatives in the Ward
School reluctant to be used, but
good venue and no suitable
alternatives in the Ward

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 46.
TITLE

Review of Statement of Licensing Policy

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 20 September 2018

WARD

None Specific

LEAD OFFICER

Sean Murphy - Public Protection Manager

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Wokingham Borough Council is required to prepare and publish a Statement of
Licensing Policy (‘SLP’) every five years in accordance with section 5 of the Licensing
Act 2003 (‘the Act’). The SLP outlines the general approach of the licensing authority
when making licensing decisions under the Act and can be reviewed and revised by the
authority at any time. The Wokingham Borough Council SLP must undergo a review and
be re-published by the end of September 2018.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Council approves the revised Statement of Licensing Policy, attached at Annex
A to the report.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report introduces the revised SLP which has been updated to reflect the results of
the consultation exercise carried out as required by legislation.

151

Background
The updated Statement of Licensing Policy was approved by the Licensing and Appeals
Committee on 4 September 2018.
In addition to general re-formatting, updates and addition of minor areas of clarification,
the material changes are as follows:
 Revised section 1, which previously simply outlined the licensing objectives and
now introduces the policy and explains its purpose and scope
 Added section 2 which outlines the principles and process of licensing – this
includes some sections from throughout the previous policy
 Added section 3 about making an application, including the recommendation that
applicants for large scale events should refer the event to the Safety Advisory
Group in advance of making an application
 Added section 4 to clarify the suggested requirements for an operating schedule
 Revised and expanded sections 5 to 8 on the licensing objectives
 Added a new section 9 reference representations and mediation
 Revised section 11 on decision making, which incorporates the previous sections
11 and 12, and move the table of delegations to Appendix A
 Added sections 12-14 on temporary event notices, personal licences and club
premises certificates
 Added sections 15-17 to deal with management of licensed premises, complaints,
enforcement, inspections and reviews, which incorporates the previous section 14
on enforcement, and
 Added a glossary at Appendix B.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

No impact

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

No impact

N/A

N/A

No impact

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
There are no implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

152

List of Background Papers
Statement of Licensing Policy (Sept 2013)
Section 182 Guidance (April 2018)
Contact Charlie Fletcher
Telephone No 01344 352550
Date 6 September 2018

Service Public Protection Partnership
Email charlie.fletcher@westberks.gov.uk
Version No. 1.1

153

This page is intentionally left blank

Statement of
Licensing Policy
(Licensing Act 2003)
September 2018

155

Contents
1.

Introduction, Purpose and Scope

2

2.

Licensing Principles and Process

3

3.

Making an Application

4

4.

The Operating Schedule

5

5.

Licensing Objective 1: Prevention of Crime and Disorder

6

6.

Licensing Objective 2: Public Safety

7

7.

Licensing Objective 3: The Prevention of Public Nuisance

8

8.

Licensing Objective 4: Protection of Children from Harm

9

9.

Representations and Mediation

12

10. Cumulative Impact

13

11. Decision Making

13

12. Temporary Event Notices

14

13. Personal Licences

15

14. Club Premises Certificates

16

15. Management of Licensed Premises

16

16. Complaints, Enforcement and Inspections

17

17. Reviews of Premises Licences

18

18. Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)

18

19. Late Night Levy (LNL)

18

Appendix A

Delegation of Functions

20

Appendix B

Glossary

21

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

156

Page 1 of 23

1.

Introduction, Purpose and Scope

1.1

The Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’) requires Wokingham Borough Council (‘the
Council), as the Licensing Authority, to publish a ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’
(‘policy’) every five years. In creating this policy, the Licensing Authority is seeking
to protect and where possible to improve the look and feel of Wokingham borough,
attracting visitors and making it a stimulating and enjoyable place in which to live,
study and work.

1.2

The main purpose of this policy is to provide clarity to applicants, responsible
authorities, elected Members and other persons on how the Council will determine
applications made under the Act. It will also inform elected Members of the
parameters within which licensing decisions can be made.

1.3

An effective licensing policy, alongside other initiatives, will work towards promoting
the positive aspects of deregulation under the Act, such as promoting leisure
provision and encouraging the regeneration of the town centre as well as controlling
any negative impacts such as increase in crime and disorder, noise, nuisance and
anti-social behaviour.

1.4

The Licensing Authority is committed to promoting a broad range of entertainment,
recognising the wider cultural benefits for local communities. Live performance is
central to the development of cultural diversity and vibrant, exciting communities,
particularly traditional entertainment such as circuses and street arts. The Licensing
Authority recognises that artistic freedom of expression is a fundamental right and
should be greatly valued.

1.5

The Council recognises that licensed activities make an important contribution to
the economy of the Borough. By regulating activities under this legislation it
acknowledges that a balance must be struck between the legitimate objectives of
applicants and the desires of the population as a whole, and in particular those
members of the public living, working or engaged in normal activity in the area
concerned. A balance must be struck between these, often conflicting, positions
and all views will be taken into account when making licensing decisions or
determining a course of action.

1.6

It should be understood that this policy cannot anticipate every scenario that may
arise and as such there may be circumstances where the policy may be departed
from in the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives and where it is
deemed appropriate to do so. In such cases the Council will give full reasons for
departing from this policy.

1.7

The Council will carry out its licensing functions under the Act with a view to
promoting the four licensing objectives, which are:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Prevention of Crime and Disorder;
Public Safety;
Prevention of Public Nuisance; and
Protection of Children from Harm.

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

157

Page 2 of 23

1.8

The Licensing Authority is committed to working in close partnership and
communicating with all licensees, responsible authorities and other persons where
appropriate in order that they have a clear understanding of the legislative
requirements. The Licensing Authority will continue to develop close working
partnerships with other appropriate agencies and responsible authorities.

1.9

This policy is not intended to duplicate existing legislation and regulatory regimes
that already place obligations on employers and operators, for example, the Health
and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order
2005. In addition, it should be noted that the planning and licensing regimes are
separate. There is no legal basis for the Licensing Authority to refuse a licence
application because it does not have planning permission.

1.10 The Council is conscious of the need to promote equality and when considering
licensing matters will give due regard to the prevention of discrimination and
promotion of equality of opportunity.
1.11 In determining the policy, the Council has taken into consideration any comments
made by consultees, the statutory guidance issued under section 182 of the Act
and the experience of administering and enforcing the Act since its introduction.
1.12 This policy takes effect on 23 September 2018 and will remain in force for a period
of no more than five years. During this time it will be subject to regular review and
updating or modification as appropriate, for example to take account of any
changes in licensing legislation, with appropriate consultation on any material
changes.
1.13 Comments on the policy may be made in writing to the Licensing Authority at any
time. Contact details can be found towards the end of this document. All comments
received will be carefully considered and, where appropriate, included in the policy.
2.

Licensing Principles and Process

2.1

The Council is the Licensing Authority under the Act and is responsible for granting
premises licences, club premises certificates, personal licences and
acknowledging temporary event notices in the borough. The aim of the licensing
process is to regulate licensable activities so as to promote the licensing objectives.

2.2

There are four main licensable activities under the Act:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

2.3

retail sales of alcohol;
the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club
the provision of regulated entertainment; and
the provision of late night refreshment.

This policy sets out the process the Council will adopt in dealing with licence
applications and will be used as a basis in coming to consistent and transparent
decisions in respect of licence applications. The overriding principle adopted by the
Council will be that each application is determined on its merits. Every application
will be treated fairly and objectively, taking into account the four licensing
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

158

Page 3 of 23

objectives, the policy and the statutory guidance issued under section 182 of the
Act.
2.4

Each of the four licensing objectives is of equal importance and will be considered
in relation to matters centred on the premises or within the control of the licensee
and the effect which the operation of that business has on the vicinity. The
Licensing Authority will primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities taking
place at the licensed premises on members of the public living, working or engaged
in normal activity in the area concerned. The Act is not a primary mechanism for
controlling general nuisance unconnected to licensable activities or the licensing
objectives.

2.5

It is acknowledged that public concern over disorder in particular may be thought
to be a result of licensing legislation only. The Council can only have regard to the
provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 when determining an application. However the
Council recognises that other mechanisms exist to control disorderly behaviour,
e.g. planning controls, town centre management arrangements, confiscation of
alcohol from adults and children in designated areas, and Police enforcement
powers.

2.6

When determining applications, the Licensing Authority must be satisfied that the
applicant’s operating schedule (please see section 4) seeks to promote the four
licensing objectives. The Licensing Authority will make decisions guided by this
policy but will not fetter its right to discretion. In the interests of the safety and
wellbeing of all users of the facilities it licenses, the Licensing Authority expects
licensees to adopt best practices for their industry. This policy further outlines the
expectations of the Licensing Authority and should assist applicants.

2.7

The Licensing Authority recognises that conditions attached to various
authorisations will be focussed on matters which are within the control of the licence
holders. Conditions shall be proportionate and appropriate to achieve the promotion
of the licensing objectives, and shall be tailored to suit the circumstances and
premises.

3.

Making an Application

3.1

The relevant application forms and associated documents are obtainable from the
Council’s website or from the licensing team on request. It is strongly
recommended that all applicants consult with the Licensing Authority prior to
submitting an application. It may be appropriate to submit a draft application for
comments.

3.2

A plan must be attached to an application for a premises licence or a club premises
certificate. The plans do not have to be professionally drawn, however they must
be to scale and contain the relevant information as required under regulation. The
plan should be at a scale of 1:100; however the Council will accept plans of an
alternative scale provided this is approved prior to submitting the application.

3.3

Where a licensed premises is being constructed, extended or structurally changed,
the applicant may apply for a provisional statement. This will be processed in the
same way as a new licence application. However the provisional statement will not
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

159

Page 4 of 23

automatically be converted into a full licence on completion of works, and the
applicant will have to submit a new licence application. It is acknowledged that
unless representations are made at the provisional statement stage, or are not
made without reasonable excuse, and neither the premises/vicinity has changed
nor the type of licensable activities taking place, the licence will be granted. The
applicant will be required to submit a full schedule of works, including a statement
of the licensable activities for which the premises are proposed to be used as well
as the plans and proposed hours of use, in order to allow the Licensing Authority
to make an informed decision.
3.4

Where conditions have not been adhered to in the past, the Licensing Authority will
expect applicants to have taken action to address those issues. Applications may
be refused where there are significant outstanding issues.

3.5

In particular, for large scale events, it is suggested that the event should be referred
to the Safety Advisory Group in advance of submission of an application. It is best
practice for local ward members to be involved in the SAG process for large scale
events.

3.6

With regard to shops, stores and supermarkets, the normal scenario will be for such
premises to provide sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises at any time
when the retail outlet is open for shopping unless representations raise reasons,
based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those hours.

3.7

In some circumstances, flexible licensing hours for the sale of alcohol can help to
ensure that concentrations of customers leaving premises simultaneously are
avoided.

4.

The Operating Schedule

4.1

All applicants for the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises
certificate are required to provide an operating schedule as part of their application.
This is a key document and, if prepared comprehensively, will form the basis on
which premises can be licensed without the need for additional extensive
conditions. The Council expects an operating schedule to indicate the steps that
the applicant proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives. This should
follow a thorough risk assessment relating to the specific premises and licensable
activities proposed to take place.

4.2

Applicants are strongly recommended to discuss their operating schedule with the
responsible authorities prior to submitting the application. The Licensing Team can
assist in co-ordinating this process.

4.3

The complexity and detail required in the operating schedule will depend upon the
nature and use of the premises. It must include details of the following:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Full details of the licensable activities to be carried on at and the
intended use of the premises;
The times during which licensable activities will take place;
Any other times when the premises are to be open to the public;
Where the licence is only required for a limited period, that period;

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

160

Page 5 of 23

(e)
(f)
(g)

Where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the name
and address of the individual proposed to be designated premises
supervisor;
Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the
premises or both; and
The steps the applicant proposes to promote the licensing objectives.

4.4

Where measures to promote the licensing objectives are included in the operating
schedule, these may be used to form conditions attached to the licence and should
therefore be clear, concise and unambiguous.

4.5

The following guidance is intended to assist applicants by setting out criteria and
considerations that they should bear in mind when drawing up an operating
schedule. They alert applicants to any matters that responsible authorities are likely
to consider when deciding whether to make representations on an application or
whether to call for a review of the premises licence.

4.6

A pool of model conditions is available on request from the Licensing Team.
Individuals preparing operating schedules are at liberty to use these conditions, or
volunteer any other measures(s) to promote the licensing objectives.

5.

Licensing Objective 1: Prevention of Crime and Disorder

5.1

The Licensing Authority is committed to reducing crime and disorder to improve the
quality of life for the people of Wokingham borough. Good management and
practice procedures in licensed premises can make an important contribution to
lessening the impact that consumption of alcohol can have on crime and disorder.
The Licensing Authority and Thames Valley Police through their Community Safety
Partnership will regularly monitor and review crime statistics within the borough and
their association with alcohol. When applying conditions, the Council will be
mindful of the local Community Safety Strategy.

5.2

Licensees are encouraged to work in partnership with a local Pubwatch scheme to
form strategies for actively preventing crime and disorder issues. This scheme
encourages the sharing of information and seeks to address matters such as
underage sales, drunkenness, illegal drug use and anti-social behaviour.

5.3

Applicants will be expected to demonstrate in their operating schedule that suitable
and sufficient measures have been identified and will be implemented and
maintained to reduce or prevent crime and disorder on and in the vicinity of their
premises, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their premises and
event; for example




Prevention of use, sale or supply of illegal drugs on the premises, and
procedures and provision for storage of seized items.
Prevention of drunkenness and alcohol abuse such as drinking
games and irresponsible drinks promotions.
Security features such as provision and storage of CCTV - capable of
retaining recording images for a period of 31 days from the date of an
event and to an identifiable standard (bearing in mind the need to
comply with data protection regulations)

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

161

Page 6 of 23









A prescribed capacity limit
Use of door staff to control entry to the premises
Procedures for ejection or dispersal of persons from the premises
Procedures for dealing with harassment, discrimination and
inappropriate behaviour.
Use of polycarbonate/plastic containers and toughened glass and
prevention of persons taking drinks from the premises in open
containers
Display of crime prevention notices
An appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers based on
capacity

5.4

Wherever possible, applicants are expected to be aware of local groups known to
incite violence or hatred or take part in extremist activities in order to prevent the
likelihood of meetings resulting in crime and disorder. Licensees will be expected
to take into consideration the potential impact on privacy or religious freedom and
the ethnic and cultural composition of the local area when hosting these meetings.
The Licensing Authority recognises the need to promote the elimination of unlawful
discrimination and equality of opportunity and recommends licensees seek
guidance
from
the
Equality
and
Human
Rights
Commission
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/ or by contacting them on 0808 800 0082.

6.

Licensing Objective 2: Public Safety

6.1

When visiting licensed premises, members of the public have a right to be confident
that due consideration has been given to their physical safety. Where an applicant
identifies an issue in regard to public safety (including fire safety) which is not
covered by existing legislation, the applicant should identify in their operating
schedule the steps which will be taken to ensure public safety. Such steps will be
dependent on the individual style and characteristics of the premises and/or
event(s) to be held. It should be noted there is an overriding legal duty to comply
with the provisions of Health and Safety at Work legislation, including riskassessment and control.

6.2

The Licensing Authority has a Safety Advisory Group (‘SAG’) and, where
appropriate, applicants are encouraged to seek the group’s advice on issues of
public safety. For example, a licensee who wishes to stage a licensable public
event which is not specifically indicated in the operating schedule may be invited to
approach the SAG. When applying for licensable events on Local Authority
property, the applicant may be required to present an event plan to the SAG.

6.3

Applicants may wish to consider inclusion of the following steps within their
operating schedule with a view to the safety of persons attending the premises:







Evacuation procedures including measures for disabled persons
Maintenance of alarm systems and emergency lighting
Maintenance of all escape routes and exits
Safety checks and records in a log book
Access for emergency vehicles
First aid equipment and trained first aiders

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

162

Page 7 of 23








6.4

Appropriate lighting and ventilation and monitoring of noise levels
Checks on temporary electrical installations
Use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics and smoke
machines
Control of any animals at the premises
Use of door supervisors or stewards
Procedures to ensure safety of women and vulnerable persons
Provision of potable water

For indoor sports entertainment or where special provision must be made for the
safety of the public, applicants may wish to consider inclusion of the following steps
within their operating schedule:





Provision of qualified medical practitioners
Where a ring is involved, that it be constructed and inspected by a
competent person and any material used to be flame retardant
Where there is wrestling or similar entertainment that the public do
not occupy any seat within 2.5 metres of the ring
Where there is a water sports event, appropriate provision of staff
adequately trained to be available and remain in the vicinity at all
times.

7.

Licensing Objective 3: The Prevention of Public Nuisance

7.1

The Licensing Authority interprets ‘public nuisance’ in its widest sense, and takes
it to include such issues as noise, light, odour, litter and anti-social behaviour.
Public nuisance could include low-level nuisance perhaps affecting a few people
living locally as well as major disturbance affecting the whole community.

7.2

The Council is committed to minimising the adverse impact of licensable activity,
whilst not unduly restricting the reasonable provision of licensed activity. It is noted
that there are mechanisms other than the licensing regime that are available for
addressing public nuisance away from the licensed premises. Examples include
planning controls and Public Spaces Protection Orders.

7.3

The Licensing Authority, whilst recognising the need to treat every application on
its own merits, should be satisfied that the type of licensable activities proposed
and hours of operation will be suitable for the location in which the premises are
situated (e.g. areas of dense residential accommodation). Playing of music can
cause nuisance both through noise breakout and by its effect on patrons, who
become accustomed to high sound levels and to shouting to make themselves
heard, which can lead to them being noisier when leaving premises. Other major
sources of noise nuisance are vehicles collecting customers, the slamming of car
doors and the sounding of horns. These noises can be particularly intrusive at night
when ambient noise levels are lower.

7.4

Where premises are located near to noise-sensitive areas, e.g. residential
premises, nursing homes, hospitals or places of worship, the licensee should
initially identify any particular issues (having regard to their particular type of
premises and/or activities) which are likely to adversely affect the promotion of the
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

163

Page 8 of 23

objective to prevent public nuisance. Such steps as are required to deal with these
identified issues should be included within the applicant’s operating schedule.
7.5

In considering applications, the Licensing Authority will expect to see, where
appropriate, evidence that the following matters have been addressed in the
operating schedule:











Measures to reduce noise and vibration escaping from the premises;
including noise from music and voices whether or not amplified
Consideration of the licensed hours and restrictions on when
licensable activities can take place both indoors and outdoors
Monitoring checks and logs of any checks carried out
Prevention of noise from deliveries or waste collections, or disposal
of glass bottles etc., at unsociable hours
Measures to encourage quick and quiet dispersal by customers and
staff including provision for access to book taxis, lowering the volume
of music during the last 30 minutes before closing time and
procedures for the safe removal and dispersal of persons ejected
from the premises
Measures to control light to ensure that it does not stray outside the
boundary of the premises so as to give rise to problems to local
residents and businesses
Measures to control nuisance that might be associated with the use
of the external areas, particularly late at night, including supervision
of the areas and specified times during which food and drink will not
be permitted to be consumed in the external areas.
Measures to control litter and odour associated with use of the
premises.

8.

Licensing Objective 4: Protection of Children from Harm

8.1

This objective includes the protection of children from moral, psychological and
physical harm. The applicant should initially identify any particular issues (having
regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities) which are likely to cause
concern in relation to children. Applicants will be expected to consider the risk of
children being exposed to alcohol, drugs, gambling, activities of an adult and/or
sexual nature and exposure to excessive noise or incidents of violence and
disorder. Such steps as are required to deal with these identified concerns should
be included within the applicant’s operating schedule.

8.2

The provisions of the Act are that unaccompanied children under 16 should not be
on ‘premises being used exclusively or primarily for the supply of alcohol’ (e.g.
‘alcohol led’ premises such as pubs, bars and nightclubs). In addition, it is an
offence to allow unaccompanied children under 16 on premises licensed to sell
alcohol for consumption on the premises after midnight but before 05:00.

8.3

Where appropriate, applicants should state in their operating schedule:
(a)

whether or not they will admit children to any or all parts of the
licensed premises;

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

164

Page 9 of 23

(b)

where children are to be admitted, the steps that will be taken to
protect children from harm, for example supervision requirements,
provision of designated areas for children and families, and hours
during which children will not be permitted to be on the premises.

The applicant will also be expected to consider provision for lost and found children
(in particular at large public events).
8.4

Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to evidence
how they will supervise children who are performing in an event with regulated
entertainment event and what consideration will be given to the welfare of children
at attractions or performances likely to attract children. Where children are
supervised, the Licensing Authority will expect the operating schedule to
demonstrate that these supervisors have been appropriately checked by the
Disclosure and Barring Service.

8.5

Where events are taking place that are provided solely or mainly for children, for
example an under-18s disco, the expectation is that no alcohol will be served.

8.6

Applicants are required, where appropriate, to set out in their operating schedule
the arrangements they have in place to prevent the sale of alcohol and agerestricted items to children. This should include an age-monitoring scheme, such
as Challenge 25. The Licensing Authority recommends use of any of the following
as an acceptable proof of age:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Passport
Photocard driving licence issued in the European Union
Proof of Age Standards Scheme Card (PASS)
Official ID card issued by HM Forces or by a European Union country
bearing a photo and date of birth of holder.

Consideration should also be given to training (including refresher training) for staff,
and records to evidence this training. In addition there should be means of
recording challenges and/or refusals relating to potential sales of alcohol to
underage persons.
8.7

Where there are off-licence sales, the Licensing Authority would expect the
operating schedule to demonstrate how the licensee will discourage the sale of
alcohol to customers on behalf of children in the vicinity (‘proxy sales’). For
example, if the licensee has any suspicions of this activity to ask the customer if
they have been approached by children to purchase alcohol and if necessary
contact the Police.

8.8

Applicants from retail outlets which use self-scanning devices or which offer
delivery of alcohol will be expected to demonstrate how they are going to prevent
the purchase or delivery of alcohol by persons under the age of 18.

8.9

The Licensing Authority will also expect applicants to set out in their operating
schedule the measures that they will take to ensure that alcohol is not sold by
persons under 18 unless specifically approved by a responsible person, or they are

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

165

Page 10 of 23

working as a waiter/waitress in a specially designated part of the premises and
alcohol is sold only with a table meal.
8.10

Where appropriate, the Licensing Authority would expect applicants to demonstrate
in their operating schedule that they will observe industry best practice guidance
on the naming, packaging and promotion of alcoholic drinks to prevent children
from being enticed into purchasing these products.

8.11

Licensees are encouraged to inform the appropriate agencies where it has been
highlighted that children have tried to purchase alcohol and/or illegal substances.

8.12

In relation to exhibition of film, the Licensing Authority will expect the operating
schedule to demonstrate that entry shall be controlled to protect children from
exposure to strong language, sexual content and other inappropriate matters.

8.13

The Licensing Authority proposes to abide by the recommendations of the British
Board of Film Classification, but the Licensing Authority reserves the right to reclassify any film. Information regarding such classifications will be published on the
Council’s website. All requests for a classification must be accompanied by a
synopsis of the film and a full copy of the film in DVD or other appropriate format,
and submitted at least 28 days before the proposed screening. Failure to submit a
request in time may result in the Council being unable to classify the film. Requests
shall be assessed against the BBFC guidelines and the licensing objectives.

8.14

The Licensing Authority recognises the Wokingham Safeguarding Children Board
as the competent body and responsible authority to advise matters relating to the
protection of children from harm.

8.15

In considering applications, the Licensing Authority will expect to see, where
appropriate, evidence that the following matters have been addressed in the
operating schedule:









Limiting the hours that children may be present
Excluding children when particular specified activities are taking
place
Limiting the parts of the premises to which children have access
Age limitations
Excluding under 18s from the premises when licensable activities are
taking place
Requiring that an accompanying adult be present
Arrangements for restricting children from viewing age-restricted
films
Arrangements to ensure that sufficient adult staff are present to
ensure that the children are protected from harm

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

166

Page 11 of 23

9.

Representations and Mediation

9.1

Where relevant representations have been submitted, the Licensing Authority shall
aim to facilitate negotiations between the applicant, objectors and any relevant
responsible authorities prior to the hearing. Hearings may be avoided when all
parties arrive at an amicable solution to the issues raised through negotiation.

9.2

In determining the grant or variation of a licence, the following responsible
authorities may make representations:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

Thames Valley Police
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service
Environmental Health (or for Council-operated premises, the Health
and Safety Executive)
Trading Standards
Environmental Protection
Public Health
Local Safeguarding Children Board
Planning Authority

In addition to this, any other person may make a representation.
The Licensing Authority will consider any relevant representations received. Any
of these individuals or groups may request a representative to make
representations on his or her behalf. This could be a legal representative, a friend,
an MP or a Ward Councillor.
9.4

The Licensing Authority itself is able to make representations, but this is likely to be
limited to few cases, for example to ensure appropriate and proportionate
conditions are included on a licence where the operating schedule is not clear. If
the Licensing Authority makes a representation there shall be a separation of
responsibilities between the officer exercising that role and those who are
administering the application to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts
of interest.

9.5

For a representation to be relevant it must:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

relate to the effect of the grant of the application on the promotion of
the licensing objectives;
not be 'frivolous or vexatious', and
in the case of a review, must not be 'repetitious' if the representation
is from a person other than a responsible authority, and
if it concerns the designated premises supervisor, be made by a chief
officer of police and include a statement explaining the reasons for
the objection.

Representations can include positive/supportive representations as well as
objections.
9.6

The Licensing Authority is responsible for considering representations in the
context of this policy and legal requirements in order to determine whether they are
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

167

Page 12 of 23

relevant. The Licensing Authority authorises suitably qualified staff to discharge
duties as appropriate to their seniority, professional qualification and/or experience.
9.7

Where a representation is received, the Licensing Authority will need to consider if
it is frivolous or vexatious. The Licensing Authority may also consider the
representation to be ‘irrelevant’ if it does not directly relate to the application and
its impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives. If the decision is made that
a representation is frivolous, vexatious, and/or irrelevant, the person making the
representation will be informed of this in writing with full reasons being given for the
decision.

10.

Cumulative Impact

10.1

The Council recognises that the commercial demand for another premises in an
area is not a matter for licensing considerations, but more a matter for the
planning process and the market.

10.2

The Council also recognises that where there are several premises providing
licensable activity in the same vicinity, the cumulative impact may have an adverse
effect on the community; in particular from nuisance and disorder. Accordingly, the
Council may refuse additional applications if it believes that to grant a licence would
undermine one or more of the Licensing Objectives, and representations have been
received from a responsible authority or other person. In addition, the Council has
to be satisfied that the criteria set out in the legislation are met. As detailed earlier
in this Policy, each application will be considered on its own merits.

10.3

If the Council considers that a ‘Special Policy’ is needed to deal with the
cumulative impact of licensed premises, it will only do so following consultation
as specified in the Licensing Act 2003 and following the proper process.

10.4

The Council will expect licensees and potential licensees within an area to
communicate with each other and prepare their Operating Schedules so that they
complement each other and collectively meet the Licensing Objectives.

11.

Decision Making

11.1

The Council will seek to carry out its responsibilities under the Licensing Act 2003
efficiently and cost-effectively. To do this, functions are delegated from the
Licensing and Appeals Committee to either Sub-Committees or officers, as set out
in the table at Appendix A.

11.2

In determining the application the Licensing Authority will consider:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

the case and evidence presented by all parties;
the promotion of the four licensing objectives;
guidance issued by central Government; and
the Licensing Authority’s own Statement of Licensing Policy.

and will take such of the following steps as it considers necessary for the promotion
of the licensing objectives:
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

168

Page 13 of 23







to grant the licence subject to the operating schedule modified to such
extent as the sub-committee considers necessary for the promotion
of the licensing objectives, and subject to the relevant mandatory
conditions;
to exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable activities
to which the application relates;
to refuse to specify a particular person as the designated premises
supervisor;
to reject the application.

11.3 If it is reasonably considered that the licensing objectives cannot be met unless
additional specific conditions are attached, then the Licensing Authority may
consider attaching those which are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing
objectives, proportionate to the individual style and characteristics of the event or
premises concerned.
11.4 The decision of the Sub-Committee shall be accompanied with clear, cogent
reasons for that decision, having had due regard to the Human Rights Act 1998
and all other relevant legislation. The decision and reasons for that decision will be
sent to the applicant and those who have made relevant representations, and a
summary of the decision shall be posted on the Licensing Authority’s website as
soon as is reasonably possible after the decision has been confirmed.
11.5 Anyone aggrieved by a decision of the Council has a right of appeal as set out in
the Act. The Council will inform the appropriate parties of their right of appeal in
accordance with the Act when confirming a decision of the Sub-Committee.
11.6 Where no relevant representations are received, the licence will be issued
automatically with such conditions that are mandatory and those arising from the
operating schedule. The Council has no discretion in such circumstances to refuse
the application or to alter or add to the conditions offered through the operating
schedule.
12.

Temporary Event Notices

12.1 Temporary event notices (TENs) may be used to authorise licensable activities at
premises where there are 499 persons or fewer (including any staff and volunteers)
present. TENs are not applications for permission to hold an event; they are notices
of intention to hold an event. If there are 500 or more persons present at the event,
a premises licence will be required.
12.2 In accordance with the 2003 Act, any individual person aged 18 or over may give
a TEN, whether or not they hold a personal licence. An individual who is not a
personal licence holder may only give a TEN 5 times a year, and a personal licence
holder no more than 50 times a year. However, no more than 15 TENs covering a
maximum of 21 days may be given in respect of any particular premises in a single
calendar year.
12.3

Organisers of temporary events are encouraged to submit their TEN as soon as is
reasonably practicable in order for the Police and Environmental Protection to
consider whether or not they have any concerns about the event and, if they have,
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

169

Page 14 of 23

to enable all parties to try and take steps to resolve those concerns. The TEN form
is available on the Council’s website.
12.4

Although the legal requirement is 10 clear working days (or 5 clear working days
for late TENs) not including the date of receipt or the date of the event, the Licensing
Authority recommends that at least 2 months’ notice be given to hold such events,
to allow sufficient time for organisers to plan their events safely, for appropriate
publicity and for consultation with responsible authorities and interested parties.
Any longer period than this may mean that organisers do not have all the details
available at the time of submitting the notice, and any lesser time means that
planning may be rushed and haphazard.

12.5

The processing of TENs by the Council is controlled by a strict statutory timetable;
therefore, the Council will not accept a notice unless it is complete in all respects
at the time of submission.

12.6

In the event of an objection, the Licensing Authority will hold a hearing and give a
decision not less than 24 hours before the event is due to take place.

12.7

Organisers of events are reminded of the police powers to close down events with
no notice on the grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder, or public nuisance.
Therefore, the Licensing Authority expects organisers to be aware of the relevant
offences under the Licensing Act 2003, for example sales of alcohol to children or
to intoxicated persons.

12.8

Where exceptional events of local, national or international significance arise, for
example a one-off local festival or World Cup, the Secretary of State may make a
licensing order to allow premises to open for specified extended hours.

13.

Personal Licences

13.1

Personal licences authorise individuals to sell or supply alcohol, or authorise the
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off a premises at which a premises
licence is in force for that activity.

13.2

Personal licence applicants with relevant unspent criminal convictions are required
to notify the Licensing Authority of the nature of those convictions at the time of
application. Where a personal licence holder is convicted of a relevant offence
during the period when their application is being considered, the licence holder is
required to advise the Licensing Authority forthwith.

13.3

Where the Police believe that the grant of a personal licence would undermine the
crime prevention objective, they will issue an objection notice. The Licensing
Authority will arrange for a hearing to take place at which the application will be
determined.

13.4

It is an offence for a personal licence holder who is convicted of a relevant offence
not to inform the issuing Licensing Authority in order that their licence can be
amended. The personal licence holder must also notify the Court that they hold a
personal licence.
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

170

Page 15 of 23

14.

Club Premises Certificates

14.1

In order for qualifying clubs to supply alcohol and provide other licensable activities
at their premises, a club premises certificate is required. Qualifying conditions are
specified in section 61 of the Act and the Licensing Authority must be satisfied that
these conditions have been met, including evidence that the club is non-profit
making.

14.2

The Act does not require any member or employee to hold a personal licence in
order to supply alcohol to members or sell alcohol to guests on the premises to
which the certificate relates, nor is there a requirement for the club to specify a
designated premises supervisor. Where a club intends to admit the general public
to an event where licensable activities will take place, then a premises licence or a
TEN will be required.

15.

Management of Licensed Premises

15.1

A critical element of the proper control of licensable activity and a premises where
such activity is provided is good management. The Council encourages all licence
holders to consider what skills and competencies are required for the safe delivery
of regulated activities and secure appropriately trained staff.

15.2

Within all licensed premises, whether or not alcohol is to be sold, the Council will
expect there to be proper management arrangements in place which will ensure
that there is an appropriate number of responsible, trained/instructed persons at
the premises to ensure the proper management of the premises and of the activities
taking place, as well as adherence to all statutory duties and the terms and
conditions of the premises licence.

15.3

Any premises where alcohol is sold under a premises licence must have a
designated premises supervisor (DPS) who must be a personal licence holder. The
DPS will be named in the premises licence, a summary of which must be displayed
on the premises.

15.4

The Council will normally expect the DPS to have been given the day-to-day
responsibility for running the premises and as such it is expected that the DPS
would usually be present at the licensed premises on a regular basis. The licence
holder will also be expected to ensure that the DPS has experience commensurate
with the size, capacity, nature and style of the premises and licensable activities to
be provided. Where the DPS is not available at the premises for whatever reason,
the Licensing Authority will expect his or her full contact details to be available at
the premises and made known to at least one individual who will be present at the
premises.

15.5 The Act does not require a DPS or any other personal licence holder to be present
on the premises at all times when alcohol is sold. However every sale of alcohol
must be made or authorised by a person who holds a personal licence on the
premises, or by the DPS under authority that has been delegated (or must be made
or authorised by the management committee in the case of community premises).
The Licensing Authority recommends that if the DPS authorises persons to make
sales of alcohol, that this is done in writing, that the document of authorisation is
Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

171

Page 16 of 23

kept on the premises and that all staff are made aware of the location of the
document. Where the DPS has delegated responsibility for the sale of alcohol, they
still have a duty of responsibility for the action of those they have authorised to
make those sales.
16.

Complaints, Enforcement and Inspections

16.1

Complainants are encouraged in the first instance to raise any concerns directly
with the licensee or business concerned. Complaints may be sent to the Licensing
Team, Wokingham Borough Council, PO Box 155, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40
1WW or licensing@wokingham.gov.uk for investigation.

16.2

Where there are any issues identified or need for improvement at a premises,
officers and responsible authorities will seek to work with the licence holder to
address these concerns and to achieve a resolution through informal means
wherever possible.

16.3

The Council undertakes proactive risk-based inspections of all licensed premises
to ensure continued promotion of the licensing objectives and compliance with
licence conditions. Premises that consistently fail inspections may be subject to a
licence review or other enforcement action. Where one-off events are taking place,
the Licensing Authority may also carry out inspections to ensure promotion of the
licensing objectives.

16.4

In terms of enforcement, the aim is to target those premises which are causing
problems within the community, whilst supporting well managed premises and
activities which provide opportunities for the enjoyment of leisure time without
having a negative impact.

16.5

Protocols for enforcement will be established between responsible authorities and
the Licensing Authority in order to ensure efficient and targeted action for specific
problems and high risk premises that require greater attention, whilst allowing a
lighter touch in respect of well run, low risk premises. This does not prevent action
being taken by any individual authority at any time should offences become
apparent. In most cases, a graduated form of response is expected to resolving
issues of non-compliance although it is recognised that in serious cases a
prosecution or a review application will be the most appropriate means of disposal.

16.6

In addition to the Council’s enforcement policy, which is available at
www.westberks.gov.uk, the licensing authority will also have regard to the
Regulators’ Compliance Code and the Enforcement Concordat and any decision to
instigate legal proceedings will take account of the criteria set down in the Code of
Crown Prosecution and Attorney General Guidelines.

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

172

Page 17 of 23

17.

Reviews of Premises Licences

17.1

At any stage following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible authority or
other person may ask the Council to review the licence because of a problem
arising at the premises in connection with one or more of the four licensing
objectives. However it is hoped that this can be avoided by dealing with issues in
an informal manner wherever possible, and that reviews will be a measure of last
resort.

17.2

In every case, the application for review must be relevant to the promotion of the
licensing objectives. A hearing will be held to determine the application unless all
parties agree that a hearing is not necessary.

17.3 Where the request originates from any person other than a responsible authority
(e.g. a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade association)
the licensing authority must consider whether the request for review is vexatious,
frivolous or repetitious. A Licensing Authority may refuse an application for a review
on any of these grounds and will give reasons to the applicant for such a refusal.
18.

Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)

18.1

The Licensing Act sets out powers conferred on licensing authorities to make early
morning alcohol restriction orders. These powers are designed to help licensing
authorities address specific problems caused by late night supply of alcohol in their
areas allowing licensing authorities to restrict the sale of alcohol in the whole or a
part of their areas between midnight and 06:00 hours. Licensing Authorities may
make an EMRO in relation to problem areas if they have evidence that the order is
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

18.2

At the time of writing this policy the Licensing Authority has no plans to make an
EMRO in any part of Wokingham borough. However, the situation will be kept under
review and should evidence emerge that suggests that the sale of alcohol between
midnight and 06:00 hours is creating specific problems the Council will consider
whether the introduction of an EMRO is appropriate. In considering the
appropriateness of an EMRO the licensing authority will consider evidence from
partners, including responsible authorities and local Community Safety
Partnerships or other sources. If a proposal to implement an EMRO arises in the
future the Licensing Authority will advertise and consult about its proposal in
accordance with legislation and national guidance.

19.

Late Night Levy (LNL)

19.1

Late night levy powers will allow licensing authorities to raise a contribution from
late opening alcohol retailers (from midnight to 06:00 hours) towards policing the
late night economy. This is a power that licensing authorities can choose whether
to adopt for their areas. If adopted the powers must apply to the whole of the
licensing authority’s area. Income from the net levy is to be split between the Police
and the Licensing Authority on the basis of a minimum 70% allocated to the Police
and a maximum 30% allocated to the licensing authority.

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

173

Page 18 of 23

19.2

At the time of writing this policy the Licensing Authority has no plans to collect a
LNL. However the situation will be kept under review and prior to making a decision
to implement a LNL, the licensing authority would have discussions with the Police
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and local police to decide whether it is appropriate
to introduce a LNL. If a proposal to implement a LNL arises in the future, the
licensing authority will consult the PCC, the police, licence holders and others about
its proposal.

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

174

Page 19 of 23

Appendix A Delegation of Functions
Matter to be dealt with

Licensing SubCommittee

Officers

Application for personal licence with unspent
conviction for relevant/foreign offence or
immigration penalty

If a police or
Secretary of State
objection

If no objection made

Decision to suspend or revoke personal
licence where there is unspent conviction for
relevant/foreign offence or immigration
penalty

All cases

Application for premises licence/club
premises certificate or provisional statement

If a relevant
representation made

If no relevant
representation made

Application to vary premises licence/club
premises certificate

If a relevant
representation made

If no relevant
representation made

Application for minor variation application

All cases

Decision whether to consider other
responsible authorities on minor variation
application

All cases

Application to vary designated premises
supervisor

If a police objection

Request to be removed as designated
premises supervisor

All other cases
All cases

Application for transfer of premises licence

If a police objection

All other cases

Applications for interim authorities

If a police objection

All other cases

Application to review premises licence/club
premises certificate

All cases

Decision on whether a representation is
irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, etc

All cases

Decision to object when local authority is a
consultee and not the authority considering
the application

All cases

Determination of an objection to a temporary
event notice

All cases

Decision to make a representation as a
licensing authority

All cases

Power to suspend a licence for non-payment
of annual fees and associated actions

All cases

Power to impose existing premises licence
or club premises certificate conditions on a
TEN where all parties agree a hearing is
unnecessary

All cases

Determination of application to vary
premises licence at community premises to
include alternative licence condition

If police objection

Licensing Act 2003 – Statement of Policy – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

175

All other cases

Page 20 of 23

Appendix B Glossary
Capacity Limit

Where the Licensing Authority and/or Fire Authority have set a limit on
the number of people allowed in a premises or part of a premises, to
prevent overcrowding which can lead to crime and disorder and
concerns over public safety.

Child

Any person who is under the age of 18 years.

Club Premises
Certificate

A certificate authorising the supply of alcohol to members of a
qualifying club, the sale of alcohol to guests on the premises and the
provision of regulated entertainment without the need for any member
or employee to hold a personal licence.

Council

As far as this policy is concerned, any reference to the Council shall
be interpreted as the Licensing Authority.

Cumulative Impact

Where there is a potential impact on the promotion of the licensing
objectives due to a significant number of licensed premises
concentrated in one area.

Designated Premises
Supervisor

A specified individual, holding a personal licence, who is responsible
for the day-to-day running of the business and whose name will
appear on the premises licence.

Late Night
Refreshment

The supply of hot food and drink between the hours of 23.00 and
05.00 for consumption on or off the premises.

Licence Types







Premises Licence
Club Premises Certificate
Personal Licence
Provisional Statement
Temporary Event Notice

Licensable Activities






The sale of alcohol by retail
The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the
order of, a member of a club
The provision of regulated entertainment
The provision of late night refreshment






Prevention of Crime and Disorder
Public Safety
Prevention of Public Nuisance
Protection of Children from Harm

Licensing Objectives

Licensing
Qualification

Qualification accredited by the Secretary of State and a requirement
for a personal licence.

Operating Schedule

This forms part of the completed application form for a premises
licence and must promote the licensing objectives. See section 4 for
more information.

Personal Licence

This authorises individuals to sell or supply alcohol or authorise the
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises for
which a premises licence is in force for the carrying on of that activity.

Licensing Act 2003 - Statement of Licensing Policy - Wokingham - Adopted *date*

176

Page 21 of 23

Premises Licence

A licence in respect of any premises, including land or buildings under
public ownership within the community that are to be used for one or
more licensable activities. Valid for an indefinite period unless
revoked or surrendered.

Proprietary Clubs

Clubs run by individuals, partnerships or businesses for the purpose of
making a profit.

Provisional
Statement

Where premises are being constructed or extended or substantial
structure changes are proposed.

Qualifying Club

Where members have joined together for particular social, sporting or
political purposes and then combine to buy alcohol in bulk as
members. Examples of qualifying clubs are:
 Political clubs
 Royal British Legion
 Working men’s clubs
 Social and sports clubs
A qualifying club can, however, obtain a premises licence if it wishes
to offer its facilities commercially for use by the general public.

Regulated
Entertainment

Entertainment that is provided to members of the public or to
members of a qualifying club, or entertainment held with a view to
profit. This includes plays, films, indoor sporting events, performance
of dance and live and recorded music. For more detailed advice on
whether a specific activity constitutes regulated entertainment, please
contact the Licensing Team.

Relevant Offences

As set out in Schedule 4 to the Licensing Act 2003.

Relevant
Representations

Representations (objections) made by a responsible authority or any
other person which are deemed as relevant

Responsible
Authorities

This group can make representations and includes bodies such as:
 The Chief Officer of Police
 The Fire Authority
 The Local Enforcement Agency for the Health and Safety at
Work etc. Act 1974
 The Weights and Measures Authority
 The Planning Authority
 Environmental Health
 Public Health
 The body responsible for matters relating to the Protection of
Children from Harm - the Local Safeguarding Children Board
 The Licensing Authority

SAG

Safety Advisory Group. An advisory body whose purpose is to offer
advice and guidance on event organisation.

Temporary Event
Notice

A notice of intention to carry on of the sale of alcohol, provision of
regulated entertainment or late night refreshment at a premises not
otherwise authorised by a premises licence or club premises
certificate.

Licensing Act 2003 - Statement of Licensing Policy - Wokingham - Adopted *date*

177

Page 22 of 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 47.
TITLE

Review of Statement of Gambling Principles

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 20 September 2018

WARD

None Specific

LEAD OFFICER

Sean Murphy - Public Protection Manager

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’) requires all licensing authorities to
prepare and publish a statement of the principles that they propose to apply in
exercising their functions under the Act (‘Statement’). The Statement will last for a
maximum of three years and can be reviewed and revised by the authority at any time.
The present Statement was published to take effect from the end of January 2016 and
therefore must undergo a review and be re-published to take effect by the end of
January 2019.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Council approves the revised Statement of Gambling Principles, as attached at
Annex A to the report.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report introduces the revised Statement which has been updated to reflect the
results of the consultation exercise carried out as required by legislation.

179

Background
The updated Statement of Gambling Principles was approved by the Licensing and
Appeals Committee on4 September 2018.
In addition to general re-formatting and minor points of clarification or update, the
material changes are as follows:









Revised section 1.1 to clarify the purpose of the Statement
Added section 1.4 to clarify licensable activities and those areas of responsibility
of the licensing authority
Added reference to the ‘Primary Authority’ scheme in 1.8
Adding additional guidance on local risk assessments in 1.9
Added section 2.11 reference track betting licence (this section previously
advised it would be completed should an application be received, but the
applicant would need to know the authority’s position to take into account prior to
making an application, and to review the Statement is not something that can be
done at short notice and without referral through full Council)
Added 4.1 on decision making and 4.2 on appeals.
Added a set of appendices including details of consultees on the policy, the map
of the borough, the delegations for decision making and a glossary

Analysis of Issues
The Statement must, by law, be revised and re-published to take effect from the end of
January 2019. There are no alternative options as the revision of the Statement is a
legal requirement.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

No impact

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

No impact

N/A

Revenue

No impact

N/A

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
There are no implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

180

List of Background Papers
Statement of Gambling Principles (Nov 2015)
Contact Charlie Fletcher
Telephone No 01344 352550
Date 6 September 2018

Service Public Protection Partnership
Email charlie.fletcher@westberks.gov.uk
Version No. 1.1

181

This page is intentionally left blank

Statement of
Gambling Principles
January 2019 – January 2022

183

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 1 of 32

Contents
Part A - General

4

1.1

Introduction

4

1.2

The Borough of Wokingham

4

1.3

The Licensing Objectives

5

1.4

Licensable Activities

5

1.5

Responsible Authorities

6

1.6

Interested Parties

7

1.7

Information Exchange

8

1.8

Enforcement

8

1.9

Local Risk Assessments

9

Part B - Premises Licences

10

2.1

General Principles

10

2.2

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder

11

2.3

Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

12

2.4

Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling

12

2.5

Licence Conditions

13

2.6

Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

14

2.7

Casinos

15

2.8

Bingo Premises

15

2.9

Betting Premises

16

2.10

Adult Gaming Centres

17

2.11

Tracks

17

2.12

Travelling Fairs

19

2.13

Provisional Statements

19

2.14

Licence Reviews

20

Part C - Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices

21

3.1

Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits

21

3.2

Alcohol Licensed Premises Notifications and Gaming Machine Permits

22

3.3

Prize Gaming Permits

23

3.4

Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

24

3.5

Temporary Use Notices

25

3.6

Occasional Use Notices

26

184

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 2 of 32

Part D - Decision Making

26

4.1

Delegations and process

26

4.2

Appeals

26

Part E - Further Information

27

5.1

Contact for Wokingham Licensing Team

27

5.2

Contact for Gambling Commission

27

Appendix A: List of Consultees

28

Appendix B: Map of Wokingham Borough

29

Appendix C: Summary of Licensing Authority Delegations

30

Appendix D: Gambling Act Glossary

31

185

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 3 of 32

Part A - General
1.1

Introduction

The Gambling Act 2005 (referred to in this document as ‘the Act’) requires the
Council to prepare and publish a Statement of Gambling Principles
(‘Statement’) that sets out the policies and principles that Wokingham Borough
Council as Licensing Authority (‘the Licensing Authority’) will generally apply to
promote the licensing objectives when making decisions on applications made
under the Act. It also gives details of our expectations of applicants and licenceholders.
The purpose of this Statement is to provide guidance to committees and officers
determining matters under delegated authority, to provide consistency to our
decision-making. However, where the circumstances justify doing so, we may
depart from any provision of this statement, or of the Commission’s Guidance,
to make an appropriate decision based upon the individual circumstances of a
particular case. In any such case we will give a clear explanation and reasons
as to why we have done so.
This Statement is not intended to override the right of any person to make an
application under the Act, and to have that application considered on its merits.
Equally, the Statement is not intended to undermine the right of any person to
make representations about an application or to seek a review of a licence
where provision has been made for them to do so.
This Statement has been prepared having regard to the licensing objectives of
the Act, the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling
Commission, and any responses from those consulted on the Statement. A list
of those consulted can be found at Appendix A. The full list of comments made
and the consideration by the Council of those comments is available on request.
The agenda and minutes of the Council meetings where the Statement of
Principles was considered can be viewed on the Council website at
www.wokingham.gov.uk.
The Statement will come into effect on the 31 January 2019 and will be
reviewed as necessary, and at least every 3 years from the date of adoption.
1.2

The Borough of Wokingham

Wokingham Borough is situated in the county of Berkshire, which contains 6
Unitary Councils in total. The area has a population of 154,380 (2011 Census).
The borough covers 17,892 hectares of mixed rural and urban areas.
A map of the borough is attached at Appendix B.

186

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 4 of 32

1.3

The Licensing Objectives

In exercising functions under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority
will have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in the Act. The licensing
objectives are:




Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or
exploited by gambling

This Licensing Authority is aware that, in accordance with section 153 of the
Act, in making decisions about premises licences and temporary use notices it
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:




1.4

in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling
Commission
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles.
Licensable Activities

‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting, or taking part in a
lottery.




Gaming means playing a game of chance for a prize
Betting means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race,
competition, or any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or
not occurring; or whether anything is true or not
A lottery is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an
arrangement, during the course of which one or more prizes are
allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance.

The Act provides for three categories of licence:




Operating licences
Personal licences
Premises licences.

The Gambling Commission is responsible for remote (online) gambling,
operating licences and personal licences.
This licensing authority is responsible for issuing premises licences and
provisional statements for the following types of premises:



Casinos
Bingo premises

187

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 5 of 32





Betting premises and tracks
Adult gaming centres
Family entertainment centres.

Additional functions of this licensing authority are to:









1.5

issue permits for gambling and gaming machines in clubs
receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises of the use of up to 2
gaming machines and issue licensed premises gaming machine permits
where there are more than 2 machines
issue permits to family entertainment centres
issue permits for prize gaming
receive and endorse temporary use notices
receive occasional use notices for betting at tracks
register small society lotteries
provide details of licences issued to the Gambling Commission
maintain registers of permits and licences that are issued under the Act.
Responsible Authorities

Responsible authorities must be notified of all premises licence applications
and are entitled to make representations if they are relevant to the licensing
objectives. Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities as:









Gambling Commission
Police
Local Fire Authority
Local Planning authority
Environmental Health
Child Protection Committee
HM Revenue and Customs
A licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated.

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will
apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection
of children from harm. The principles are:



The need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole
of the licensing authority’s area, and
The need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group.

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for
local authorities, this Licensing Authority designates the Wokingham
Safeguarding Children Board for this purpose.
The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act
2005 are available via the Council’s website at: www.wokingham.gov.uk.

188

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 6 of 32

1.6

Interested Parties

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or
apply for a review of an existing licence. Interested parties will be required to
relate their representation to one or more of the licensing objectives.
An interested party is someone who:




lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the
authorised activities, or
has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities,
or
represents persons in either of the two groups above.

In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to particular premises
so as to be affected the licensing authority will take into account, amongst other
things:





the size and nature of the premises
the distance of the premises from the person making the representation
the nature of the complaint
the potential impact of the premises.

In determining whether a person has a business interest which could be
affected, the licensing authority will consider, amongst other things:




the size of the premises
the catchment area of the premises, and
whether the person making the representation has business interests in
the catchment area that might be affected.

The term "business interests" is given the widest possible interpretation and
includes partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices.
Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as
Councillors and MPs. No specific evidence of being asked to represent an
interested person will be required as long as the Councillor / MP represents the
ward likely to be affected. Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected will be
considered to be interested parties. Other than these however, the licensing
authority will generally require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an
advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to
the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has
business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities. A letter
from one of these persons, requesting the representation is sufficient.
If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views
then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing
Committee dealing with the licence application. If there are any doubts then
please contact the licensing team by email to licensing@wokingham.gov.uk or
telephone 01189 746359.

189

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 7 of 32

1.7

Information Exchange

This licensing authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the
Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the provision
that any data protection legislation will not be contravened. The licensing
authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the
Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.
Details of those persons making representations will be made available to
applicants to allow for negotiation and, in the event of a hearing being held, will
form part of a public document. Anyone making representations or applying for
the review of a premises licence will be informed that their details will be
disclosed.
Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with
other bodies then they will be made available.
1.8

Enforcement

This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and will endeavour to be:






Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and
minimised;
Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject
to public scrutiny;
Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and
user friendly; and
Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side
effects.

This licensing authority has also adopted and implemented a risk-based
inspection programme based on:





The licensing objectives
Relevant codes of practice
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy

The main enforcement and compliance role for the Licensing Authority in terms
of the Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences
and other permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission is the
enforcement body for the operating and personal licences.
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing authority will
endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.
The licensing authority will establish a close working relationship with the

190

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 8 of 32

Police, the Gambling Commission and, where appropriate, other responsible
authorities.
The licensing authority will investigate complaints against licensed premises in
relation to matters relating to the licensing objectives for which it has
responsibility. In the first instance, complainants may be encouraged to raise
the complaint directly with the licence holder or business concerned to seek a
local resolution.
Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, the Licensing Authority’s
enforcement policy will be available upon request to the licensing team by email
to licensing@wokingham.gov.uk or telephone 01189 746359. Our risk
methodology is also available upon request.
A number of gambling operators have formed primary authority partnerships,
under which they receive ‘assured advice’ from a single local authority in
respect of one or more regulated aspects of their business – for example,
preventing underage sales of age-restricted products or services. Where we
have concerns around a premises whose operator has formed a primary
authority partnership relevant to the issue in question, we will consult with the
primary authority prior to taking any formal action.
1.9

Local Risk Assessments

Operators with premises licences have an obligation to produce a local risk
assessment which will assist the licensing authority when considering
applications. The risk assessment should consider actual and potential risks to
the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at a
premises. The licensing authority has an expectation that all local risk
assessments will take into account the local social profile of the area. The
assessment should detail the policies, procedures and control measures to
mitigate those risks and should take into account the licensing authority’s
Statement of Gambling Principles. The licensing authority can provide advice
on the level of detail required, which will be proportional to the scale and nature
of the application made.
The licensing authority will expect this risk assessment to accompany all
applications for premises licences (new and variation), and will also expect the
risk assessment to be shared with the licensing authority on request. Local risk
assessments must be reviewed when there are significant changes in local
circumstances or at the premises, or when applying for a new licence or
variation of a licence. The Council’s Local Area Profile is available on request.
Risk assessments must be kept at the individual premises to which they relate.
All staff should be fully aware of the risk assessment and where it is kept in
order that they can work in accordance with any requirements, and it can easily
be provided to responsible authorities should they request to see it at any
reasonable time, including unannounced inspections and ad hoc visits.

191

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 9 of 32

We do not intend to specify a format or mandatory content for these local risk
assessments, as we believe that these will be decisions for the operator to take,
and will be dependent upon the location, size, and operational nature of the
premises in question. However, we would expect that operators have
considered the individual circumstances of each of their premises when
compiling the risk assessments. A single generic risk assessment covering
every premises in an operator’s estate will not be considered by the authority
to be suitable nor sufficient. We would also expect operators to take full account
of our local area profile when compiling their risk assessments, and to reflect
this in the control measures which they will implement.
Part B - Premises Licences
2.1

General Principles

A licence can only be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority
can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably
near future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before
the premises are brought into use. If the construction of a premises is not yet
complete, or if they need alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have a right
to occupy them, then an application for a provisional statement should be made
instead.
In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration
process:


First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for
gambling
Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for
the situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought
to be before gambling takes place.

In the Act, "premises" is defined as including "any place". A single building
could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for
different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be
reasonably regarded as being different premises. This approach has been
taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as shopping malls to obtain
separate premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. This
licensing authority will take account of the Gambling Commission’s guidance in
respect of this matter and the mandatory conditions relating to access between
premises.
When determining an application for a premises licence or review a premises
licence, regard will be had to the proximity of the premises to schools,
vulnerable adult centres or residential areas where there may be a high
concentration of families with children. The proximity of premises taken into
consideration will vary depending on the size and scope of the gambling

192

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 10 of 32

premises concerned. Each case will, however, be decided on its merits.
Therefore, if an applicant can effectively demonstrate how they might overcome
any concerns, this will be taken into account. This would be expected to be
addressed as part of the local risk assessment required to be submitted with all
new and variation premises licence applications.
In determining an application, the licensing authority may not have regard to
the expected demand for the facilities which it is proposed to provide, nor may
it take account of any moral objections.
Premises licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling Act
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions
which are detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State. The
mandatory and default conditions are often sufficient to ensure operation that
is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities are
able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed
to be necessary and/or appropriate in the circumstances of a particular case.
More detail on licence conditions can be found at 2.5 of this document.
The licensing authority will not seek to use the Act to resolve matters more
readily dealt with under other legislation, and will seek to avoid any duplication
with other regulatory systems where possible. For example, the licensing
authority will not take into account whether a premises has the appropriate
planning or building consents, nor will it take into account fire or health and
safety risks. It will, however, consider carefully any concerns about conditions
which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should
such a situation arise.
Where children and other vulnerable people are allowed access to premises
where gambling takes place, the licensing authority may take such steps as are
lawful and necessary to either limit access generally or by introducing measures
to prevent under-age gambling. The licensing authority will not normally seek
to limit the access of children to any premises unless it receives representations
to that effect or it believes it is right to do so for the prevention of their physical,
moral or psychological harm. Applicants are encouraged to propose any
prohibitions or restrictions of their own in circumstances where it is felt that the
presence of children would be undesirable or inappropriate.
The overriding principle is that each application and the circumstances
prevailing at each premises will be considered on their own individual merits.
2.2

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder

This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking
a leading role in preventing gambling premises from being a source of crime,
for example the sale and distribution of controlled drugs, money laundering,
prostitution, or unlawful gambling. The Gambling Commission’s Guidance does
however envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to the
proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective.
Thus, where an area has high levels of organised crime, this authority will

193

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 11 of 32

consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there
and whether conditions may be necessary such as provisions of door
supervisors. When making decisions in this regard, the licensing authority will
give due weight to any comments made by the Police.
This licensing authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and
nuisance and will consider factors such as whether police assistance was
required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so
as to make that distinction. The licensing authority will seek the views of its
legal advisers before determining what action to take in circumstances in which
disorder may be a factor. As far as disorder is concerned, there are already
powers in existing anti-social behaviour and other legislation to deal with
measures designed to prevent nuisance, whether it arises as a result of noise
from a building or from general disturbance once people have left a building.
The licensing authority will not use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues,
such as parking problems, which can easily be dealt with using alternative
powers.
2.3

Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated
that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be
addressed via operating and personal licences.
2.4

Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling

This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission's Guidance
for Local Authorities states that this objective means preventing children from
taking part in gambling, as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling
products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children. The licensing
authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling Commission's
Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular premises, with
regard to this licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include
supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas etc.
The use of CCTV (in accordance with data protection regulations and any
relevant codes of practice) is unlikely to be sufficient on its own as a measure
to prevent access to gaming facilities by children or vulnerable persons
(including those who have registered in a self-exclusion scheme). At premises
such as adult gaming centres, betting shops, bingo halls and family
entertainment centres where category B or C gaming machines are operated,
the licensing authority will expect that an appropriate number of staff will be
present throughout opening hours who will ensure that children are not
permitted to enter the premises or use age-restricted gaming facilities, as the
case may be, and that self-excluded persons are not permitted to gamble.
This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of
Practice as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises.

194

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 12 of 32

As regards the term “vulnerable persons”, it is noted that the Gambling
Commission does not seek to offer a definition, but states that “it will for
regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more
than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who
may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due
to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.” This licensing authority will consider
this licensing objective on a case by case basis.
Best practice is for staff working at licensed premises to undergo training on
identifying and assisting vulnerable persons.
2.5

Licence Conditions

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:





relevant to the need to make the premises suitable as a gambling facility
directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for
fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises, and
reasonable in all other respects.

When considering any conditions to be attached to licences, the licensing
authority will primarily focus on the direct impact of the activities taking place at
licensed premises on members of the public living, working or engaged in
normal activity in the area concerned.
Conditions (other than default conditions and those required by law) will only
be attached where they are needed to meet the requirements of the licensing
objectives and are within the control of the licensee. Any conditions applied will
not be overly onerous and will be proportionate to the scale of the application
and the risks involved. Conditions will generally be considered unnecessary if
they are already adequately covered by other legislation.
Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis,
although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are specific
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below. This
licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own
suggestions as to the way in which the licensing objectives can be met
effectively.
This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such
measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling
from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the
licensing objectives. These matters are in accordance with the Gambling
Commission's Guidance.

195

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 13 of 32

This licensing authority will also ensure that where category C or above
machines are on offer in premises to which children are admitted:






all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance
only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located
access to the area where the machines are located is supervised
the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be
observed by the staff or the licence holder, and
at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to
persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple
premises licences are applicable.
It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach
to premises licences which are:






any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to
comply with an operating licence condition
conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method
of operation
conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required
(the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it
being reinstated), and
conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that
if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder or be
subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and young
persons) then it may require that the entrances to the premises are controlled
by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a premises licence to this effect.
Where it is decided that supervision of entrances or machines is appropriate for
particular cases, a consideration of whether these supervisors need to be SIA
licensed will be necessary. It will not be automatically assumed that they need
to be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises
vary.
2.6

Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and
will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult
only gaming machine areas. Plans of the premises should be provided with an
application for an FEC permit.

196

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 14 of 32

This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives
such as:










CCTV
Supervision of entrances/machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices/signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such
as GamCare.
Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school
children on the premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer
to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operator
licences covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines
should be delineated. This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any
mandatory or default conditions on these premises licences, when they have
been published.
In exercising their functions in respect of family entertainment centre permits,
the licensing authority need not, but may have regard to, the licensing
objectives and must have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission.
2.7

Casinos

There are currently no casinos operating within the Wokingham Borough
Council area.
This Council passed a ‘no casino’ resolution on 30 November 2006. Details of
this resolution can be viewed on the Council’s website. Potential licence
applicants should note that as a 'no-casino' resolution has been passed by this
Council no applications for casino premises licences will be considered. Any
applications received will be returned with a notification that a 'no-casino'
resolution is in place.
2.8

Bingo Premises

This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance
states: “Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be
played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. This will
be a relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises
applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from its

197

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 15 of 32

ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for that
or those excluded areas”.
This authority also notes the Guidance regarding the unusual circumstances in
which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent premises might
be permitted, and in particular that it is not permissible to locate sixteen
category B3 gaming machines in one of the resulting premises, as the gaming
machine entitlement for that premises would be exceeded.
Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are
not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are
made available for use these must be separated from areas where children and
young people are allowed.
2.9

Betting Premises

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, take
into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available
for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of
the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under
18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer.
The authority notes the difference between betting terminals, which are
designed to receive bets on real events, and gaming machines such as fixed
odds betting terminals (FOBTs), which are reliant upon the outcome of a virtual
event. It is further noted that betting premises are entitled to offer up to four
gaming machines in total, which may include category B2 FOBT machines. No
further limits may be imposed by the licensing authority on gaming machine
numbers in betting (other) premises, beyond the standard prescribed limit
applying to all betting (other) premises licences.
There are no statutory limits on the number of betting terminals that may be
made available in betting premises, although the licensing authority may attach
a condition to a licence limiting the number if concerns exist over the availability
of machines to children or vulnerable persons which cannot be satisfied through
alternative means.
There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door
supervisors for the protection of the public. This licensing authority will make a
door supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of
trading that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter
and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate.
This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives
such as:




Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Supervision of entrances/ machine areas

198

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 16 of 32








Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices/signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets/ helpline numbers for organisations
such as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
2.10

Adult Gaming Centres

This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and
will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient
measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access
to the premises.
This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives
such as:










Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Supervision of entrances/machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices/signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such
as GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
2.11

Tracks

There are currently no tracks operating within the Borough.
This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than
one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the
track. As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will
especially consider the impact upon the licensing objective "protection of
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling"
and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and
that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to
enter.

199

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 17 of 32

This licensing authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to
adult only gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days
when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are still
prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D
machines) are provided.
This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to
meet the licensing objectives, however appropriate measures/licence
conditions may cover issues such as:










Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Supervision of entrances/machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices/signage
Specific opening hours
Self-barring schemes
Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such
as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures that may be taken.
Gaming machines - Guidance from the Gambling Commission is available as
regards where such machines may be located on tracks and any special
considerations that should apply in relation, for example, to supervision of the
machines and preventing children from playing them. This licensing authority
will consider the location of gaming machines at tracks, and applications for
track premises licences will need to demonstrate that, where the applicant holds
a pool betting operating licence and is going to use his entitlement to four
gaming machines, these machines are located in areas from which children are
excluded. Children and young persons are not prohibited from playing category
D gaming machines on a track.
Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling
Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises and the
ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons
(it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when
considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator
wants to offer.
Plans - The Act requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their
application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the necessary
information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit
for gambling. The plan will also be used for the licensing authority to plan future
premises inspection activity. Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular

200

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 18 of 32

scale, but should be drawn to scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include
the information required by regulations.
Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In
such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders
may erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises. In the rare cases
where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in question
will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or
races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through
occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not need to be defined.
This authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise
location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting
facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue
of the fact that betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of
the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of
track. Applicants should provide sufficient information that this authority can
satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take
place. For racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times
rule” (commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan.
2.12

Travelling Fairs

It will fall to this licensing authority to decide whether a travelling fair which offers
category D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit meets
the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than
an ancillary amusement at the fair.
The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the
statutory definition of a travelling fair.
The 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair is per calendar
year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held,
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the
land. This licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to
ensure that land which crosses boundaries is monitored so that the statutory
limits are not exceeded.
2.13

Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements before
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises
licence. There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order
to apply for a provisional statement.
The Act provides for a person to make an application to the licensing authority
for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she:


expects to be constructed

201

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 19 of 32




expects to be altered, or
expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the
same as that for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give
notice of the application in the same way as applying for a licence. Responsible
authorities and interested parties may make representations and there are
rights of appeal.
In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy
the premises in respect of which their provisional application is made.
The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The licensing authority
will be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises
licence application, and in terms of representations about premises licence
applications that follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further
representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into
account unless:



they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the
provisional statement stage, or
they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.

In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to
matters:




2.14

which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional
statement stage
which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s
circumstances, or
where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the
plan submitted with the application. This must be a substantial
change to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can
discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before making a
decision.

Licence Reviews

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties
or responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority to decide
whether the review is to be carried out. This will be on the basis of whether the
request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below:



in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice or Guidance issued by
the Gambling Commission
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, and

202

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 20 of 32



in accordance with the licensing authority’s statement of principles.

The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will not
cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is
substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review.
The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises
licence, or a particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason
which it thinks is appropriate.
The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority
should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options
open to the licensing authority are:





add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing
authority
exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g.
opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion
suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months,
and
revoke the premises licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the
licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of
the Act, as well as any relevant representations.
In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities
for gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people from applying for
licences in a speculative manner without intending to use them.
Part C - Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
3.1

Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits

A proprietor of a family entertainment centre premises (FEC), who wishes to
make only category D gaming machines available for use in those premises,
can do so in reliance upon a family entertainment centre gaming machine
permit. This category of permit provides an alternative to the family
entertainment centre premises licences available under the Act, which allow the
operation of higher-value gaming machines but are subject to more rigorous
application procedures.
It should be noted that the premises must be wholly or mainly used for making
gaming machines available for use, to be eligible for this type of permit.
Any application for a permit will be considered with regard to the licensing
objectives and to any relevant guidance issued by the Commission. Particular

203

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 21 of 32

weight will be given to child protection issues.
The applicant will be expected to show that there are policies and procedures
in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to harm
from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency
of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits,
however, they may include appropriate measures / training for staff as regards
suspected truant school children on the premises, measures / training covering
how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the
premises, or children causing perceived problems on / around the premises.
This licensing authority will also expect, as per Gambling Commission
guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that
the applicant (or company directors if the applicant is a limited company) has
no relevant convictions; and that staff are trained to have a full understanding
of the maximum stakes and prizes.
Applicants will also be asked to supply a plan of the internal layout of the family
entertainment centre, drawn to an appropriate scale, that shows the location of
the area(s) where category D gaming machines will be made available for use.
An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing authority is
satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the chief
officer of police has been consulted on the application.
It is noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of
permit.
3.2
Alcohol Licensed Premises Notifications and Gaming Machine
Permits
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for
consumption on the premises to automatically have two gaming machines, of
categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the licensing
authority. The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in
respect of any particular premises if:






provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit
of the licensing objectives
gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of
section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that
any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about
the location and operation of the machine has been complied with)
the premises is mainly used for gaming, or
an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises

If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then it needs to apply
for a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based
upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling

204

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 22 of 32

Commission issued under Section 25 of the Act, and “such matters as they
think relevant.” This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be
decided on a case by case basis, but generally there will be regard to the need
to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to
the adult only gaming machines. Measures which will satisfy the authority that
there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of the
bar, or in the sight of staff that will monitor that the machines are not being used
by those under 18. Notices and signage may also be helpful. As regards the
protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to consider the provision
of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises
licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would most
likely need to be applied for and dealt with as an adult gaming centre premises
licence.
It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the application
with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than
that applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. It should
also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice
issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the
machines.
3.3

Prize Gaming Permits

In any application for a prize gaming permit the applicant should set out the
types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer, and should also be able to
demonstrate:




they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in
regulations
that the gaming offered is within the law, and
that appropriate measures will be taken to ensure that children are
protected from being harmed or exploited by gambling; in particular, the
measures that will be taken to ensure that children cannot participate in
the gambling offered.

In making its decision on an application for this permit, the licensing authority
does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives, but must have regard
to any Gambling Commission guidance.
It should be noted that there are conditions in the Act with which the permit
holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.
The conditions in the Act are:


limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied
with

205

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 23 of 32





3.4

all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day, the game
must be played and completed on the day the chances are allocated and
the result of the game must be made public in the premises on the day
that it is played
the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set
out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if nonmonetary prize), and
participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any
other gambling.
Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but not commercial clubs) may
apply for a club gaming permit. The club gaming permit will enable the premises
to provide gaming machines, equal chance gaming and games of chance as
set out in the regulations.
Members clubs, miner’s welfare institutes and commercial clubs may apply for
a club machine permit. A club machine permit will enable the premises to
provide gaming machines as set out in the regulations.
Gambling Commission Guidance states: "Members clubs must have at least 25
members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes
other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations. The
Secretary of State has made regulation and these cover bridge and whist clubs,
which replicates the position under the Gaming Act 1968. A members’ club must
be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and
controlled by its members equally. Examples include working men’s clubs,
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations."
Before granting the permit, the authority will need to satisfy itself that the
premises meets the requirements of a members’ club and may grant the permit
if the majority of members are over 18.
Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:






the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial
club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the
type of permit for which it has applied
the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or
young persons
an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by
the applicant while providing gaming facilities
a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten
years, or
an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the Police.

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which
hold a club premises certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. As the Gambling

206

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 24 of 32

Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: "Under the fast-track
procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission
or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are
reduced."
The grounds on which an application under the process may be refused are:




that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming
prescribed under schedule 12
that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities
for other gaming, or
that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant
in the last ten years has been cancelled.

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any
relevant provision of the code of practice about the location and operation of
gaming machines.
3.5

Temporary Use Notices

Temporary use notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable
for a temporary use notice, according the Gambling Commission, would include
hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.
The licensing authority can only grant a temporary use notice to a person or
company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino
operating licence.
The types of gambling activities that may be authorised by a Temporary Use
Notice are set out in regulations made under the Act. Currently, the only
permitted activity is the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, where
the gaming is intended to produce a single overall winner. Possible examples
of this could include gaming tournaments with such games as backgammon,
mah-jong, rummy, kalooki, dominoes, cribbage, bingo and poker.
Temporary Use Notices are subject to a statutory limit that a set of premises
may be used for no more than 21 days in any 12 month period. As with
"premises", the definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the
particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In considering whether a
place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", the licensing authority will
look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the
premises.
This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their
effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described
as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, or in other cases where the proposed

207

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 25 of 32

gaming would undermine the licensing objectives or be contrary to the
Guidance or this Statement of Principles.
3.6

Occasional Use Notices

Occasional use notices may be used to authorise infrequent betting at track
premises, on no more than 8 days in any calendar year. They cannot be used
to authorise any other form of gambling activity (e.g. gaming machines).
Providing that the 8-day limit is not breached, there is no provision for correctlyserved notices to be refused by a licensing authority.
The licensing authority notes that the definition of track premises is not
restricted to permanent premises, but can include any premises or land on
which a race or sporting event is to take place. Consideration will therefore be
given to the nature of the premises specified in a notice, in addition to whether
the person giving the notice is an occupier of the track, or is responsible for the
administration of events at the track.
It is further noted that occasional use notices do not relieve any person
accepting bets at the track premises from the requirement to hold an
appropriate betting operating licence, nor from the requirements of any
conditions imposed upon that licence.
Part D - Decision Making
4.1

Delegations and process

The Council will carry out its responsibilities under the Gambling Act 2005
efficiently and cost-effectively. To do this functions are delegated from the
Licensing and Appeals Committee to either Sub-Committees or officers as
appropriate. The table shown at Appendix C sets out the agreed delegation of
decisions and functions. This form of delegation is without prejudice to officers
referring an application to a Sub-Committee or full Committee if considered
appropriate in the circumstances of any particular case.
Where there are no areas of contention, it is considered that many of the
functions will be largely administrative. In the interests of efficiency and
effectiveness these will, for the most part, be carried out by officers.
Where there are relevant representations in respect of an application the matter
will be determined by a sub-committee, as will any application for the review of
a licence.
Every determination of a licensing decision by a Sub-Committee shall be
accompanied by clear, cogent reasons for the decision. The decision and the
reasons for that decision will be sent to the applicant and those who have made
relevant representations as soon as practicable.
4.2

Appeals

208

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 26 of 32

Where a licensing authority rejects an application, the applicant may appeal to
the local Magistrates’ Court.

Part E - Further Information
5.1

Contact for Wokingham Licensing Team

Licensing Team
Wokingham Borough Council
PO Box 155
Shute End
Wokingham
RG40 1BN
e-mail: licensing@wokingham.gov.uk
5.2

Contact for Gambling Commission

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP
Tel: 0121 230 6500
Website: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

209

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 27 of 32

Appendix A
List of Consultees


Association of British Bookmakers



Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers



Bingo Association



British Amusement Catering Trade Association



British Institute of Inn Keeping



British Beer and Pub Association



Committee of Registered Club Associations



Gamblers Anonymous



GAMCARE



HM Revenue and Customs



Holders of existing gambling licences / permits



National Association of Bookmakers



Parish and Town Councils



Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue



Thames Valley Police / Community Safety Partnership



Wokingham Borough Citizens Panel



Wokingham Borough Council Planning



Wokingham Borough Council Environmental Health



Wokingham Safeguarding Children Board

210

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 28 of 32

Appendix B

Map of Wokingham Borough

211

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 29 of 32

Appendix C
Summary of Delegations under the Gambling Act 2005
Matter to be dealt with

Full
Council

Approval of Statement of Gambling
Principles

X

Policy not to permit casinos

X

Application for premises licences
(new, variation and transfer) and
provisional statements

Sub-Committee of
Licensing
Committee

Where
representations
have been received
and not withdrawn

Initiate review of a premises licence

Officers

Where no
representations
received/
representations
have been
withdrawn
X

Determination of review of a
premises licence

X

Application for club
gaming/club machine permits

Where
representations
have been received
and not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations
have been
withdrawn

Cancellation of club
gaming/club machine permits

X

Applications for other permits

X

Cancellation of licensed premises
gaming machine permits

X

Consideration of temporary use
notice

X

Decision to give a counter notice to
a temporary use notice

X

Revocation of premises licence due
to failure to pay annual fee

X

Registration of small society lotteries

X

Cancellation of registration of small
society lottery due to failure to pay
annual fee

X

X indicates the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

212

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 30 of 32

Appendix D
Gambling Act Glossary
Adult Gaming Centres

Adult Gaming Centres must have a premises licence
from the licensing authority to make category B, C
and D gaming machines available to their
customers.

Betting Premises

The Act contains a single class of licence for betting
premises, which includes track and non-track.

Bingo

Two types of bingo can be offered:
Cash bingo - where the stakes paid made up the
cash prizes that are won; or
Prize bingo - where various forms of prizes are won
and are not directly related to the stakes paid.

Casinos

The Act defines casino games as games of chance
which are not equal chance gaming.

Customer Lottery

A lottery run by occupiers of a business for the
benefit of the customers who buy tickets sold on the
premises (e.g. supermarket holding a hamper raffle).

Exempt Lottery

Incidental non-commercial lotteries
Private lotteries
Customer lotteries
Small Society lotteries

Gambling Act 2005

The Act governs the provision of all gambling in
Great Britain, other than the National Lottery and
spread betting. It received royal assent on 7 April
2005.

Gambling Commission

The Gambling Commission licenses larger gambling
operators and provides advice and guidance to
operators, stakeholders and licensing authorities.
They also have a role in enforcement and ensuring
promotion of the licensing objectives.

Gaming Machines

Category of machine and where they can be situated
are contained at the end of this glossary.

Incidental NonCommercial Lottery

Lottery that is run as an additional amusement at
non-commercial events with tickets sold only during
the event, such as a raffle at a dance or church fair.

Licensed Family
Entertainment Centres

The Act creates two classes of family entertainment
centres (FEC). Licensed FECs provide category C
and D machines and require a premises licence.

213

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 31 of 32

Lotteries

A lottery is where persons are required to pay in order
to take part in an arrangement, during the course of
which one or more prizes are allocated by a process
which relies wholly on chance.

Non-track betting

Betting that takes place other than at a race track.

Occasional Use Notices

Section 39 of the Act provides that where there is
betting on a track on eight days or less in a calendar
year, betting may be permitted by an occasional use
notice without the need for a full premises licence.

Private Lottery

Lottery that requires membership of a society, place
of work or single residential unit (e.g. raffle at a
student hall of residence).

Small Society Lottery

Non-commercial societies if it is established and
conducted for charitable purposes; for the purpose
of enabling participation in, or of supporting, sport,
athletics or a cultural activity; or for any other noncommercial purpose other than private gain.

Temporary Use Notices

These allow the use of premises for gambling where
there is no premises licence but where a gambling
operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for
providing facilities for gambling. Premises which
might be suitable for temporary use notices would
include hotels, conference centres and sporting
venues.

Track betting

Tracks are sites (including horse racecourses and
dog tracks) where races or other sporting events
take place. Betting is a major gambling activity on
tracks both in the form of pool betting (often known
as the “totalisator” or “tote”) and also general betting,
often known as “fixed-odds” betting.

Travelling Fairs

A travelling fair is one that “wholly or principally”
provides amusements and they must be on a site
that had been used for fairs for no more than 27
days per calendar year.
No permit is required for gaming machines, but they
must comply with age restrictions.

Unlicensed Family
Entertainment Centres

Unlicensed FECs provide category D machines only
and are regulated through FEC gaming machine
permits.

214

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Wokingham - Adopted *date*

Page 32 of 32

